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MERK GOLD TRUST

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Report, includes statements which relate to future events or future
performance. In some cases, you can identify such forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or the negative of these terms or other cor
terminology. All statements (other than statements of historical fact) included in this Report that address activities,
events or developments that may occur in the future, including such matters as changes in commodity prices and
market conditions (for gold and the shares), the operations of Merk Gold Trust, or Trust, the plans of Merk
Investments LLC, the sponsor of the Trust, or Sponsor, and references to the Trust’s future success and other similar
matters are forward-looking statements. These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ
materially. These statements are based upon certain assumptions and analyses made by the Sponsor on the basis of its
perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors it
believes are appropriate in the circumstances. Whether or not actual results and developments will conform to the
Sponsor’s expectations and predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the special
considerations referenced in this Report, general economic, market and business conditions, changes in laws or
regulations, including those concerning taxes, and other world economic and political developments. Consequently,
all the forward-looking statements made in this Report are qualified by these cautionary statements and there can be
no assurance that the actual results or developments the Sponsor anticipates will be realized or, even if substantially
realized, that they will result in the expected consequences to, or have the expected effects on, the Trust’s operations or
the value of the shares issued by the Trust. Moreover, neither the Sponsor, nor any other person assumes
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the forward-looking statements. Neither the Trust nor the Sponsor
undertakes an obligation to publicly update or conform to actual results any forward-looking statement, whether as a
result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by law.
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PART I

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Report”) to the “Trust” refer to the Merk Gold Trust, and references to
the “Sponsor” refer to Merk Investments LL.C, the sponsor of the Trust. References in this Report to the “Trustee” refer to
The Bank of New York Mellon, the trustee of the Trust, and references to the “Custodian” refer to JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A., London branch, the custodian of the Trust. As used in this Report: (i) an “Ounce” means one troy ounce,
equal to 31.103 grams; (ii) a “Fine Ounce” means an Ounce of 100% pure gold; (iii) “LBMA” means the London Bullion
Markets Association; and (iv) “NYSE Arca” means the NYSE Arca Marketplace operated by NYSE Arca Equities, Inc.

Item 1. Business

The purpose of the Trust is to own gold transferred to the Trust in exchange for Shares issued by the Trust (the
“Shares”). Each Share represents a fractional undivided beneficial interest in and ownership of the Trust. Shares are
issued by the Trust in blocks of 50,000 called “Baskets” in exchange for gold from certain registered broker-dealers or
other securities market participants (“Authorized Participants”). The assets of the Trust are anticipated to consist solely
of gold bullion. On May 6, 2014, the date the Trust was formed, Virtu Financial (the “Initial Purchaser”) contributed
1,000 ounces of gold in exchange for 100,000 Shares (or two Baskets). At contribution, the value of the gold

deposited with the Trust was based on the price of an “Ounce” of gold of $1,306.25. The Initial Purchaser is not
affiliated with the Sponsor or the Trustee.

The redeemable value of the Shares decreased from $13.06 at May 6, 2014 to $12.79 at January 31, 2015, the Trust’s
fiscal year end. Outstanding Shares in the Trust increased from 100,000 Shares at May 16, 2014 to 5,152,630 Shares
outstanding at January 31, 2015.

The Trust is not managed like a corporation or an active investment vehicle. The Trust has no directors, officers or
employees. It does not engage in any activities designed to obtain a profit from or to improve the losses caused by
changes in the price of gold. The gold held by the Trust will only be distributed to Authorized Participants (defined
below) in connection with the redemption of Baskets or sold (1) on an as-needed basis to pay Trust expenses not
assumed by the Sponsor, (2) in the event the Trust terminates and liquidates its assets, or (3) as otherwise required by
law or regulation.

The Trust is not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and is
not required to register under such act. The Trust does not and will not hold or trade in commodities futures contracts
regulated by the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (the “CEA”), as administered by the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (the “CFTC”). The Trust is not a commodity pool for purposes of the CEA and neither the Sponsor
nor the Trustee is subject to regulation as a commodity pool operator or a commodity trading advisor in connection

with the Shares. The Trust has no fixed termination date.

The Sponsor of the registrant maintains an Internet website at www.merkfunds.com and www.merkgold.com, through
which the registrant’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), are made available free of charge after they have been filed or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Additional information regarding the Trust may also be found on the SEC’s
EDGAR database at www.sec.gov.

Trust Objective
The primary objective of the Trust is to provide investors with an opportunity to invest in gold through the Shares and

be able to take delivery of physical gold in exchange for their Shares. The Trust’s secondary objective is for the Shares
to reflect the performance of the price of gold less the expenses of the Trust’s operations. The Trust is not actively
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managed. It does not engage in any activities designed to obtain a profit from, or to compensate investors for losses
caused by, changes in the price of gold.
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The Trust holds “London Bars” and, in connection with a Delivery Applicant’s (as defined below) exchange of Shares
for physical gold, physical gold of other specifications as requested by the Sponsor. The Trust receives gold deposited
by Authorized Participants in exchange for the creation of Baskets and delivers gold to Authorized Participants in
exchange for Baskets surrendered to it for redemption. In connection with the delivery of Shares by a Delivery
Applicant as described below, the Sponsor may engage in over-the-counter transactions with a precious metals dealer
to exchange gold for physical gold of different specifications.

Investors may contact their broker-dealer to purchase and sell Shares. An investor who would like to take delivery of
physical gold for its Shares is referred to as a Delivery Applicant:

A Delivery Applicant wishing to deliver Shares in exchange for physical gold must submit to the Sponsor a delivery
application (“Delivery Application”) and payment for (1) the applicable processing fees, and (2) the applicable delivery
fees to cover the cost of preparing and transporting physical gold from the Custodian or the precious metals dealer
from which they were obtained to the location specified by the Delivery Applicant in the Delivery Application. The
“number of Shares to be delivered must (i) correspond to at least one Fine Ounce of gold and (ii) have a minimum
dollar value in an amount that is specified by the Sponsor from time to time on the Trust’s website. Taking delivery of
physical gold is subject to guidelines intended to minimize the amount of cash that will be distributed with physical
gold. The Delivery Application is not binding until the Shares are delivered to the Trust.

Upon pre-approval of the Delivery Application by the Sponsor, a Delivery Applicant shall instruct its broker dealer to
submit the Delivery Application and transfer the Shares to the Trustee; the submission and transfer by the
“broker-dealer will be a binding and irrevocable request to take delivery of physical gold in exchange for Shares based
on instructions in the Delivery Application (a “Share Submission”).

Once the Trustee has received a Delivery Applicant’s Share Submission, a number of Fine Ounces of physical gold
not exceeding the Fine Ounces represented by the Shares surrendered will be delivered to the Delivery Applicant
based on instructions in the Delivery Application. To the extent a Delivery Application specifies London Bars,
physical gold will be delivered by the Custodian; to the extent the Delivery Application specifies physical gold other
-than London Bars, if available, gold held by the Trust will be exchanged with the help of a precious metals dealer and
delivered to the Delivery Applicant. The Delivery Application process is designed to keep the Fine Ounces
represented by the Share Submission as close as possible to the Fine Ounces of the gold delivered. Any excess Fine
Ounces included in the Share Submission will be sold by the Custodian and the Trustee will deliver proceeds to DTC
with instructions to credit the Delivery Applicant’s brokerage account.

The Shares are intended to constitute a cost-efficient mechanism for investors to make an investment in gold.
Although the Shares are not the exact equivalent of an investment in gold, they provide investors with an alternative
that allows a level of participation in the gold market through the securities market. The Shares are:

-Listed and trade on NYSE Arca like other exchange-traded securities under the symbol “OUNZ.”

-Easily accessible to investors through traditional brokerage accounts.

Backed by allocated gold held by the Custodian and no more than 430 Fine Ounces of unallocated gold held with the
"Custodian.

Different from other financial products that gain exposure to gold in that other financial products may use derivatives
"to gain exposure to the price of gold.

Cost efficient because the expenses involved in an investment in physical gold are dispersed among all investors in
“the Shares.
5




Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Overview of the Gold Industry
Gold demand

Today, gold is used as both a commodity and a store of value. The first category includes gold jewelry and the gold
that has been manufactured into industrial products. The second category includes gold reserves held by the official
sector and private investors.

Jewelry demand

Jewelry demand has historically accounted for the largest component of total gold demand. At the end of 2013, the
estimated total existing above-ground stock of gold amounted to 5.7 billion ounces!, and about half of the estimated
total has been used in jewelry.

The motivation behind gold jewelry demand differs in various regions of the world. In the developed countries, gold
jewelry is primarily bought for adornment purposes, while in the developing world, gold jewelry has also been used as
a store of value. India, East Asia (excluding Japan) and the Middle East are the major gold jewelry markets by volume
in the developing world; gold jewelry is generally of higher cartage and the price more closely reflects the value of
gold in these regions compared to developed countries.

Gold jewelry demand has been trending downward since 2000, partly due to gold jewelry becoming less fashionable.
Total annual jewelry demand amounted to 101.2 million Ounces in 2000. The largest decline was in 2009, down
19.0% or 13.5 million Ounces, as a result of economic recession, elevated gold prices, and a contraction in consumer
spending. Likewise, gold jewelry demand, as a proportion of total gold demand, has been trending downward, from
89.6% of total demand in 2000 to 47.6% in 2013. However, in 2013, gold jewelry demand rose to 83.3 million
Ounces, boosted by the lower gold price environment.

Industrial and medical demand

In addition to its application in jewelry, gold has been widely used in manufacturing and medical treatment.
Approximately 8.3%?2 of above-ground gold has been manufactured into industrial and dental products. Recently, over
half of industrial demand has been derived from electronic component manufacturing, in large part due to gold’s high
electronic conductivity and natural resistance to corrosion. Gold is also used for industrial decoration, such as gold
plating and coating.

Industrial use of gold is more common in the developed world, whereas most of the gold fabrication in developing
nations is typically for jewelry. Demand for gold used in electronics manufacturing fell sharply in 2009, down 12.9%
from 2008, likely caused by weak economic conditions, but it rebounded 7.4% in 2010 before falling 1.8% again in
2013.

Additionally, gold has long been used for medical and dental purposes. Its outstanding bio-compatibility, malleability
and resistance to bacterial colonization make it a well-suited material for various biomedical applications in the
human body. Dental use is the primary medical application. Other medical uses include gold wires used in heart
transplants and gold-plated stents to support blood vessels. Demand for gold from this sector was down slightly in
recent years.

I Source: Thomson Reuters GFMS Gold Survey 2014
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2 Source: Thomson Reuters GFMS Gold Survey 2014
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Investment demand

Around 2.0 billion Ounces of above-ground gold was held as an investment or store of value, accounting for 36.9% of
the estimated total: around 17.3% was held by the official sector and approximately 19.5% was held by the private
sectors3.

Central banks and supranational organizations (e.g., the International Monetary Fund (the “IMF”) and Bank of
International Settlements (the “BIS™)) hold gold as part of their reserve assets. The largest proportion of official sector
gold holdings at the end of 2013 was held in the United States, with 34.3%; 14.3% was held by Germany; and 11.9%
by Italy. Central banks affect the gold market through buying, selling and lending, as well as swaps and other
derivative activities.

Gold is also favored by the private sector as a store of value and a means of investment. Unlike equities, bonds and
currencies, gold does not run the risk of issuers’ default or mismanagement and is not a liability of any government or
corporation. Many investors may consider gold to be a safe haven investment, a portfolio diversifier and inflation
hedge.

Over the past decade, there has been a steady rise in the number of investors worldwide holding gold. A large part of
this trend has been the advent and proliferation of gold-tracking exchange-traded funds, which allow investors greater
access to investments in gold. In 2013, net private investment demand represented 25.3% of the total annual gold
demand, up substantially from 1.7% in 2000.

Sources of gold supply
Sources of gold supply include mine production, secondary supply from recycled gold and official sector sales.
Mine production

The largest portion of gold supply comes from mine production, including gold produced both from primary deposits
and from secondary deposits where the gold is mined as a by-product. All the recorded gold ever mined in human
history amounts to approximately 5.5 billion Ounces, or 171,300 metric tons. To put this in perspective, all the gold
ever mined would only fill two Olympic-sized swimming pools.

Gold is produced from mines on every continent except Antarctica (where mining is forbidden by the Antarctica
Treaty). Until recently, South Africa was the world’s largest gold producing country. At its peak in the early 1970s,
South Africa contributed over 70% of world production. However, over the past four decades, South African output
has been declining while other countries have expanded gold mining considerably.

Over recent years, gold has been increasingly mined in developing countries; China is currently the world’s largest
gold producing country. In 2013, gold output in China was 14.1 million Ounces, accounting for 14.5% of total world
production, followed by Australia and Russia, with 8.8% and 8.2% of total production respectively. South African
gold production further declined to 5.6 million Ounces in 2013, accounting for 5.8% of total annual output.

Recycled gold
Recycled gold, or scrap gold, is the second largest source of gold supply. Gold’s indestructibility means it can be
recovered from recycled jewelry and industrial products. This gold can then be melted, refined and cast into bullion

bars for resale in the gold market. Supplies emanating from recycled gold have risen steadily in the past two decades,
and are predominantly sourced from recycled gold jewelry.

10
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3 Source: Thomson Reuters GFMS Gold Survey 2014
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Recycled gold supply is highly affected by gold prices and economic conditions. Supplies reached elevated levels
during the 1997-1998 Asian financial crisis, and more recently hit a record of 41.2 million Ounces in 2009, spurred by
the global financial crisis and rising gold prices.

India, East and Southeast Asia and the Middle East are the three major regions supplying recycled gold, accounting
for 57.2% of total recycled gold recovered in 2013. India remains the largest scrap-supplying nation, supplying 4.6
million Ounces, or 11.2% of total secondary supply, in 2013. East and Southeast Asia and the Middle East contributed
25.5% and 20.5% to the total secondary gold supply, respectively, in 2013.

Official sector sales

Approximately 17.3%* of total above-ground gold stock is held by the official sector, a proportion that had declined
over recent years before the global financial crisis. During 1989-2007, official sector sales outstripped annual
purchases, meaning the official sector became a net seller of gold to the private sector.

From 1989 to 2007, the official sector supplied an approximate total of 238.8 million Ounces in gold to the private
sector. In 1999, the European Central Bank and 14 other central banks signed the first Central Bank Gold Agreement

(a “CBGA”). The signatory institutions agreed not to enter the gold market as sellers except for already decided sales. In
the second CBGA, Bank of Greece replaced the Bank of England. In August 2009, 19 central banks announced the

third CBGA. Under this agreement, the annual ceiling for gold sales was reduced to 12.9 million Ounces.

Since the onset of the financial crisis, the official sector reversed its role as a net seller over the previous nineteen
years. From 2008 to 2013, the official sector was a net purchaser of 60.0 million Ounces of gold. Central banks of
major developing economies, including the People’s Bank of China, the Reserve Bank of India and the Russian central
bank, have substantially increased gold reserves. In September 2009, the IMF Executive Board approved the sale of
13.0 million Ounces, approximately one-eighth of the Fund’s total holdings of gold, to help boost its lending resources.
The IMF completed the gold sales program in December 2010.

In 2013, Cyprus was in the news due to the possibility that it might reduce gold reserves, worth 400 million euros, as a
condition to receiving international financial aid to help manage the country’s debt burden. While the amount of
Cyprus’ gold sales is expected to be small in the context of central bank gold reserves, it sparked speculation that the
Eurozone might include official sector gold sales in the new bailout framework for member states that have received
or seek international aid.

The gold market and price movement

Global gold trade consists of the over-the-counter (“OTC”) market, the futures and options markets and the London
interbank market.

OTC market

The OTC market accounts for the largest percentage of global gold trading volume. It trades on a 24-hour per business
day continuous basis and provides a relatively flexible market in terms of quotes, size, price, destinations for delivery
and other factors. The standard trade size ranges between 5,000 and 10,000 Ounces.

OTC market makers include the nine market-making members of the LBMA, and the main centers are London, New
York and Zurich. Market participants include jewelry manufacturers, mining companies, central banks, investors and
speculators. Liquidity in the OTC market varies during the day, with the most liquid time periods generally occurring
in New York business day mornings, when trading hours in European time zones overlap with trading hours in the

12
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United States.

4 Source: Thomson Reuters GFMS Gold Survey 2014
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The London Bullion Market is the largest wholesale OTC market for gold and is operated by the LBMA, which acts
as the principal point of contact between the market and its regulators. Gold bars must meet the requirements defined
by the LBMA.

Futures and options exchanges

The major futures and options exchanges include the New York Commodities Exchange (“COMEX”) (an affiliate of the
Chicago Mercantile Exchange, Inc.), the Multi Commodity Exchange of India (“MCX”), the Tokyo Commodities
Exchange (“Tocom”), and the Shanghai Futures Exchange. Other leading exchanges for gold derivatives trading include
NYSE Liffe and Dubai Gold & Commodities Exchange. Gold futures and options are traded on these exchanges in
standardized transaction sizes and delivery dates. Only a small portion of the gold futures market turnover is typically
physically delivered.

The COMEX is the largest gold futures and options exchange. In 2013, it represented approximately 66% of global
futures and options trading volume. In 2007, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange merged with the CBOT to form the
Chicago Mercantile Exchange Group (the “CME Group”), and in 2008 the CME Group acquired the COMEX.

In 2013, the Shanghai Futures Exchange (“SFE”) replaced the MCX as the world’s second largest futures exchange in
terms of gold futures trading volume, accounting for around 18.0% of the world total. The Tocom accounted for about
5.5% of total gold futures trading volume in 2013. During the same period, all of the four largest exchanges
experienced an increase in the trading volume of gold futures and options, with SFE gaining 240% year-over-year.

In November 2013, the Intercontinental Exchange acquired NYSE Liffe, the sixth largest exchange for gold futures
trading, as part of the acquisition of NYSE Euronext.

Allocated and Unallocated Gold

Allocated gold is stored in a vault under a custody arrangement, and the individual bars are the property of the owner.
When held in this fashion, allocated gold is neither an asset, nor a liability, of a financial institution. As it is typically
held under a custody relationship, storage fees and insurance premiums are common when holding gold in allocated
form.

From an investor’s standpoint, unallocated gold (sometimes referred to as “paper gold”) is a claim on a non-specific pool
of gold held by a financial institution. It is typically held in a gold account at the financial institution. There are no
tangible gold bars stored in the investor’s name; rather, the investor has a claim on the financial institution’s assets (the
underlying gold).

Both methods of investing give investors exposure to gold. However, some have been cautious of utilizing unallocated
gold, as it represents a liability from a financial institution’s standpoint and such a financial institution may lend out the
underlying gold an investor has a claim on.

Historical movements in the gold price

The following chart illustrates the historical movements in the price of gold for the period January 1970 to December
2014, measured in U.S. dollar per Ounce.

3 Source: Thomson Reuters GFMS Gold Survey 2014
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After reaching a 20-year low of just over $250 per Ounce in the summer of 1999, the price of gold gradually
increased, as a result of the strong rise in physical demand, especially in the major gold markets, including China,
Egypt, India and Japan. The upward price trend that began in 2001 continued through May 2006.

Following a peak around $725 per Ounce in May 2006, the gold price fell to just over $560 in October 2006. Investors’
concerns that monetary authorities would move to counter the threat of rising inflation by aggressively raising interest
rates is frequently cited as the reason for this price correction.

However, as the Federal Reserve Bank began to reduce interest rates in response to the subprime mortgage crisis in
-August 2007, the gold price rallied again. The continued reduction in the Federal Funds rate may have helped drive
the price of gold to a fresh high above $1,010 in March 2008.

As the subprime mortgage problems escalated into a global financial crisis in late 2008 and the Eurozone debt crisis
deepened in 2011, the gold price successively reached new record highs. The gold price reached a historically high
-level of $1,900.23 on September 5, 2011. Market concerns surrounding the implications of monetary policies,
political uncertainty, sovereign credit risks and U.S. dollar weakness may have underpinned gold demand as a store
of value through this period.

In April 2013, the gold market suffered a sharp price correction. The gold price fell sharply for two consecutive
trading days, by 5.04% on April 12 and 9.07% on April 15, and touched a two-year low of $1,322.06 per Ounce on
April 16, 2013. The one-day drop on April 15, 2013 was the biggest since the 1980s. Reasons cited for the historical
drop include investors’ fear that the Federal Reserve might withdraw its monetary stimulus earlier than expected, and
that the Eurozone might require member states that have received or seek international aid to follow Cyprus and sell
their gold reserves. Technical reasons may have also played a role, as levered investors received margin calls,
triggering further sales as prices declined.

10
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Volatility
Annualized Standard Deviation

S&P 500 Spot Gold Spot Silver
1991-1995 10.31% 10.57%  24.83%
1996-2000 18.42% 12.98%  22.08%
2001-2005 18.22% 14.45%  22.86%
2006-2010 24.95% 22.28%  38.40%
2011-2014 15.45% 17.77%  32.34%

Source: Bloomberg

Gold price volatility has picked up in recent years. It was 10.57% during 1991-1995 and rose to 12.98% for the period
of 1996- 2000, 14.45% of 2001-2005 and 22.28% of 2006-2010. It went up further in the recent price correction in
April 2013. But the price of gold is still less volatile than other commodities such as silver. This lower volatility may
reflect gold’s role as a financial asset and the much broader liquid financial market that gold has compared to other
commodities. Also, the daily return on gold price was less volatile than the S&P 500 index during 1996-2000, but it
has been slightly higher than that of the S&P 500 from January 2011 to December 2013.

Valuation of Gold and Computation of Net Asset Value

On each business day that the NYSE Arca is open for regular trading, as promptly as practicable after 4:00 PM (New
York time) the Trustee will value the gold held by the Trust and will determine the net asset value (“NAV”) of the Trust,
as described below.

The NAV of the Trust is the aggregate value of gold and other assets, if any, of the Trust (other than any amounts
credited to the Trust’s reserve account, if any) and cash, if any, less liabilities of the Trust, which include estimated
accrued but unpaid fees, expenses and other liabilities.

All gold is valued based on its Fine Ounce content, calculated by multiplying the weight of gold by its purity; the
same methodology is applied independent of the type of gold held by the Trust; similarly, the value of up to 430 Fine
Ounces of unallocated gold the Trust may hold is calculated by multiplying the number of Fine Ounces with the price
of gold determined by the Trustee as follows. The Trustee values the gold held by the Trust on the basis of the price of
a Fine Ounce as set by the afternoon session of the twice daily fix of the price of a Fine Ounce, which starts at 3:00
PM (London, England time) and is performed by the five members of the London gold fix. If no London PM Fix is
made on a particular evaluation day, the gold price from that day’s London AM Fix will be used in the determination
of the NAV of the Trust or, if such day’s London AM Fix is not available, the Trustee will value the Trust’s gold based
on the most recently announced London PM Fix or London AM Fix. If the Sponsor determines that such price is
inappropriate as a basis for evaluation, it shall identify an alternative basis to be employed by the Trustee. The
Sponsor may instruct the Trustee to use a different publicly available price which the Sponsor determines fairly
represents the commercial value of the Trust’s gold. Once the value of gold has been determined, the Trustee will
subtract all estimated accrued but unpaid fees, expenses and other liabilities of the Trust from the total value of gold
and any other assets of the Trust (other than any amounts credited to the Trust’s reserve account), including cash, if
any. The resulting figure is the NAV of the Trust. The Trustee will also determine the NAV per Share by dividing the
NAYV of the Trust by the number of the Shares outstanding as of the close of trading on the NYSE Arca (which
includes the net number of any Shares deemed created or redeemed on such evaluation day).
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On March 20, 2015, the LBMA Gold Price, which is determined twice daily by the ICE Benchmark Administration as
an independent third-party administrator, replaced the London Gold Fix. As a result, the Sponsor now uses the LBMA
Gold Price to determine the net asset value of the Trust. All other valuation mechanics remain unchanged.

11

18



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

The Trustee’s estimation of accrued but unpaid fees, expenses and liabilities will be conclusive upon all persons
interested in the Trust, and no revision or correction in any computation made under the Trust’s Depository Trust
Agreement (the “Trust Agreement”) will be required by reason of any difference in amounts estimated from those
actually paid.

The Sponsor and the investors may rely on any evaluation or determination of any amount made by the Trustee, and
except for any determination by the Sponsor as to the price to be used to evaluate gold, the Sponsor will have no
responsibility for the evaluation’s accuracy. The determinations the Trustee makes will be made in good faith upon the
basis of, and the Trustee will not be liable for any errors contained in, information reasonably available to it. The
Trustee will not be liable to the Sponsor, Authorized Participants, the investors or any other person for errors in
judgment. However, the preceding liability exclusion will not protect the Trustee against any liability resulting from
bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties.

Trust Expenses

The Trust’s only ordinary recurring expense is the remuneration due to the Sponsor of 0.40% of the NAV of the Trust
(the “Sponsor’s Fee”). In exchange for the Sponsor’s Fee, the Sponsor has agreed to assume the following administrative
and marketing expenses incurred by the Trust: the Trustee’s monthly fee and out-of-pocket expenses; the Custodian’s
fee; the fees and expenses of Foreside Fund Services, LLC; expenses reimbursable under the Trust’s Custody
Agreement with the Custodian (the “Custody Agreement”); the precious metals dealer’s fees and expenses reimbursable
under its agreement with the Sponsor; exchange listing fees; SEC registration fees; printing and mailing costs;
maintenance expenses for the Trust’s website; audit fees and up to $100,000 per annum in legal expenses. The Sponsor
also paid the costs of the Trust’s organization and the initial sale of the Shares, including applicable SEC registration
fees.

The Sponsor’s Fee will accrue daily based on the prior business day’s NAV and will be payable in Shares
corresponding to the NAV of the Shares at the time of payment on a monthly basis in arrears. The fee will be paid by
delivering that number of Shares which equals the daily accrual of the Sponsor’s Fee for such prior month based on the
NAYV of the Shares on the first business day of the following month.

In addition to the Sponsor’s Fee, the Sponsor receives the exchange fee paid by Delivery Applicants in the exchange
process. Such fees are used to recoup the expenses the Sponsor bears for over-the-counter transactions. The Sponsor
may earn a profit on its fees.

From time to time, the Sponsor may waive all or a portion of the Sponsor’s Fee at its discretion. The Sponsor is under
no obligation to continue a waiver after the end of a stated period, and if such waiver is not continued, the Sponsor’s
Fee will thereafter be paid in full. Presently, the Sponsor does not intend to waive any of its fees.

Furthermore, the Sponsor mays, in its sole discretion, agree to rebate all or a portion of the Sponsor’s Fee attributable to
Shares held by certain institutional investors subject to minimum share holding and lock up requirements as
determined by the Sponsor to foster stability in the Trust’s asset levels. Any such rebate will be subject to negotiation
and written agreement between the Sponsor and the investor on a case by case basis. The Sponsor is under no
obligation to provide any rebates of the Sponsor’s Fee. Neither the Trust nor the Trustee will be a party to any
Sponsor’s Fee rebate arrangements negotiated by the Sponsor.

The Sponsor will assume certain extraordinary expenses which are not usually incurred during the normal course of
business, such as litigation expenses, subject to a total of $100,000 per annum. Extraordinary expenses of the Trust
that are not assumed by the Sponsor may be paid by the Sponsor at its sole discretion and reimbursed by the Trust in
Shares corresponding to the value of gold at the time of reimbursement.
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Otherwise, the Trustee will, when directed by the Sponsor, and, in the absence of such direction, in its discretion, sell
gold in such quantity and at such times as may be necessary to permit payment in cash of the Trust’s extraordinary
expenses not assumed by the Sponsor. The Trustee is authorized to sell gold as directed by the Sponsor or otherwise at
such times and in the smallest amounts required to permit such payments as they become due, it being the intention to
avoid or minimize the Trust’s holdings of assets other than gold. Accordingly, the amount of gold to be sold will vary
from time to time depending on the level of the Trust’s expenses and the market price of gold. The Custodian may
purchase from the Trust, at the request of the Trustee, gold needed to cover Trust expenses not assumed by the
Sponsor at the price used by the Trustee to determine the value of gold held by the Trust on the date of the sale.

Cash held by the Trustee pending payment of the Trust’s expenses will not bear any interest.
The Sponsor’s Fee for the year ended January 31, 2015 was $154,685.

Creations & Redemption of Shares

Authorized Participants

The Trust issues and redeems Baskets only to Authorized Participants. The creation and redemption of Baskets will
only be made in exchange for the delivery to the Trust or the distribution by the Trust of the amount of gold
represented by the Baskets being created or redeemed, the amount of which will be based on the combined Fine
Ounces represented by the number of Shares included in the Baskets being created or redeemed determined on the day
the order to create or redeem Baskets is properly received.

Orders to create and redeem Baskets may be placed only by Authorized Participants. An Authorized Participant must:
(1) be a registered broker-dealer or other securities market participant, such as a bank or other financial institution,
which, but for an exclusion from registration, would be required to register as a broker-dealer to engage in securities
transactions; (2) be a participant in the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”); and (3) must have an agreement with the
Custodian establishing an unallocated account in London or have an existing unallocated account meeting the
standards described in the Trust Agreement. To become an Authorized Participant, a person must enter into an
Authorized Participant Agreement with the Sponsor and the Trustee (“Authorized Participant Agreement”). The
Authorized Participant Agreement provides the procedures for the creation and redemption of Baskets and for the
delivery of the gold required for such creations and redemptions. The Authorized Participant Agreement and the
related procedures attached thereto may be amended by the Trustee and the Sponsor, without the consent of any
investor or Authorized Participant. A transaction fee of $500 will be assessed on all creation and redemption
transactions. Multiple Baskets may be created on the same day, provided each Basket meets the requirements
described below and that the Custodian is able to allocate gold to the Trust allocated account (the “Trust Allocated
Account”) such that the Trust’s unallocated account (the “Trust Unallocated Account”) holds no more than 430 Fine
Ounces of gold at the close of a business day.

Authorized Participants who make deposits with the Trust in exchange for Baskets will receive no fees, commissions
or other form of compensation or inducement of any kind from either the Sponsor or the Trust, and no such person has
any obligation or responsibility to the Sponsor or the Trust to effect any sale or resale of Shares.

Delivery Applicants

In exchange for its Shares and payment of a processing fee, a Delivery Applicant will be entitled to one or more bars
or coins of physical gold having approximately the total Fine Ounces represented by the Shares on the day on which
the Delivery Applicant’s broker-dealer submits his or her Shares to the Trust in exchange for physical gold (a “Share
Submission Day”). As it is unlikely that the total Fine Ounces of physical gold will exactly correspond to the Fine
Ounces represented by a specific number of Shares, a Delivery Applicant will likely receive some cash representing
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the net sale proceeds of any excess Fine Ounces (i.e., the cash proceeds). To minimize the cash proceeds of any
exchange, the Delivery Application requires that the number of Shares submitted closely correspond in Fine Ounces to
the Fine Ounces of physical gold that is held or that is to be acquired by the Trust for which the delivery is sought.
Share submissions are processed in the order approved.

13

21



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Creation Procedures — Authorized Participants

On any business day, an Authorized Participant may place an order with the Trustee to create one or more Baskets.
For purposes of processing both purchase and redemption orders, a “business day”” means any day other than a day: (1)
when the NYSE Arca is closed for regular trading; or (2) if the order or other transaction requires the receipt or
delivery, or the confirmation of receipt or delivery, of gold in the United Kingdom or in some other jurisdiction on a
particular day, (A) when banks are authorized to close in the United Kingdom or in such other jurisdiction or when the
London gold market is closed or (B) when banks in the United Kingdom or in such other jurisdiction are, or the
London gold market is, not open for a full business day and the order or other transaction requires the execution or
completion of procedures which cannot be executed or completed by the close of the business day. Purchase orders
must be placed by 3:59:59 PM (New York time). The day on which the Trustee receives a valid purchase order is the
purchase order date.

By placing a purchase order, an Authorized Participant agrees to deposit gold with the Trust, as described below. Prior
to the delivery of Baskets for a purchase order, the Authorized Participant also must have wired to the Trustee the
amount of the non-refundable transaction fee due for the purchase order and an amount equal to all taxes,
governmental charges and fees payable in connection with such deposit, the transfer of gold and the issuance and
delivery of Shares.

Determination of Required Deposits

The amount of the required gold deposit for a Basket is determined by dividing the number of Fine Ounces of gold
held by the Trust by the number of Baskets outstanding, as adjusted for the amount of gold constituting estimated
accrued but unpaid fees and expenses of the Trust. The number of Baskets outstanding is determined by dividing the
number of Shares outstanding by 50,000 (or other number of Shares in a Basket for such business day).

Fractions of a Fine Ounce of gold smaller than 0.001 of a Fine Ounce included in the gold deposit amount are
disregarded in the foregoing calculation. All questions as to the composition of a gold deposit for a Basket will be
finally determined by the Trustee. The Trustee’s determination of the required gold deposit for a Basket shall be final
and binding on all persons interested in the Trust.

Delivery of Required Deposits

An Authorized Participant who places a purchase order is responsible for crediting its unallocated account, if held at
the Custodian, with the required gold deposit amount in gold and, if the Authorized Participant does not maintain its
unallocated account with the Custodian, causing the required gold deposit to be transferred to the Custodian, by 11:00
AM, London, England time, on the third business day following the purchase order date. No Shares are issued unless
and until the Custodian has informed the Trustee that it has credited to the Trust Allocated Account at the Custodian
the corresponding amount of gold. If the Custodian has notified the Trustee and the Sponsor that it is unable to move
the gold from the Trust Unallocated Account to the Trust Allocated Account in connection with a particular purchase
order or generally, the Trustee will, unless otherwise instructed by the Sponsor, reject the particular purchase order as
well as any other subsequent purchase orders on the same business day. Upon receipt of the gold deposit amount, the
Custodian, after receiving appropriate instructions from the Authorized Participant and the Trustee, will use
commercially reasonable endeavors to transfer by 2:00 PM (London, England time) on the third business day
following the purchase order date the gold deposit amount in gold to the Trust Unallocated Account, and on the same
business day, acting on standing instructions given by the Trustee, the gold deposit amount from Trust Unallocated
Account to the Trust Allocated Account by allocating specific bars of gold such that no more than 430 Fine Ounces
remain in the Trust Unallocated Account. Upon transfer of the gold deposit amount to the Trust Allocated Account,
the Trustee will direct DTC to credit the number of Baskets ordered to the Authorized Participant’s DTC account. The
expense and risk of delivery, ownership and safekeeping of gold until such gold has been received by the Trust shall
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be borne solely by the Authorized Participant.
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Because gold is allocated only in multiples of whole bars, the amount of gold allocated from the Trust Unallocated
Account to the Trust Allocated Account may be less than the total Fine Ounces credited to the Trust Unallocated
Account. Any balance will be held in the Trust Unallocated Account. The Custodian may hold no more than 430 Fine
Ounces of gold (maximum weight corresponding to one London Bar) in the Trust Unallocated Account at the close of
a business day.

Rejection of purchase orders

The Trustee may reject a gold deposit at any time when the Trustee’s transfer books are closed or if the Sponsor thinks
it necessary or advisable for any reason. None of the Trustee, the Sponsor or the Custodian will be liable for the
rejection of any purchase order or gold deposit.

Redemption Procedures — Authorized Participants

The procedures by which an Authorized Participant can redeem one or more Baskets mirror the procedures for the
creation of Baskets. On any business day, an Authorized Participant may place an order with the Trustee to redeem
one or more Baskets. Redemption orders must be placed no later than 3:59:59 PM (New York time) on each business
day the NYSE Arca is open for regular trading. A redemption order so received is effective on the date it is received in
satisfactory form by the Trustee. The redemption procedures allow only Authorized Participants to redeem Baskets.
An investor may not redeem Baskets other than through an Authorized Participant.

By placing a redemption order, an Authorized Participant agrees to deliver the Baskets to be redeemed through DTC’s
book-entry system to the Trust no later than the third business day following the effective date of the redemption
order. Prior to the delivery of the redemption distribution for a redemption order, the Authorized Participant must also
have wired to the Trustee the non-refundable transaction fee due for the redemption order.

The redemption distribution from the Trust will consist of a credit to the redeeming Authorized Participant’s
unallocated account representing the amount of the gold held by the Trust evidenced by the Shares being redeemed as
of the date of the redemption order. Fractions of a Fine Ounce included in the redemption distribution smaller than
0.001 of a Fine Ounce are disregarded. Redemption distributions will be subject to the deduction of any applicable
tax, fees or other governmental charge that may be due, as well as any charges or fees in connection with the transfer
of gold and the issuance and delivery of Shares, and any expense associated with the delivery of gold other than by
credit to an Authorized Participant’s unallocated account with the Custodian.

Delivery of redemption distribution

The redemption distribution due from the Trust is delivered to the Authorized Participant on the third business day
following the redemption order date if, by 9:00 AM (New York time) on such third business day, the Trustee’s DTC
account has been credited with the Baskets to be redeemed.

The Custodian will arrange for the redemption amount in gold to be transferred from the Trust Allocated Account to

the Trust Unallocated Account and, thereafter, to the redeeming Authorized Participant’s unallocated account. The
Authorized Participant and the Trust each are at risk in respect of gold credited to their respective unallocated

accounts in the event of the Custodian’s insolvency. See “Risk Factors— The Trust Would Be An Unsecured Creditor of
the Custodian in the Event of Insolvency.”

As with the allocation of gold to the Trust Allocated Account that occurs upon a purchase order, if in transferring gold
from the Trust Allocated Account to the Trust Unallocated Account in connection with a redemption order there is an
excess amount of gold transferred to the Trust Unallocated Account, the excess over the gold redemption amount will
be held in the Trust Unallocated Account. The Custodian may hold no more then 430 Fine Ounces of gold (maximum
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weight corresponding to one London Bar) in the Trust Unallocated Account at the close of each business day.
15

25



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Suspension or rejection of redemption orders

The Trustee may, in its discretion, and will when directed by the Sponsor, suspend the right of redemption, or
postpone the redemption settlement date or reject a particular redemption order (1) for any period during which the
NYSE Arca is closed other than customary weekend or holiday closings, or trading on the NYSE Arca is suspended or
restricted or (2) for any period during which an emergency exists as a result of which delivery, disposal or evaluation
of gold is not reasonably practicable. Neither the Sponsor nor the Trustee will be liable to any person or in any way
for any loss or damages that may result from any such suspension or postponement.

The Trustee will reject a redemption order if the order is not in proper form as described in the Authorized Participant
Agreement or if the fulfillment of the order, in the opinion of its counsel, might be unlawful.

The Sponsor

The Sponsor, Merk Investments LL.C, is a Delaware limited liability company. The Sponsor’s office is located at 332
Pine Street, Suite 200, San Francisco, California, 94104. The Sponsor has provided investment advisory services to
mutual funds since 2005. As of December 31, 2014, the Sponsor had approximately $343 million of assets under
management. The Sponsor’s role is discussed below, and it has undertaken the responsibilities set forth below.

The Sponsor’s Role

The Sponsor arranged for the creation of the Trust, the registration of the Shares for their public offering in the United
States and the listing of the Shares on the NYSE Arca. In exchange for the Sponsor’s Fee, the Sponsor has agreed to
assume the following administrative and marketing expenses incurred by the Trust: the Trustee’s monthly fee and
out-of-pocket expenses; the Custodian’s fee; the fees and expenses of Foreside Fund Services, LLC; expenses
reimbursable under the Custody Agreement; the precious metals dealer’s fees and expenses reimbursable under its
agreement with the Sponsor; exchange listing fees; SEC registration fees; printing and mailing costs; maintenance
expenses for the Trust’s website; audit fees and up to $100,000 per annum in legal expenses. The Sponsor is paid in
Shares in lieu of cash.

The Sponsor will not exercise day-to-day oversight over the Trustee or the other service providers to the Trust. The
Sponsor may remove the Trustee and appoint a successor Trustee if: (1) the Trustee ceases to meet certain objective
requirements (including the requirement that it have capital, surplus and undivided profits of at least $150 million); (2)
having received written notice of a material breach of its obligations under the Trust Agreement, the Trustee has not
cured the breach within 30 days; or (3) the Trustee fails to consent to the implementation of an amendment to the
Trust’s initial Internal Control Over Financial Reporting deemed necessary by the Sponsor and, after consultations
with the Sponsor, the Sponsor and the Trustee fail to resolve their differences regarding the proposed amendment. The
Sponsor also has the right to replace the Trustee during the 90 days following any merger, consolidation or conversion
in which the Trustee is not the surviving entity or, in its discretion, on the fifth anniversary of the creation of the Trust
or on any subsequent third anniversary thereafter. The Sponsor also has the right to direct the Trustee to appoint any
new or additional Custodian that the Sponsor selects.

The Sponsor: (1) will develop a marketing plan for the Trust on an ongoing basis; (2) will prepare marketing materials
regarding the Shares; (3) will maintain the Trust’s website; (4) may engage in over-the-counter transactions with a
precious metals dealer to exchange the Trust’s gold for gold of different specifications as requested by a Delivery
Applicant in a Delivery Application; (5) may provide instructions for assaying gold, and other instructions relating to
custody of the Trust’s gold, as necessary; (6) may request the Trustee to order Custodian audits (to the extent permitted
under the Custody Agreement); and (7) will review Delivery Applications from Delivery Applicants wishing to take
delivery of physical gold for their Shares and coordinate the delivery of physical gold to the Delivery Applicants.
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The Sponsor periodically engages in over-the-counter transactions to exchange London Bars for physical gold of other
specifications. The Sponsor engages in such transactions pursuant to instructions from a Delivery Applicant who
requests 10 Ounce Bars (containing 10 Fine Ounces of gold), 1 Ounce Bars (containing 1 Fine Ounce of gold) and
gold coins in exchange for their Shares. The Sponsor pays for such conversion but seeks to recover these costs by
charging an exchange fee to Delivery Applicants exchanging Shares for physical gold. The exchange fee will not
exactly reflect the actual cost of conversion to the Sponsor and may reflect a markup to compensate the Sponsor for
the risk the Sponsor is taking on by exchanging physical gold for physical gold other than London Bars before
knowing investor demand for delivery or market conditions at the time investor demand for delivery changes. The
Sponsor selects the precious metals dealers with whom it seeks to exchange the Trust’s physical gold.

The Trustee

The Bank of New York Mellon, a banking corporation organized under New York State law with trust powers, serves
as the Trustee. The Trustee has a trust office at 2 Hanson Place, Brooklyn, New York 11217. The Trustee is subject to
supervision by the New York State Financial Services Department and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System. Information regarding creation and redemption Basket composition, NAV of the Trust, transaction fees for
the creation and redemption of Baskets and the names of the parties that have executed an Authorized Participant
Agreement may be obtained from the Trustee. A copy of the Trust Agreement is available for inspection at the
Trustee’s trust office identified above. Under the Trust Agreement, the Trustee is required to maintain capital, surplus
and undivided profits of at least $150 million.

The Trustee’s Role

The Trustee is generally responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Trust, including keeping the Trust’s
operational records. The Trustee’s principal responsibilities include: (1) valuing the Trust’s gold and calculating the
NAYV per share of the Trust, (2) supplying inventory information to the Sponsor for the Trust’s website; (3) receiving
and processing orders from Authorized Participants for the creation and redemption of Baskets; (4) coordinating the
processing of orders from Authorized Participants with the Custodian and DTC, including coordinating with the
Custodian the receipt of unallocated gold transferred to the Trust in connection with each issuance of Baskets; (5)
cooperating with the Sponsor, the Custodian and the precious metals dealer in connection with the delivery of physical
gold to Delivery Applicants in exchange for their Shares; (6) issuing and allocating Shares to the Sponsor in lieu of
paying the Sponsor’s Fee in cash; (7) issuing and allocating Shares to the Sponsor to reimburse cash payments owed by
the Trust, but undertaken by the Sponsor; (8) selling the Trust’s gold pursuant to the Sponsor’s direction or otherwise as
needed to pay any extraordinary Trust expenses that are not assumed by the Sponsor; (9) holding the Trust’s cash and
other financial assets, if any; (10) when appropriate, making distributions of cash or other property to investors; and
(11) receiving and reviewing reports on the custody of and transactions in the Trust’s gold from the Custodian and
taking such other actions in connection with the custody of gold as the Sponsor instructs. The Trustee shall, with
respect to directing the Custodian, act in accordance with the instructions of the Sponsor. If the Custodian resigns, the
Trustee shall appoint any replacement Custodian selected by the Sponsor in accordance with the Trust Agreement.
Under the agreement with the Custodian, the Trustee, the Sponsor and the Sponsor’s auditors and inspectors may visit
the premises of the Custodian for the purpose of examining the Trust’s gold and certain related records maintained by
the Custodian.

The Trustee intends to regularly communicate with the Sponsor in connection with the administration of the Trust.
The Trustee does not monitor the performance of the Custodian other than to review the reports provided by the
Custodian pursuant to the Custody Agreement. The Trustee, along with the Sponsor, will liaise with the Trust’s legal,
accounting and other professional service providers as needed. The Trustee will assist and support the Sponsor with
the preparation of all periodic reports required to be filed with the SEC on behalf of the Trust. The Trustee’s monthly
fees and out-of-pocket expenses will be paid by the Sponsor. Affiliates of the Trustee may from time to time act as
Authorized Participants or purchase or sell gold or Shares for their own account, as agent for their customers and for
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accounts over which they exercise investment discretion.
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The Trustee will keep proper books of registration and transfer of Shares at its office located in New York or such
office as it may subsequently designate. These books and records are open to inspection by any person who
establishes to the Trustee’s satisfaction that such person is an investor at all reasonable times during the usual business
hours of the Trustee. The Trustee will keep a copy of the Trust Agreement on file in its office which will be available
for inspection on reasonable advance notice at all reasonable times during its usual business hours by any investor.

The Custodian

JPMorgan serves as the Custodian for the Trust. The Custodian is a national banking association organized under the
laws of the United States. The Custodian is subject to supervision by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Custodian’s office is located at 25 Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London
E14 SJP. In addition to supervision and examination by the federal banking authorities, London custodian operations
are generally subject to supervision by the Financial Services Authority.

The Custodian’s Role

The Custodian is responsible for holding the Trust’s allocated gold as well as receiving and converting allocated and
unallocated gold on behalf of the Trust. Unless otherwise agreed between the Trustee (as instructed by the Sponsor)
and the Custodian, physical gold must be held by the Custodian at its London vault premises. At the end of each
business day, the Custodian will hold no more than 430 Fine Ounces of unallocated gold for the Trust, which
corresponds to the maximum Fine Ounce weight of a London Bar. The Custodian converts the Trust’s gold between
allocated and unallocated gold when: (1) Authorized Participants engage in creation and redemption transactions with
the Trust; (2) gold is sold to pay Trust expenses; or (3) physical gold is converted into unallocated form to facilitate
the exchange of Shares by a Delivery Applicant for gold. The Custodian will facilitate the transfer of gold in and out
of the Trust through the unallocated gold accounts it may maintain for each Authorized Participant and the precious
metals dealer and through the unallocated gold accounts it will maintain for the Trust. The Custodian is responsible
for allocating specific bars of gold to the Trust Allocated Account.

The Custodian will provide the Trustee with regular reports detailing the gold transfers in and out of the Trust
Unallocated Account with the Custodian and identifying the gold bars held in the Trust Allocated Account.

The Custodian and its affiliates may from time to time act as Authorized Participants or purchase or sell gold or
Shares for their own account, as an agent for their customers and for accounts over which they exercise investment
discretion. The Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, has entered into the Custody Agreement with the Custodian, under
which the Custodian maintains the Trust Unallocated Account and the Trust Allocated Account.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, if, upon the resignation of the Custodian, there would be no custodian acting
pursuant to the Custody Agreement, the Trustee shall, promptly after receiving notice of such resignation, appoint a
substitute custodian or custodians selected by the Sponsor pursuant to custody agreement(s) approved by the Sponsor
(provided, however, that the rights and duties of the Trustee under the Trust Agreement and the custody agreement(s)
shall not be materially altered without its consent). When directed by the Sponsor, and to the extent permitted by, and
in the manner provided by, the Custody Agreement, the Trustee shall remove the Custodian and appoint a substitute or
additional custodian or custodians selected by the Sponsor. After the entry into the Custody Agreement(s), the Trustee
shall not enter into or amend any Custody Agreement with a custodian without the written approval of the Sponsor
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). When instructed by the Sponsor, the Trustee shall
demand that a custodian of the Trust deliver such of the Trust’s gold held by it as is requested of it to any other
custodian or such substitute or additional custodian or custodians directed by the Sponsor. Each such substitute or
additional custodian shall, forthwith upon its appointment, enter into a Custody Agreement in form and substance
approved by the Sponsor.
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Under the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor is responsible for appointing accountants or other inspectors to monitor the
accounts and operations of the Custodian and any successor custodian or additional custodian and for enforcing the
obligations of each such custodian as is necessary to protect the Trust and the rights and interests of the investors. The
Trustee has no obligation to monitor the activities of the Custodian other than to receive and review such reports of
the gold held for the Trust by such Custodian and of transactions in gold held for the account of the Trust made by
such Custodian pursuant to the Custody Agreement.

When instructed by the Sponsor, the Trustee will take action to remove gold from one custodian to another custodian
selected by the Sponsor. In connection with such transfer of physical gold, the Trustee will, at the direction of the
Sponsor, cause the physical gold to be weighed or assayed. The Trustee shall have no liability for any transfer of
physical gold or weighing or assaying of delivered physical gold as directed by the Sponsor, and in the absence of
such direction shall have no obligation to effect such a delivery or to cause the delivered physical gold to be weighed,
assayed or otherwise validated.

Inspection of Gold

Under the Custody Agreement, the Custodian will allow the Sponsor and the Trustee and their physical gold auditors
(currently Inspectorate), access to its premises during normal business hours, to examine the physical gold and such
records as they may reasonably require to perform their respective duties with regard to investors in Shares. The
Trustee agrees that any such access shall be subject to execution of a confidentiality agreement and agreement to the
Custodian’s security procedures, and any such audit shall be at the Trust’s expense.

On June 6, 2014, the Sponsor exercised its right to visit the premises of the Custodian for the purpose of examining
the Trust’s gold and related records.

On February 2, 2015, the Sponsor exercised its right to visit the Custodian’s premises and inspect the Trust’s gold and
related records. The inspection was carried out on behalf of the Sponsor by Inspectorate International Limited, a
leading commodity inspection and testing company.

Description of the Shares
General

The Trustee is authorized under the Trust Agreement to create and issue an unlimited number of Shares. The Trustee
will create Shares in Baskets (a Basket equals a block of 50,000 Shares) only upon the order of an Authorized
Participant. The Shares represent units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the net assets of the Trust and have
no par value. The Trust also may issue Shares to compensate and reimburse the Sponsor in Shares rather than in cash.

Description of Limited Rights

The Shares do not represent a traditional investment and you should not view them as similar to “shares” of a
corporation operating a business enterprise with management and a board of directors. As an investor, you will not
have the statutory rights normally associated with the ownership of Shares of a corporation, including, for example,

the right to bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions. All Shares are of the same class with equal rights and privileges.
Each share is transferable, is fully paid and non-assessable and entitles the holder to vote on the limited matters upon
which investors may vote under the Trust Agreement. The Shares are entitled to be redeemed or exchanged for gold as
described in this Report. The Shares do not entitle their holders to any conversion or pre-emptive rights or redemption
rights for single Shares.
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Redemption of and Taking Delivery of Physical Gold in Exchange for the Shares

The Shares may be redeemed by or through an Authorized Participant in Baskets. Investors may also take delivery of
physical gold in exchange for their Shares. See “Creations & Redemption of Shares” for details.
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Distributions

If the Trust is terminated and liquidated, the Trustee will distribute to the investors any amounts remaining after the
satisfaction of all outstanding liabilities of the Trust and the establishment of such reserves for applicable taxes, other
governmental charges and contingent or future liabilities as the Trustee shall determine. Investors of record on the
record date fixed by the Trustee for a distribution will be entitled to receive their pro rata portion of any distribution.

Voting Rights

Under the Trust Agreement, except in limited circumstances, investors do not have voting rights. However, registered
holders of at least 25% of the Shares have the right to require the Trustee to cure any material breach by it of the Trust
Agreement, and registered holders of at least 75% of the Shares have the right to require the Trustee to terminate the
Trust Agreement. In addition, certain amendments to the Trust Agreement require advance notice to the investors
before the effectiveness of such amendments, but no investor vote or approval is required for any amendment to the
Trust Agreement.

Book-Entry Form

Individual certificates will not be issued for the Shares. Instead, one or more global certificates will be deposited by
the Trustee with DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. The global certificates will
evidence all of the Shares outstanding at any time. Under the Trust Agreement, investors may only hold Shares
through (1) participants in DTC, such as a bank, broker-dealer or trust company (“DTC Participants”), (2) those who
maintain, either directly or indirectly, a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant (“Indirect Participants™), and (3)
those banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and others who hold interests in the Shares through DTC Participants or
Indirect Participants. The Shares are only transferable through the book-entry system of DTC. Investors who are not
DTC Participants may transfer their Shares through DTC by instructing the DTC Participant holding their Shares (or
by instructing the Indirect Participant or other entity through which their Shares are held) to transfer the Shares.
Transfers will be made in accordance with standard securities industry practices.

DTC may decide to discontinue providing its service with respect to Baskets and/or the Shares by giving notice to the
Trustee and the Sponsor. Under such circumstances, the Sponsor will find a replacement for DTC to perform its
functions at a comparable cost or, if a replacement is unavailable, the Trustee will terminate the Trust.

The rights of the investors generally must be exercised by DTC Participants acting on their behalf in accordance with
the rules and procedures of DTC. Because the Shares can only be held in book-entry form through DTC and DTC
Participants, investors must rely on DTC, DTC Participants and any other financial intermediary through which they
hold the Shares to receive the benefits and exercise the rights described in this section. Investors should consult with
their broker or financial institution to find out about procedures and requirements for securities held in book-entry
form through DTC.

United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

This section summarizes the material federal income tax consequences that generally will apply to the purchase,
ownership and disposition of Shares by a “U.S. Investor” (as defined below) and certain federal tax consequences that
may apply to the purchase, ownership and disposition of Shares by a “non-U.S. Investor” (as defined below). The
following discussion represents, insofar as it describes conclusions regarding federal tax law and subject to the
limitations and qualifications described therein, the opinion of K&L Gates LLP, special federal income tax counsel to
the Sponsor. The discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), final and
temporary Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and judicial and administrative interpretations of the Code, all
as in effect on the date of this Prospectus; no assurance can be given that future legislation, regulations, court
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administrative pronouncements will not significantly change applicable law and materially affect the conclusions
expressed herein, and any such change, even though made after an investor has invested in the Trust, could be applied
retroactively. This discussion does not purport to be complete or to deal with all aspects of federal income taxation
that may be relevant to an investor in light of its particular circumstances or to an investor mentioned in the second
sentence of the next paragraph.

The tax treatment of investors may vary depending on their own particular circumstances. Certain investors — including
banks, thrift institutions and certain other financial institutions, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations,

brokers and dealers in securities or currencies, certain securities traders, persons holding Shares as a position in a

“hedging,” “straddle,” “conversion” or “constructive sale” transaction (as those terms are defined in the authorities mentioned
above), qualified pension and profit-sharing plans, individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”), certain other tax-deferred
accounts, U.S. expatriates, persons whose “functional currency” is not the U.S. dollar, persons subject to the federal
alternative minimum tax, foreign investors (except as specifically provided under “Income Taxation of Non-U.S.

Investors” and “Estate and Gift Tax Considerations for Non-U.S. Investors” below) and other investors with special
circumstances — may be subject to special rules not discussed below. In addition, the following discussion applies only

to investors who will hold Shares as “capital assets” (as defined in section 1221 of the Code).

The discussion below does not address the effect of any state, local or foreign tax law on an investor. Purchasers of
Shares are urged to consult their own tax advisers with respect to all federal, state, local and foreign tax law
considerations potentially applicable to their investment in Shares.

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Investor” is an investor who or that is:

-An individual who is treated as a citizen or resident of the United States for federal tax purposes;

A corporation or partnership (or other entity treated as such for those purposes) that is created or organized in the
"United States or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

An estate other than an estate the income of which, from non-U.S. sources that is not effectively connected with the
“conduct of a trade or business within the United States, is not includible in gross income;

A trust if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust
-and one or more persons described in any of the three preceding clauses have the authority to control all substantial
decisions of the trust; or

An eligible trust that has made a valid election under applicable Treasury regulations to continue to be treated as a
“domestic trust.

An investor that is not a U.S. Investor as so defined is referred to below as a “non-U.S. Investor.” For federal tax
purposes, the treatment of any beneficial owner of an interest in a partnership (including any entity classified as such
for those purposes) will generally depend on the partner’s status and the partnership’s activities. Partnerships and
partners should consult their tax advisers about the federal income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and
disposing of Shares.

Taxation of the Trust

The Trust will be treated as a “grantor trust” for federal tax purposes. As a result, the Trust itself will not be subject to
federal income tax. Instead, the Trust’s income and expenses will “flow through” to its investors, and the Trustee will
report the Trust’s income, gains, losses and deductions to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) on that basis. There can
be no assurance that the IRS will agree with that treatment, and it is possible that the IRS or another tax authority

could assert a position contrary thereto and that a court could sustain that contrary position. Neither the Sponsor nor
the Trustee will request a ruling from the IRS with respect to the classification or treatment of the Trust for federal tax
purposes. If the IRS were to assert successfully that the Trust is not a “grantor trust,” the Trust would be classified as a
partnership for those purposes, which may affect timing and other tax consequences to its investors.
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Taxation of U.S. Investors

An investor will be treated, for federal tax purposes, as if it directly owns a pro rata share of the Trust’s assets and
directly receives that share of any Trust income and incurs that share of the Trust’s expenses. In the case of an investor
that purchases Shares for cash, its initial tax basis in its pro rata share of the assets held in the Trust at the time it
acquires its Shares will be equal to its cost of acquiring the Shares. In the case of an investor that acquires its Shares as
part of the creation of a Basket, the delivery of gold to the Trust in exchange for a pro rata share of the underlying
gold the Trust holds at the time it acquires its Shares will not be a taxable event to the investor, and the investor’s tax
basis in and holding period for that share of the Trust’s gold will be the same as its tax basis in and holding period for
the gold delivered in exchange therefor. For purposes of this discussion, and unless stated otherwise, it is assumed that
all of an investor’s Shares are acquired on the same date and at the same price per share. Investors that hold multiple
lots of Shares, or that are contemplating acquiring multiple lots of Shares, should consult their own tax advisers as to
the determination of the tax basis in and holding period for the underlying gold represented by such Shares.

If the Trust sells gold, for example to generate cash to pay its fees or expenses, an investor will recognize gain or loss
in an amount equal to the difference between (1) the investor’s pro rata share of the amount the Trust realizes on the
sale and (2) the investor’s tax basis in its pro rata share of the gold that was sold. Although it is not entirely free from
doubt, the Trust will treat the issuance of Shares to the Sponsor as payment of the Sponsor’s Fee and/or reimbursement
of the Trust’s expenses and/or liabilities as a taxable exchange by the Trust of the portion of the underlying gold
represented by those Shares and thus will also constitute a taxable event for investors. An investor’s tax basis in its
share of any gold sold or exchanged by the Trust generally will be determined by multiplying the investor’s total basis
in its share of all the gold held in the Trust immediately prior to the sale or exchange by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the amount of gold sold or exchanged and the denominator of which is the total amount of all the gold so
held. After any such sale or exchange, an investor’s tax basis in its pro rata share of the gold remaining in the Trust will
be equal to its tax basis in its share of the total amount of the gold held in the Trust immediately prior to the sale or
exchange less the portion of that basis allocable to its share of the gold that was sold or exchanged.

On the sale of some or all of its Shares, an investor will be treated as having sold the part of its pro rata share of the
gold held in the Trust at that time that is attributable to the Shares sold. Accordingly, the investor generally will
recognize gain or loss on the sale in an amount equal to the difference between (1) the amount realized pursuant to the
sale of the Shares and (2) the investor’s tax basis in that attributable part, as determined in the manner described in the
preceding paragraph.

If an investor redeems (which term, and its variations, as used in this section includes a surrender, and its variations, to
the Trust by a Delivery Applicant of) some or all of its Shares in exchange for (i.e., in order to take delivery of) the
underlying gold (including American Gold Eagle gold coins (with a minimum fineness of 91.67%) (‘““‘American Gold
Coins”)) represented by the redeemed Shares, the exchange will generally not be a taxable event for the investor
(except as noted below with respect to any cash proceeds). In addition, if an investor acquires its Shares as part of the
creation of a Basket by delivering to the Trust gold in specified denominations (e.g., unallocated gold), the subsequent
redemption of its Shares for gold delivered by the Trust in different denominations (e.g., LBMA gold in
denominations of 350 to 430 Fine Ounces or 10 Ounce Bars of gold or coins) will not constitute a taxable event,
provided that the amount of gold received on the redemption contains the equivalent metallic content of the gold
delivered on the creation, less amounts accrued or sold to pay the Trust’s expenses and other charges. An investor’s tax
basis in the gold received on a redemption generally will be the same as the investor’s tax basis in the portion of its pro
rata share of the gold held in the Trust immediately prior to the redemption that is attributable to the redeemed Shares.
An investor’s holding period with respect to the gold received on a redemption should include the period during which
the investor held the redeemed Shares. A subsequent sale of the gold received by the investor will be a taxable event.

If an investor is entitled to any cash proceeds on the redemption of some or all of its Shares, the investor will be
treated as having sold the portion of its pro rata share of the gold held in the Trust equal in value to the cash proceeds.
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An investor’s tax basis in its pro rata share of the gold held in the Trust immediately after any sale or redemption of
less than all of the investor’s Shares generally will equal (1) its tax basis in its share of the total amount of the gold
held in the Trust immediately prior to the sale or redemption less (2) the portion of such basis that is taken into
account in determining the amount of gain or loss the investor recognizes on the sale or, in the case of a redemption, is
treated as the basis in the gold received by the investor in the redemption.

Maximum 28% Long-Term Capital Gains Tax Rate for US Investors Who Are Individuals

Gains recognized by an individual, estate or trust (each referred to below as an “individual” unless the context requires
otherwise) from the sale of “collectibles,” which term includes gold, held for more than one year are subject to federal
income tax at a maximum rate of 28% rather than the lower maximum rates applicable to most other long-term capital
gains individuals recognize (a maximum of 15% for a single individual with taxable income not exceeding $406,750
($457,600 for married individuals filing jointly) and 20% for individuals with taxable income exceeding those
respective amounts, which will be adjusted for inflation annually). For these purposes, gain an individual recognizes
on the sale of an interest in a “grantor trust” that holds collectibles (such as the Trust) is treated as gain recognized on
the sale of the collectibles, to the extent the gain is attributable to unrealized appreciation in value of the collectibles.
Therefore, any gain recognized by an individual U.S. Investor attributable to a sale or exchange of Shares held for
more than one year, or attributable to the Trust’s sale of any gold that the investor is treated (through his, her or its
ownership of Shares) as having held for more than one year, generally will be subject to federal income tax at a
maximum rate of 28%. The tax rates for capital gains recognized on the sale of assets held by an individual U.S.
Investor for one year or less, or by a taxpayer other than an individual, are generally the same as those at which
ordinary income is taxed.

3.8% Tax on Net Investment Income

An individual is required to pay a 3.8% tax on the lesser of (1) the excess of the individual’s “modified adjusted gross
income” over a threshold amount ($250,000 for married persons filing jointly and $200,000 for single taxpayers) or (2)
the individual’s “net investment income,” which generally includes dividends, interest, and net gains from the disposition
of investment property. This tax is in addition to any other taxes due on that income. U.S. Investors should consult

their own tax advisers regarding the effect, if any, this provision may have on their investment in Shares.

Brokerage Fees and Trust Expenses

Any brokerage or other transaction fee incurred by an investor in purchasing Shares will be included in the investor’s
tax basis in the Trust’s underlying assets. Similarly, any brokerage fee incurred by an investor in selling Shares will
reduce the amount the investor realizes with respect to the sale.

Investors will be required to recognize the full amount of gain or loss on a sale of gold by the Trust (as discussed
above), even though some or all of the sale proceeds are used by the Trustee to pay Trust expenses. An investor may
deduct its respective pro rata share of each expense incurred by the Trust to the same extent as if it directly incurred
the expense. Investors who are individuals, however, may be required to treat some or all of the expenses of the Trust
as miscellaneous itemized deductions. An individual may deduct certain miscellaneous itemized deductions only to
the extent they exceed 2% of the individual’s adjusted gross income. In addition, such deductions may be subject to
phase-outs and other limitations under applicable Code provisions.

Investment by U.S. Tax-Exempt Investors

Certain U.S. Investors (referred to in this paragraph as “U.S. Tax-Exempt Investors™) are subject to federal income tax
only on their “unrelated business taxable income” (UBTI). It is expected that, unless a U.S. Tax-Exempt Investor incurs
debt to purchase Shares, it should not realize UBTI with respect to its pro rata share of the Trust.
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Investment by Regulated Investment Companies

Mutual funds and other investment vehicles that are “regulated investment companies” within the meaning of Code
section 851 should consult with their tax advisers concerning (1) the likelihood that an investment in Shares, although
they are a “security” within the meaning of the 1940 Act, may be considered an investment in the underlying gold for
purposes of Code section 851(b), and (2) the extent to which an investment in Shares might nevertheless be consistent
with preservation of their qualification under that section.

Investment by Certain Retirement Plans

Section 408(m) of the Code provides that the purchase of a “collectible” as an investment for an IRA, or for a
participant- directed account maintained under any plan that is tax-qualified under Code section 401(a) (‘“Tax-Qualified
Account”), is treated as a taxable distribution from the account to the owner of the IRA, or to the participant for whom
the Tax-Qualified Account is maintained, of an amount equal to the cost to the account of acquiring the collectible.

The Trust, through the Sponsor, has requested, and expects to receive (though there can be no assurance in that

regard), a private letter ruling from the IRS that the purchase of Shares by an IRA or a Tax-Qualified Account will not
constitute the acquisition of a collectible or be treated as a taxable distribution to the IRA owner or plan participant
under Code section 408(m). If a redemption of Shares results in the delivery of gold to an IRA or Tax-Qualified
Account, however, that distribution would constitute the acquisition of a collectible to the extent provided under that
section. See also “ERISA and Related Considerations.”

Income Taxation of Non-U.S. Investors

A non-U.S. Investor generally will not be subject to federal income tax with respect to gain recognized on the sale or
other disposition of Shares, or on the sale of gold by the Trust, unless (1) the non-U.S. Investor is an individual and is
present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year of the sale or other disposition and the gain is
treated as being from U.S. sources or (2) the gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. Investor
of a trade or business in the United States and certain other conditions are met. Non-U.S. Investors are advised to
consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences, under the laws of any non-U.S. jurisdiction to which they
are subject, of their purchase, holding, sale and redemption of or any other dealing in Shares and, in particular, as to
whether any value added tax, other consumption tax or transfer tax is payable in relation to such purchase, holding,
sale, redemption or other dealing.

Estate and Gift Tax Considerations for Non-U.S. Investors

Individuals who are neither citizens nor residents (as determined for federal estate and gift tax purposes) of the United
States (collectively, Non-Residents) are subject to estate tax on all property that has a U.S. “situs.” Shares may well be
considered to have a U.S. situs for these purposes. If Shares are so considered, they would be includible in the U.S.
gross estate of a Non-Resident investor; federal estate tax is imposed at rates of up to 40% of the fair market value of
the U.S. taxable estate. In addition, the federal “generation-skipping transfer tax” may apply in certain circumstances.
The estate of a Non-Resident investor who was resident in a country that has an estate tax treaty with the United States
may be entitled to benefit from such treaty.

For Non-Residents, the federal gift tax generally applies only to gifts of tangible personal property or real property
having a U.S. situs. Tangible personal property (including gold) has a U.S. situs if it is physically located in the United
States. Although the matter is not settled, it appears that ownership of Shares might not be considered ownership of
the underlying gold for this purpose, even to the extent that gold is held in custody in the United States. Instead,
Shares might be considered intangible property, and therefore they might not be subject to U.S. gift tax if transferred
during the holder’s lifetime.

24

42



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

43



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Non-Resident investors are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding the possible application of federal estate, gift
and generation-skipping transfer taxes in their particular circumstances.

U.S. Information Reporting and Withholding

The Trustee will make information available that will enable brokers and custodians through which investors hold
Shares to prepare and file certain information returns with the IRS, and will provide certain tax-related information to
investors, in connection with the Trust. To the extent required by applicable regulations, each investor will be
provided with information regarding its allocable portion of the Trust’s annual income, deductions, gain and loss (if
any). A U.S. Investor may be subject to federal backup withholding, at the rate of 28%, in certain circumstances
unless it provides its taxpayer identification number to its broker and complies with certain certification procedures;
the amount of any backup withholding will be allowed as a credit against an investor’s federal income tax liability and
may entitle an investor to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS. A non-U.S. Investor
may have to comply with certification procedures to establish that it is not a U.S. Investor, and some non-U.S.
Investors will be required to meet certain information reporting or certification requirements imposed by the Foreign
Account Tax Compliance Act, to avoid withholding.

ERISA and Related Considerations

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and section 4975 of the Code impose
certain requirements on employee benefit plans and certain other plans and arrangements, including IRAs and

individual retirement annuities, Keogh plans and certain collective investment funds or insurance company general or
separate accounts in which such plans, accounts, annuities or arrangements are invested, that are subject to ERISA or
the Code, respectively (collectively, “Plans”), and on persons who are fiduciaries with respect to the investment of assets
treated as “plan assets” of a Plan. Investments by Plans are subject to the fiduciary requirements and the applicability of
prohibited transaction restrictions under ERISA.

Government plans and some church plans are not subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA or the
provisions of Code section 4975 but may be subject to substantially similar rules under state or other federal law.
Fiduciaries of any such plans are advised to consult with their counsel prior to an investment in Shares.

In contemplating an investment of a portion of Plan assets in Shares, the Plan fiduciary responsible for making such
investment should carefully consider, taking into account the facts and circumstances of the Plan, the “Risk Factors”
discussed above and whether such investment is consistent with its fiduciary responsibilities, including (1) whether
the fiduciary has the authority to make the investment under the appropriate governing Plan instrument, (2) whether
the investment would constitute a direct or indirect non-exempt prohibited transaction with a “party in interest” or
“disqualified person,” (3) the Plan’s funding objectives, and (4) whether under the general fiduciary standards of
investment prudence and diversification such investment is appropriate for the Plan, taking into account the Plan’s
overall investment policy, the composition of its investment portfolio and its need for sufficient liquidity to pay
benefits when due.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Before making an investment decision, you should consider carefully the risks described below, as well as the other
information included in this Prospectus.

The Value of Your Shares is Directly Related to the Price of Gold

The value of your Shares fluctuates based upon the price of the gold held by the Trust. Fluctuations in the price of
gold could materially adversely affect your investment in the Shares. This creates the potential for losses, regardless of
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the period of time that you hold the Shares.
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The Shares are intended to track the performance of the price of gold. The value of the Shares relates directly to the
value of the gold owned by the Trust. Therefore, the value of the Shares will fluctuate with the price of gold. The price
of gold has fluctuated widely over the past several years. This exposes your investment in Shares to potential losses.
Several factors may affect the price of gold and, as a result, the value of the Shares, including the following:

Global supply and demand, which is influenced by factors including (1) forward selling by gold producers, (2)
-purchases made by gold producers to unwind gold hedge positions, (3) central bank purchases and sales, (4)
production and cost levels in major gold-producing countries and (5) new production projects;

-Investors’ expectations regarding future inflation rates;

-Currency exchange rate volatility;

-Interest rate volatility; and

-Unexpected political, economic global or regional incidents.

Investors should be advised that there is no assurance that gold will maintain its long-term value in terms of U.S.
dollar value in the future. In the event that the price of gold declines, the Sponsor expects the value of an investment
in the Shares to decline proportionately.

There is No Guarantee that the High Trading Price of Gold Will be Sustained

The international gold market has experienced historically high trading prices in recent years. Because there can be no
assurance that this historically high trading price of gold will be sustained, there could be significant decreases in the
value of net assets and the NAV of the Trust.

Prices in the international gold market have reached historically high levels in recent years. The price of physical gold
going forward and, in turn, the future value of net assets of the Trust, may be dependent upon factors that include
global gold supply and demand, investors’ inflation expectations, exchange rate volatility and interest rate volatility.
An adverse development with regard to one or more of these, or other factors may lead to a decrease in gold bullion
currency trading prices. A decline in prices of gold would decrease the value of net assets and the NAV of the Trust.

Governmental Actions May Affect the Price of Gold

Future governmental decisions may have significant impact on the price of gold, which may result in a significant
decrease or increase in the value of the net assets and the NAV of the Trust.

Generally, gold prices reflect the supply and demand of available gold. Governmental decisions, such as the executive
order issued by the President of the United States in 1933 requiring all persons in the United States to deliver gold to
the Federal Reserve or the abandonment of the gold standard by the United States in 1971, have been viewed as
having significant impact on the supply and demand of gold and the price of gold. Future governmental decisions may
have an impact on the price of gold, and may result in a significant decrease or increase in the value of the net assets
and the NAV of the Trust.

Sales of Gold in the Market Could Adversely Affect the Shares

Substantial sales of gold by central banks, governmental agencies and multi-lateral institutions could adversely affect
an investment in the Shares.

Central banks, other governmental agencies and multi-lateral institutions buy, sell and hold gold as part of their
reserve assets. This market sector holds a significant amount of gold, some of which is static, meaning that it is held in
vaults and is not bought, sold, leased or swapped or otherwise available in the open market. Several central banks and
multi-lateral institutions have sold portions of their gold reserves in recent years, with the result being that this sector,
taken as a whole, has been a net supplier of gold to the open market. In the event that future economic, political or
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this sector to liquidate their gold assets all at once or in an uncoordinated manner, the demand for gold may not be
sufficient to accommodate the sudden increase in the supply of gold to the market. Consequently, the price of gold
may decline which may adversely affect an investment in the Shares.

An Investment in the Trust may be More Volatile than an Investment in a Diversified Portfolio

Because the Trust invests only in gold, an investment in the Trust may be more volatile than an investment in a more
broadly diversified portfolio.

The Trust invests only in gold. As a result, the Trust’s holding are not diversified. Accordingly, the Trust’s NAV may
be more volatile than another investment vehicle with a more broadly diversified portfolio and may fluctuate
substantially over time. The price of gold can be volatile. Fluctuations in the price of gold are expected to have a
direct impact on the value of the Shares.

The Shares May Trade at a Discount or a Premium

Trust Shares may trade at NAV or at a price that is above or below NAV. Any discount or premium in the trading
price relative to the NAV per Share may widen as a result of the different trading hours of NYSE Arca and other
exchanges.

Trust Shares may trade at, above or below the NAV per Share. The NAV per Share will fluctuate with changes in the
market value of the gold owned by the Trust. The trading price of the Shares will fluctuate with changes in the NAV
per Share as well as market supply and demand. The amount of the discount or premium in the trading price relative
to the NAV per Share may be influenced by non-concurrent trading hours between the NYSE Arca and major gold
markets. While the Shares will trade on the NYSE Arca until 4:00 PM (New York time), liquidity in the market for
gold may be reduced after the close of the major world gold markets, including London. As a result, during this time,
trading spreads and the resulting discount or premium on the Shares may widen.

There May Not be an Active Trading Market for the Shares

The lack of an active trading market for the Shares may result in losses on your investment at the time of disposition
of your Shares.

Although Shares are listed for trading on NYSE Arca, there can be no assurance that an active trading market for the
Shares will develop or be maintained. If an active public market for the Shares does not develop or continue, the
market prices and liquidity of the Shares may be adversely affected. If you need to sell your Shares at a time when no
active market for them exists, the absence of an active market will most likely adversely affect the price you receive
for your Shares (assuming you are able to sell them).

The Trust is Not Actively Managed

The Trust does not actively trade gold to take advantage of short-term market fluctuations in the price of gold. An
investment in the Trust will yield long-term gains only if the value of gold increases over time.

The Trust does not actively manage the gold it holds. This means that the Trust does not sell gold at times when its
price is high, or acquire gold at low prices in the expectation of future price increases. It also means that the Trust
does not make use of any of the hedging techniques available to professional gold investors to attempt to reduce the
risks of losses resulting from price decreases. Any losses sustained by the Trust will adversely affect the value of your
Shares.

Limited Operating History
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Because the Sponsor and its management have a limited history of operating investment vehicles like the Trust, their
experience may be inadequate or unsuitable to manage the Trust.
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The Sponsor has a limited history of operating investment vehicles like the Trust. The Sponsor’s past performance in
connection with the management of other investment vehicles is not indicative of the Sponsor’s ability to manage the
Trust. If the experience of the Sponsor and its management is not adequate or suitable to manage an investment
vehicle like the Trust, the Trust’s operations may be adversely affected.

The Trust May Suspend Redemptions of Baskets by Authorized Participants. which Could Affect the Market Price of
the Shares

There may be situations where the Trust suspends redemptions of Baskets by Authorized Participants. To the extent
the value of gold declines, these delays may result in a decrease in the value of the gold received upon redemption by
an Authorized Participant, as well as a reduction in liquidity for all investors in the secondary market.

Although Shares are redeemable by Authorized Participants in exchange for the underlying amount of gold,
redemptions by Authorized Participants may be suspended during any period while regular trading on NYSE Arca is
suspended or restricted, or in which an emergency exists that makes it reasonably impracticable to deliver, dispose of,
or evaluate gold. If any of these events occurs at the time of a redemption by an Authorized Participant, and the price
of gold decreases before the redemption occurs, an Authorized Participant will sustain a loss with respect to the
amount that it would have been able to obtain in exchange for the gold received from the Trust upon the redemption of
its Shares, had the redemption taken place when it was originally intended to occur. As a consequence, Authorized
Participants may reduce their trading in Shares during periods of suspension, decreasing the number of potential
buyers of Shares in the secondary market and the price an investor may receive upon sale.

The Trust May Suspend or Reject the Surrender of Shares for Physical Gold. which Could Affect the Market Price of
the Shares

There may be situations where the Trust suspends or rejects the surrender of Shares for physical gold. To the extent
the value of gold declines, these delays may result in a decrease in the value of the physical gold received by a
Delivery Applicant, as well as a reduction in liquidity for all investors in the secondary market.

The surrender of Shares for physical gold may be suspended or rejected by the Trust during any period while regular
trading on NYSE Arca is suspended or restricted, in which an emergency exists that makes it reasonably impracticable
to deliver, dispose of, or evaluate gold, or, with respect to the surrender of Shares by a Delivery Applicant only, as
deemed necessary or advisable by the Sponsor. In addition, the Trustee shall reject the delivery of Shares by the
Delivery Applicant: (1) if the number of Shares delivered does not correspond to the number of Shares specified in the
pre-approved Delivery Application; (2) if the delivered Shares are not accompanied by proper instructions or by a
pre-approved Delivery Application; or (3) the number of Fine Ounces represented by the delivered Shares is less than
the Fine Ounces to be delivered specified in the Delivery Application. Additionally, the Sponsor may decline to
approve a Delivery Application for any reason. The delivery of physical gold shall be suspended in the event the
Sponsor resigns or is otherwise unable or unwilling to perform its obligations relating to the process of Delivery
Applicants taking delivery of physical gold. If any of these events occurs at the time that a Delivery Application has
been received, and the price of gold decreases before the Delivery Application is processed, a Delivery Applicant will
sustain a loss with respect to the amount of physical gold that it would have been able to obtain from the Trust in
connection with the surrender of the Delivery Applicant’s Shares had the surrender taken place when it was originally
intended to occur. In addition, there may be a reduction in the trading of Shares during periods of suspension,
decreasing the number of potential buyers of Shares in the secondary market and the price an investor may receive
upon sale.
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The Withdrawal of an Authorized Participant and Substantial Redemptions by Authorized Participants May Affect the
Liquidity of the Shares

The liquidity of the Shares also may be affected by substantial redemptions by Authorized Participants related to or
independent of the withdrawal from participation of Authorized Participants.

In the event that there are substantial redemptions of Shares or one or more Authorized Participants with a substantial
interest in the Shares withdraws from participation, the liquidity of the Shares will likely decrease, which could
adversely affect the market price of the Shares and result in your incurring a loss on your investment.

Competition From Other Methods of Investing in Gold

An investment in the Shares may be adversely affected by competition from other methods of investing in gold.

The Trust competes with other financial vehicles, including traditional debt and equity securities issued by companies
in the gold industry and other securities backed by or linked to gold, direct investments in gold and investment
vehicles similar to the Trust. Market and financial conditions, and other conditions beyond the Sponsor’s control, may
make it more attractive to invest in other financial vehicles or to invest in gold directly, which could limit the market
for and reduce the liquidity of the Shares.

Other Investment Vehicles May Cause a Decline in the Price of Gold

The price of gold may be affected by the sale of ETVs tracking gold markets, which could negatively affect gold
prices and the price and NAV of the Shares.

To the extent existing exchange traded vehicles (“ETVs”) tracking gold markets represent a significant proportion of
demand for gold, large redemptions of the securities of these ETVs could negatively affect gold prices and the price
and NAYV of the Shares.

Financial Crises May Result in a Decline in the Price of Gold

Crises may motivate large-scale sales of gold which could decrease the price of gold and adversely affect an
investment in the Shares.

The possibility of large-scale distress sales of gold in times of crisis may have a short-term negative impact on the
price of gold and adversely affect an investment in the Shares. For example, the 2008 financial credit crisis resulted in
significantly depressed prices of gold largely due to forced sales and deleveraging from institutional investors such as
hedge funds and pension funds. Crises in the future may impair gold’s price performance which would, in turn,
adversely affect an investment in the Shares.

Factors that May Cause a Decline in the Price of Gold

Several factors may have the effect of causing a decline in the prices of gold and a corresponding decline in the price
of Shares, including:

A significant increase in gold hedging activity by gold producers. Should there be an increase in the level of hedge

activity of gold producing companies, it could cause a decline in world gold prices, adversely affecting the price of the
Shares.
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A significant change in the attitude of speculators and investors toward gold. Should the speculative community take
a negative view toward gold, it could cause a decline in world gold prices, negatively impacting the price of the
Shares.
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A widening of interest rate differentials between the cost of money and the cost of gold could negatively affect the
“price of gold which, in turn, could negatively affect the price of the Shares.

A combination of rising money interest rates and a continuation of the current low cost of borrowing gold could
improve the economics of selling gold forward. This could result in an increase in hedging by gold mining companies
“and short selling by speculative interests, which would negatively affect the price of gold. Under such circumstances,
the price of the Shares would be similarly affected.

Loss of or Damage to the Trust’s Gold

Gold owned by the Trust may be subject to loss, damage, theft or restriction on access.

There is a risk that part or all of the Trust’s gold could be lost, damaged or stolen. Access to the Trust’s gold could also
be restricted by natural events (such as an earthquake) or human actions (such as a terrorist attack). Any of these
events may adversely affect the operations of the Trust and, consequently, an investment in the Shares.

The Trust does not insure gold held by the Custodian or delivered by the precious metals dealer. Consequently, if
there is a loss of assets of the Trust through theft, destruction, fraud or otherwise, the Trust will need to rely on
insurance carried by applicable third parties, if any, or on such third party’s ability to satisfy any claims against it. If
the Trust’s gold is lost, damaged, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party liable to the Trust, the
responsible party may not have the financial resources sufficient to satisfy the Trust’s claim. For example, as to a
particular event of loss, the only source of recovery for the Trust might be limited to the Custodian, the precious
metals dealer or other responsible third parties (e.g., a thief or terrorist), any of which may not have the financial
resources (including liability insurance coverage) to satisfy a valid claim of the Trust. Moreover, losses due to nuclear
accidents, terrorism, riots, acts of God, insurrections, strikes and similar causes beyond the control of the Custodian
and for which the Custodian would not be liable may be sustained by the Trust. Any loss of gold owned by the Trust
will result in a corresponding loss in the NAV, and it is reasonable to expect that such loss will also result in a
decrease in the value at which the Shares are traded on NYSE Arca.

Recovery for Damage to the Trust’s Gold May Be Limited

In the event the Trust’s gold is lost, damaged, stolen or destroyed, recovery may be limited to the market value of the
gold at the time the loss is discovered, which may negatively affect the value of net assets of the Trust.

If there is a loss due to theft, loss, damage, destruction or fraud or otherwise with respect to the Trust’s gold held by the
Custodian or delivered by the precious metals dealer, and such loss is found to be the fault of the Custodian or the
precious metals dealer, the Trust may not be able to recover more than the market value of the gold at the time the loss
is discovered. If the market value of gold increases between the time the loss is discovered and the time the Trust
receives payment for its loss and purchases gold to replace the losses, less gold will be acquired by the Trust and the
value of the net assets of the Trust will be negatively affected.

The Trust’s Service Providers May Not Carry Adequate Insurance

The service providers engaged by the Trust may not carry adequate insurance to cover claims against them by the
Trust, which could adversely affect the value of net assets of the Trust.

The Trustee, the Custodian, precious metals dealers and other service providers engaged by the Trust maintain such
insurance as they deem adequate with respect to their respective businesses. Investors cannot be assured that any of
the aforementioned parties will maintain any insurance with respect to the Trust’s assets held or the services that such
parties provide to the Trust and, if they maintain insurance, that such insurance is sufficient to satisfy any losses
incurred by them in respect of their relationship with the Trust.
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Accordingly, the Trust will have to rely on the efforts of the service provider to recover from their insurer
compensation for any losses incurred by the Trust in connection with such arrangements.

Operational Problems May Cause a Decline in the Trading Price of the Shares

The value of the Shares could decline if unanticipated operational or trading problems arise.

There may be unanticipated problems or issues with respect to the mechanics of the Trust’s operations and the trading
of the Shares that could have a material adverse effect on an investment in the Shares. In addition, to the extent that
unanticipated operational or trading problems or issues arise, the Sponsor’s past experience and qualifications may not
be suitable for solving these problems or issues.

A Share Submission is Irrevocable
An investor’s instruction to a broker-dealer to transfer Shares to the Trust in a Share Submission cannot be changed.

A Delivery Applicant wishing to deliver Shares of the Trust in exchange for physical gold must submit to the Sponsor
a Delivery Application and the processing fees through its broker-dealer. The Delivery Application is not binding until
Shares are delivered to the Trust. Upon pre-approval of the Delivery Application by the Sponsor, the Sponsor will
send a copy of the pre-approved Delivery Application to the Trustee. A Delivery Applicant shall instruct its
broker-dealer to transfer Shares to the Trustee; the submission and transfer by the broker-dealer will be a binding and
irrevocable Share Submission in accordance with the details specified on the pre-approved Delivery Application.
Once the Trustee has received a Delivery Applicant’s Share Submission and, if the Delivery Applicant has requested
physical gold other than London Bars, once the Trustee has received a confirmation certified by the Sponsor that an
over-the-counter transaction between the Sponsor and the precious metals dealer has been entered into providing for
the exchange of physical gold held by the Trust for physical gold specified by the Delivery Applicant, physical gold
will be selected or acquired by the Custodian or the precious metals dealer and then released from the Trust for
delivery to the Delivery Applicant according with the instructions in the Delivery Application. Once the Shares have
been submitted, a Share Submission may no longer be revoked by the Delivery Applicant under any circumstances,
though the Share Submission may be rejected by the Trustee or the Sponsor under certain circumstances.

Delivery of Physical Gold to Delivery Applicants May Take Considerable Time

The Custodian or a precious metals dealer will deliver physical gold to Delivery Applicants in exchange for their
Shares. A delay in the delivery of physical gold to Delivery Applicants could result in losses if the price of gold
declines.

The Custodian or a precious metals dealer will arrange for the delivery of physical gold to Delivery Applicants in
exchange for their Shares. After a Delivery Applicant irrevocably submits Shares to exchange for physical gold, either
the Trustee will instruct the Custodian to deliver physical gold to the Delivery Applicant or, if the Delivery Applicant
requests physical gold other than London Bars, the Sponsor will enter into an over-the-counter transaction on the
business day following the Share Submission Day with a precious metals dealer to exchange physical gold the Trust
holds for physical gold specified by the Delivery Applicant. Because delivery time depends on many factors,
including the types of physical gold requested and the delivery method chosen, considerable time may elapse by the
time Delivery Applicants receive their physical gold. Further, because shipments of physical gold may be broken
down in to multiple smaller shipments, it may take additional time for the Delivery Applicant to receive all of the
requested physical gold. A delay in the delivery of physical gold to Delivery Applicants could result in losses if the
price of gold declines.
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Suspension or Rejection of the Surrender of Shares
If the Trust suspends or rejects a surrender of Shares for gold, a Shareholder may have no alternative but to sell Shares

on the open market and thus incur brokerage costs and be subject to potential tax consequences.

If the Trust suspends the surrender of Shares, or rejects the delivery of Shares under a Delivery Application, a
Shareholder who wishes to redeem Shares may have no alternative but to sell Shares on the open market. Such a sale
of Shares will involve brokerage costs and may result in tax consequences to the Shareholder.

The Creation and Redemption Process May Result in a Decline in the Price of Shares

If the process of creation and redemption of Baskets encounters any unanticipated difficulties, the possibility for
arbitrage transactions intended to keep the price of the Shares closely linked to the price of gold may not exist, and as
a result, the price of the Shares may fall.

If the processes of the creation and redemption of Shares by Authorized Participants (which depend on timely
transfers of gold to and by the Custodian) encounter any unanticipated difficulties, potential market participants who
would otherwise be willing to purchase or redeem Baskets to take advantage of any arbitrage opportunity arising from
discrepancies between the price of the Shares and the price of the underlying gold may not take the risk that, as a
result of those difficulties, they may not be able to realize the profit they expect. If this is the case, the liquidity of the
Shares may decline and the price of the Shares may fluctuate independently of the price of gold and may fall.

A Delivery Applicant Bears the Risk of I.oss in Connection with the Delivery of Physical Gold

A Delivery Applicant that suffers loss of, or damage to, its physical gold during delivery will not be able to claim
damages from the Trust, the Trustee, the Custodian, the precious metals dealer from which physical gold was obtained
or the Sponsor.

Upon the release of physical gold from the Trust for forwarding to the Delivery Applicant, the Delivery Applicant’s
physical gold will be transported by either a conventional shipping carrier such as the U.S. Postal Service, Federal
Express or United Parcel Service, or an armored transportation service engaged by or on behalf of the investor (a
“Delivery Service Provider”). Because ownership of physical gold will transfer to the Delivery Applicant at the time the
Custodian or the precious metals dealer from which they were obtained surrenders physical gold to the Delivery

Service Provider, the Delivery Applicant will bear the risk of loss from the time the Delivery Service Provider

assumes possession of physical gold on the Delivery Applicant’s behalf. In the event of any loss or damage in
connection with the delivery of physical gold after such time, the Delivery Applicant will have no claim against the
Trust, the Trustee, the Custodian, such precious metals dealer or the Sponsor but may have a claim against the

Delivery Service Provider.

In addition, upon receipt of physical gold, the Delivery Applicant will have five business days, or such shorter or
longer period as may be specified in the Delivery Application from time to time, following the receipt of the physical
gold to notify the Sponsor in writing of any complaints or objections concerning the shipment, delivery or receipt of
the physical gold. In the absence of any such objection or complaint, the Delivery Applicant will be deemed to have
accepted receipt of the physical gold in full satisfaction of the physical gold due the Delivery Applicant and to have
waived any and all claims the Delivery Applicant may have concerning the physical gold received by the Delivery
Applicant.

Risks of Transactions with Precious Metals Dealers
Counterparty risks associated with the Trust’s transactions with precious metals dealers to exchange the Trust’s gold for
physical gold of different specifications may expose the Trust to potential quantity and quality deficiencies and to

situations where the Trust is not be able to exchange gold for physical gold.
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If a Delivery Applicant requests physical gold in a form other than London Bars, the Trust will enter into an
over-the-counter transaction with a precious metals dealer pursuant to which the type of physical gold requested by a
Delivery Applicant will be acquired by the Trust from the precious metals dealer and the precious metals dealer will
be instructed to deliver the requested physical gold to the Delivery Applicant. However, there is no assurance that
physical gold acquired by the Trust from the precious metals dealer will meet the quantity and quality requirements of
the requested over-the-counter transaction. The precious metals dealer is responsible to the Trust for any deficiency in
the amount or quality of physical gold under a Transaction and Shipping Agreement between the Sponsor and the
precious metals dealer. In addition, the Trust may enter into exchange transactions with only one or a limited number
of precious metals dealers, which may increase the Trust’s exposure to counterparty risk. Further, there is a risk that no
suitable precious metals dealers will be willing to enter into, or continue to enter into, transactions with the Trust, and
as a result, the Trust may not be able to exchange London Bars for physical gold of different specifications.

Default of a Precious Metals Dealer

The Trust will bear the risk of loss of the amount expected to be received in an exchange of gold in the event of the
default or bankruptcy of a precious metals dealer.

Although the Sponsor is responsible for selecting the precious metals dealer and ensuring the agreement by which the
precious metals dealer is engaged includes appropriate representations, warranties and covenants of the precious
metals dealer regarding completion of the over-the-counter transactions by which the Trust’s gold is exchanged for the
physical gold requested by the Delivery Applicant, the Sponsor is not responsible for the default or misconduct of the
precious metals dealer, provided the Sponsor exercises reasonable care in selecting the precious metals dealer. Under
the terms of the Sponsor’s engagement of the precious metals dealer, the precious metals dealer is responsible to the
Trust for any deficiency in the amount or quality of physical gold it is to provide to the Trust. Accordingly, the Trust
will bear the risk in connection with any loss resulting from the insolvency or any misconduct of a precious metals
dealer. Physical gold that is to be exchanged for different specifications to meet delivery requests from Delivery
Applicants will be converted into unallocated gold and deposited into the precious metals dealer’s unallocated gold
account with the Custodian and, until the time that the physical gold to be delivered to a Delivery Applicant is
surrendered to the Delivery Service Provider, the Trust may bear some risk of loss to such physical gold held on the
Trust’s behalf. During those times, the Trust will have no proprietary rights to any specific bars of gold held by the
precious metals dealer, may not have possession of the physical gold held on its behalf by the precious metals dealer
and will be an unsecured creditor of a precious metals dealer. In the event the precious metals dealer becomes
insolvent or a claim of misconduct is made against the precious metals dealer, the precious metals dealer’s assets might
not be adequate to satisfy a claim by the Trust.

A Failure by a Precious Metals Dealer to Exercise Due Care with Respect to the Trust’s Gold Could Result in a Loss to
the Trust

For deliveries of gold other than London Bars to Delivery Applicants, the Trust will rely on a precious metals dealer
to exchange the Trust’s gold for American Gold Eagle Coins or another form of physical gold and to deliver physical
gold to the Delivery Applicant pursuant to the Delivery Application. As a result, a failure by the precious metals
dealer to exercise due care in the exchange and delivery of the Trust’s gold could result in a loss to the Trust.

The Trust will be reliant on a precious metals dealer to exchange the Trust’s gold to American Gold Eagle Coins or
another form of physical gold in the amount and of the quality specified by the Sponsor in each over-the-counter
transaction, and certified by the Sponsor to the Trustee in a confirmation thereof, and to deliver physical gold to the
Delivery Applicant pursuant to the instructions in the Delivery Application. Under the Transaction and Shipping
Agreement, the precious metals dealer is responsible to the Trust for any deficiency in the amount or quality of
physical gold. Although the Transaction and Shipping

33

58



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

59



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Agreement requires the precious metals dealer to maintain insurance to protect the Trust in the event of a loss
associated with physical gold, the Trust has no input regarding the amount, validity or adequacy of such insurance.
Any failure by the precious metals dealer to exercise due care with respect to the exchange and delivery of physical
gold may not be detectable or controllable by the Sponsor or the Trustee and, assuming the Delivery Applicant seeks
recourse against the Trust, could result in a loss to the Trust.

The Trust’s Ability to Recover Losses from a Precious Metals Dealer may be Limited

The limited liability of a precious metals dealer under the Transaction and Shipping Agreement with the Sponsor and
New York State law may impair the ability of the Trust to recover losses concerning its gold and any recovery may be
limited, even in the event of fraud, to the market value of the gold at the time the fraud is discovered.

The liability of the precious metals dealer is limited under the Transaction and Shipping Agreement. Under the
Transaction and Shipping Agreement, the precious metals dealer shall exercise the same degree of care and diligence
in safeguarding the Trust’s gold as any reasonably prudent person acting as a custodian would exercise in the same
circumstances and is liable for losses associated with the failure of physical gold to be in the amount and of the quality
specified by the Sponsor in an over-the-counter transaction and for physical loss or destruction of gold that results
from fraud, theft, negligence or otherwise and regardless of culpability of the precious metals dealer. However, any
such liability is limited to the market value of physical gold held by the precious metals dealer at the time such
negligence, fraud or willful default is discovered and is subject to the precious metals dealer honoring its contractual
obligations.

Physical Gold May not be Available in the Requested Sizes

There is no guarantee that physical gold will be available in specified sizes, which may result in a Delivery Applicant
paying higher or lower Processing fees.

The Trust holds London Bars. To facilitate a Delivery Applicant’s ability to exchange Shares for physical gold, the
Sponsor will engage in an over-the-counter transaction with a precious metals dealer to exchange the Trust’s London
Bars for physical gold of different specifications. There is no guarantee that, at the time that the Sponsor seeks to
exchange the Trust’s London Bars for physical gold of different specifications, that such physical gold will be
available. As a result, it may be necessary for a Delivery Applicant to wait for such physical gold to be available. If
the precious metals dealer advises the Sponsor that the desired physical gold is not available, the Sponsor will advise
the Delivery Applicant. At that time, the Sponsor may offer the Delivery Applicant physical gold that is different from
the physical gold specified in the Delivery Application that comprises the same Fine Ounce content. If the Delivery
Applicant accepts different physical gold than that specified in the Delivery Application, a new Delivery Application
would need to be completed and it may result in higher or lower processing fees. However, it is unlikely that the cash
proceeds (i.e., the difference between the value of a Delivery Applicant’s Shares and the value of physical gold to be
delivered to the Delivery Applicant) will change because the total Fine Ounce component of the physical gold will not
change unless otherwise agreed to by the Delivery Applicant.

Physical Gold Delivered upon Taking Delivery in Exchange for Shares May Need to be Re Assayved

If a Delivery Applicant requests that physical gold be delivered to a destination that is outside the “chain of integrity,”
the physical gold may need to be re-assayed, which could result in additional costs for the Delivery Applicant and
potential delays in assaying the physical gold.

The Trust’s London Bars are generally accepted by institutional gold dealers without assaying because such London
Bars are produced according to strict LBMA specifications and regularly audited to ensure that specifications meet
those stated. When traded exclusively among certain institutional gold dealers, London Bars are considered to remain
within the “chain of integrity.” By remaining in the chain of integrity, London Bars have historically been available at
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the lowest transaction costs of any gold bullion because assay costs are minimized. However, a London Bar that
leaves the chain of integrity may need to be re-
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assayed. In addition to the costs associated with assaying, there may be significant delays in assaying gold, especially
during times when gold may be in high demand, due to potential backlogs.

If, upon exchanging Shares for physical gold, a Delivery Applicant requests that the physical gold be delivered from
the Custodian to another bank or a vault in the business of holding physical gold for institutional investors, the
physical gold may continue to be accepted for trading without being re-assayed while in the custody of that institution.

If a Delivery Applicant instructs that London Bars be delivered to a destination other than an institutional gold dealer,
the London Bars delivered to the Delivery Applicant may no longer be deemed part of the chain of integrity. This may
make a future sale of such gold more difficult and expensive. In addition, the value of any London Bars that have left
the chain of integrity are likely to be at a discount from the spot price of gold.

Physical gold other than London Bars also may need to be re-assayed should they leave the Custodian. One and 10
Ounce Bars may be accepted by some dealers without re-assaying should the bars appear in excellent condition and/or
remain in the mint’s original packaging. However, Delivery Applicants should be aware that dealers may charge a fee
to re-assay any bar for any reason.

Limited Investor Rights

As an investor, you will not have the rights normally associated with ownership of Shares of other types of investment
vehicles. For example, you will have extremely limited voting rights in comparison to those of shareholders in
traditional operating companies.

The Trust is a passive investment vehicle with no management and no board of directors. Thus, the Shares are not
entitled to the same rights as Shares issued by a corporation operating a business enterprise with management and a
board of directors. By acquiring Shares, you are not acquiring the right to elect directors, to vote on certain matters
regarding the issuer of your Shares or to take other actions normally associated with the ownership of Shares, such as
the right to bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions. You will only have the extremely limited rights described under
“Description of the Shares.”

Absence of 1940 Act and Commodity Exchange Act Protections

Investors will not have the protections normally associated with ownership of Shares in an investment company
registered under the 1940 Act or the protections afforded by the Commodity Exchange Act.

The Trust is not registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act and is not required to register thereunder.
Consequently, investors do not have the regulatory protections provided to investors in investment companies. The
Trust will not hold or trade in commodity futures contracts regulated by the Commodity Exchange Act, as
administered by the CFTC. Furthermore, the Trust is not a commodity pool for purposes of the Commodity Exchange
Act, and the Sponsor is not subject to regulation by the CFTC as a commodity pool operator, or a commodity trading
advisor, in connection with the Shares. Therefore, investors will not have the regulatory protections provided to
investors in instruments or commodity pools regulated by the Commodity Exchange Act.

Termination and Liguidation May Be Required

The Trust may be required to terminate and liquidate at a time that is disadvantageous to investors.

If the Trust is required to terminate and liquidate, such termination and liquidation could occur at a time that is
disadvantageous to investors, such as when gold prices are lower than the gold prices at the time when investors
purchased their Shares. In such a case, the Trust’s gold may be sold as part of the Trust’s liquidation and the resulting
proceeds distributed to investors will be less than if gold prices were higher at the time of the sale.

62



35

Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

63



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

The Trust’s Ability to Recover Losses from the Custodian is Limited

The limited liability of the Custodian under the agreement with the Trust and U.K. law may impair the ability of the
Trust to recover losses concerning its gold and any recovery may be limited, even in the event of fraud, to the market
value of the gold at the time the fraud is discovered.

The liability of the Custodian is limited under the Custody Agreement. Under the agreements between the Trustee and
the Custodian that establishes the Trust Unallocated Account and the Trust Allocated Account, the Custodian is liable
only for losses that are the direct result of its own negligence, fraud or willful default in the performance of its duties.
Any such liability is further limited to the market value of the gold held in the Trust Allocated Account and the Trust
Unallocated Account at the time such negligence, fraud or willful default is discovered by the Custodian or notified to
the Custodian by the Trustee. In addition, under an unallocated account agreement between the Authorized Participant
and the Custodian or, if the Authorized Participant uses another custodian, that custodian, the Custodian or the
Authorized Participant’s custodian may not be contractually or otherwise liable for any losses suffered by any
Authorized Participant or investor. Moreover, the terms of the Authorized Participant’s unallocated account agreement
may have other terms that may limit the recovery of the Authorized Participant’s losses from the Custodian or the
Authorized Participant’s custodian.

It May Be Difficult for the Trust to Seek Legal Redress Against the Custodian

Although the relationship between the Custodian and the Trustee concerning the Trust’s allocated gold is expressly
governed by U.K. law, a court hearing any legal dispute concerning that arrangement may disregard that choice of law
and apply U.S. law, in which case the ability of the Trust to seek legal redress against the Custodian may be frustrated.

The obligations of the Custodian under the Custody Agreement are governed by U.K. law. The Trust is a New York
common law trust. Any United States, New York or other court situated in the United States may have difficulty
interpreting U.K. law (which, insofar as it relates to custody arrangements, is largely derived from court rulings rather
than statute), LBMA rules or the customs and practices in the London custody market. It may be difficult or
impossible for the Trust to sue the Custodian in a United States, New York or other court situated in the United States.
In addition, it may be difficult, time consuming and/or expensive for the Trust to enforce in a foreign court a judgment
rendered by a United States, New York or other court situated in the United States.

Investors Do Not have the Right to Assert a Claim Against the Custodian

Investors and Authorized Participants lack the right under the Custody Agreement to assert claims directly against the
Custodian, which significantly limits their options for recourse.

Neither the investors nor any Authorized Participant will have a right under the Custody Agreement to assert a claim
of the Trustee against the Custodian. Claims under the Custody Agreement may only be asserted by the Trustee on
behalf of the Trust.

A Failure by the Custodian to Exercise Due Care with Respect to Gold Could Result in a I.oss to the Trust

The Trust will rely on the Custodian for the safekeeping of essentially all of the Trust’s gold. As a result, failure by the
Custodian to exercise due care in the safekeeping of the Trust’s gold could result in a loss to the Trust.

The Trust will be reliant on the Custodian for the safekeeping of essentially all of the Trust’s gold. The Trustee is not
liable for the acts or omissions of the Custodian. The Trustee has no obligation to monitor the activities of the
Custodian other than to receive and review reports prepared by the Custodian pursuant to the Custody Agreement. In
addition, the ability to monitor the performance of the Custodian may be limited because under the Custody
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and the Sponsor and any accountants or other inspectors selected by the Sponsor have only limited rights to visit the
premises of the Custodian for the purpose of examining the Trust’s gold and certain related records maintained by the
Custodian. As a result of the above, any failure by the Custodian to exercise due care in the safekeeping of the Trust’s
gold may not be detectable or controllable by the Trustee and could result in a loss to the Trust.

The Trust Would Be An Unsecured Creditor of the Custodian in the Event of Insolvency

Gold held in the Trust Unallocated Account and any Authorized Participant’s unallocated account will not be
segregated from the Custodian’s assets. If the Custodian becomes insolvent, its assets may not be adequate to satisfy a
claim by the Trust or any Authorized Participant.

Gold which is part of a deposit for a purchase order or part of a redemption distribution will be held for a time in the
Trust Unallocated Account and, previously or after, in the unallocated gold account of the purchasing Authorized
Participant. During those times, the Trust and the Authorized Participant, as the case may be, will have no proprietary
rights to any specific bars of gold held by the Custodian and will each be an unsecured creditor of the Custodian with
respect to the amount of gold held in such unallocated accounts. In addition, if the Custodian fails to segregate gold
held by it on behalf of the Trust, unallocated gold will not be segregated from the Custodian’s assets, and the Trust will
be an unsecured creditor of the Custodian with respect to the amount so held in the event of the insolvency of the
Custodian. In the event the Custodian becomes insolvent, the Custodian’s assets might not be adequate to satisfy a
claim by the Trust or the Authorized Participant for the amount of gold held in their respective unallocated gold
accounts.

Baskets May Be Issued for More or Less Gold than Required

In issuing Baskets, the Trustee will rely on certain information received from the Custodian which is subject to
confirmation after the Trustee has relied on the information. If such information turns out to be incorrect, Baskets may
be issued in exchange for an amount of gold that is more or less than the amount of gold required to be deposited with
the Trust.

The Custodian’s definitive records are prepared after the close of its business day. However, when issuing Baskets, the
Trustee will rely on information reporting the amount of gold credited to the Trust’s accounts that it receives from the
Custodian during the business day and which is subject to correction during the preparation of the Custodian’s
definitive records after the close of business. If the information relied upon by the Trustee is incorrect, the amount of
gold actually received by the Trust may be more or less than the amount required to be deposited for the issuance of
Baskets.

Physical Gold Allocated to the Trust May Not Meet the Standards of a London Bar

Physical gold allocated to the Trust in connection with the creation of a Basket may not meet the standards of a
London Bar and, if a Basket is issued against such gold, the Trust may suffer a loss.

Neither the Trustee nor the Custodian independently confirms the fineness of the gold allocated to the Trust in
connection with the creation of a Basket. The physical gold allocated to the Trust by the Custodian may be different
from the reported fineness or weight required by the LBMA’s standards for gold bars delivered in settlement of a gold
trade (i.e., London Bars), the standards required by the Trust. If the Trustee nevertheless issues a Basket against such
gold, and if the Custodian fails to credit the Trust the amount of any deficiency, the Trust may suffer a loss.

Value of Gold in Trust Is Limited to the Value of the Fine Ounce Content of Gold

Because gold in the Trust is valued at the price of gold independent of location and type of gold, the value of gold in
the Trust is limited to the price of gold multiplied by the Fine Ounce content of the gold.
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Gold in the Trust is valued at the price of gold independent of location and type of gold. The price of gold commonly
quoted refers to the price of a London Bar in London. Any gold that is not a London Bar located in London may
obtain a bid price when offered for sale that deviates from the price of gold. Nonetheless, the Trust values all gold at
the price of gold because the Sponsor assumes the cost of conversion of gold. Conversely, in the unlikely event that
such a conversion yields a profit, the Sponsor, not the Trust, will keep such profit. As a result, the value of gold in the
Trust is limited to the price of gold multiplied by the Fine Ounce content of the gold.

Similarly, when investors exchange their Shares for physical gold other than London Bars, the Shares also are valued
at the price of gold for purposes of calculating their Share in the Trust. The Sponsor may recover this conversion cost
as part of the Exchange Fee.

Payment of the Sponsor’s Fee in Shares and the Sale of Gold by the Trust May Cause a Decline in the Value of the
Shares

The amount of gold represented by each Share will decrease when the Sponsor’s Fee is paid in Shares and when the
Trustee sells the Trust’s gold to pay Trust expenses. Without increases in the price of gold sufficient to compensate for
that decrease, the price of the Shares will also decline and you will lose money on your investment in Shares.

Although the Sponsor has agreed to assume all organizational and certain ordinary administrative and marketing
expenses incurred by the Trust, not all Trust expenses will be assumed by the Sponsor. For example, most taxes and
other governmental charges that may be imposed on the Trust’s property will not be paid by the Sponsor. As part of its
agreement to assume some of the Trust’s ordinary administrative expenses, the Sponsor has agreed to pay legal fees
and expenses of the Trust not in excess of $100,000 per annum. Any legal fees and expenses in excess of that amount
will be the responsibility of the Trust.

The Sponsor intends to accept Shares of the Trust for the Sponsor’s Fee and reimbursement of expenses not assumed
by the Sponsor. However, the Trust may be subject to certain other liabilities (for example, as a result of litigation)
which have not been assumed by the Sponsor. The Trust will sell gold to pay those expenses, unless the Sponsor
agrees to pay such expenses out of its own pocket and receive reimbursement from the Trust in the form of Shares.

To the extent the Trust issues additional Shares to pay the Sponsor’s Fee or sells gold to cover expenses or liabilities,
the amount of gold represented by each Share will decrease. New deposits of gold, received in exchange for new
Shares issued by the Trust, would not reverse this trend. A decrease in the amount of gold represented by each Share
results in a decrease in the price of a Share even if the price of gold has not changed. To retain the Share’s original
price, the price of gold would have to increase. Without that increase, the lesser amount of gold represented by the
Share will have a correspondingly lower price. If these increases do not occur, or are not sufficient to counter the
lesser amount of gold represented by each Share, you will sustain losses on your investment in Shares. For example,
assuming the Trust has not incurred fees or expenses in excess of the amount the Sponsor has agreed to bear and the
Shares trade at the same price as the Trust’s NAV, the price of the gold represented by your Shares would need to
increase by the amount of the Sponsor’s Fee between the date of your purchase and one year later so that your Shares
would have the same value on both dates, not including any transaction costs you may incur to purchase your Shares.
The Sponsor’s Fee is currently 0.40% of the NAV of the Trust. The value of your investment also may decline if the
price of the Shares is negatively affected by the Sponsor’s sale in the open market of the Shares that the Sponsor has
received from the Trust as payment of the Sponsor’s Fee.

Any Indemnification that the Trust is Required to Pay May Adversely Affect the Value of the Shares

The value of the Shares will be adversely affected if the Trust is required to indemnify the Sponsor, the Trustee or the
Custodian as contemplated in the Trust Agreement and the Custody Agreement.
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Under the Trust Agreement, each of the Sponsor and the Trustee has a right to be indemnified from the Trust for any
liability or expense it incurs without gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on its part. Similarly, the
Custody Agreement provides for indemnification of the Custodian by the Trust under
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certain circumstances. That means that it may be necessary to sell assets of the Trust to cover losses or liability
suffered by the Sponsor, the Trustee or the Custodian. Any sale of that kind would reduce the NAV of the Trust and
the value of the Shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Not applicable.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

(a)

The Trust was formed on May 6, 2014 (the “Date of Inception”) following an initial deposit of gold. The Trust’s Shares
have been listed on the NYSE Arca under the symbol OUNZ since May 16, 2014. The following tables set out the
range of high and low closing prices for the Shares as reported for NYSE Arca transactions for each of the quarters
during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015:

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015:

High Low
Second Quarter* $13.37 $12.43
Third Quarter 13.12 11.70
Fourth Quarter 13.00 11.40

*From May 16, 2014 until July 31, 2014.

(b)
Not applicable.

(©)

Although the Trust does not purchase Shares directly from its investors in connection with Delivery Applications or
the redemption of Baskets, the Trust redeemed Shares as follows during the year ended January 31, 2015:
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Average Ounces of

Period Total Shares Redeemed Gold Per Share
Second Quarter* 5,406 0.009993
Third Quarter 50,000 0.009991

Fourth Quarter 4,515 0.009974

*From May 16, 2014 until July 31, 2014.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data for the reporting periods should be read in conjunction with the Trust’s financial
statements and related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” Dollar amounts in 000’s, except for Share and per Share data.

January

(Amounts in 000’s of US$, except for Share and per Share Data) 31, 2015

Net assets $ 64,750,583
Net investment loss (154,685 )
Net realized gain from gold bullion 5,978

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investment gold bullion (1,188,296 )
Net investment loss per Share (0.04 )
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) from gold bullion per Share (0.45 )

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This information should be read together with the financial statements and notes to the financial statements included

in this Report. The discussion and analysis that follows may contain forward-looking statements, such as those that

relate to future events or future performance. In some cases, such forward-looking statements can be identified by

terminology such as “may,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or the negati
terms or other comparable terminology. Neither the Sponsor, nor any other person assumes responsibility for the

accuracy or completeness of forward-looking statements. Except as required by applicable law, neither the Trust nor

the Sponsor is under a duty to update any of the forward-looking statements to conform such statements to actual

results or to a change in the Sponsor’s expectations or predictions.

9 ¢ EEINT3 99 ¢ 9

Introduction.

The Trust is an investment trust formed on May 6, 2014 under New York law pursuant to a depository trust
agreement. After consideration of Financial Accounting Standards Topic 946, the Sponsor has concluded the Trust
meets the fundamental characteristics of an investment company. In addition, while the Trust does not currently
possess all of the typical characteristics of an investment company, it believes its activities are consistent with those of
an investment company and will therefore apply the guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Topic 946, including
disclosure of the financial support contractually required to be provided by an investment company to any of its
investees. The Sponsor is responsible for, among other things, overseeing the performance of the Trustee and the
Trust’s principal service providers, including the preparation of financial statements. The Trustee is responsible for the
day-to-day administration of the Trust.

The Initial Purchaser contributed 1,000 Ounces of gold in exchange for 100,000 Shares on May 6, 2014. At
contribution, the value of the gold deposited with the Trust was based on the price of an Ounce of gold of $1,306.25.
The Initial Purchaser is not affiliated with the Sponsor or the Trustee.

The Trust’s primary objective is to provide investors with an opportunity to invest in gold through the Shares and be
able to take delivery of physical gold in exchange for their Shares. The Trust’s secondary objective is for the Shares to
reflect the performance of the price of gold less the expenses of the Trust’s operations. The Trust is not actively
managed.

The fiscal year end of the Trust is January 31st.
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Shares of the Trust trade on the NYSE Arca under the symbol “OUNZ.”

Investing in the Shares does not insulate the investor from certain risks, including price volatility. The following table
illustrates the movement in the NAV of the Shares against the corresponding gold price (per 1/100 of an oz. of gold)
since inception:

NAYV per Share vs. 1/100th Gold Fix from the Date of Inception to January 31, 2015
The divergence of the NAV per Share from the gold price over time reflects the cumulative effect of the Trust
expenses that arise if an investment had been held since inception.

Significant Accounting Policies

In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”), management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported amount of revenue and expenses reported during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Trust. Please refer to Note 2 to the
Financial Statements for further discussion of our accounting policies.
Valuation of Gold

Various inputs are used in determining the value of the Trust’s investment. These inputs are summarized in three broad
levels. Level 1 includes quoted prices in active markets for identical securities. Level 2 includes other significant
observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment speeds and credit risk).
Level 3 includes significant unobservable inputs (including the Trust’s own assumptions in determining the fair value
of investments).

London Gold Delivery Bars are held by the Custodian, on behalf of the Trust, at the London, United Kingdom

vaulting premises. All gold is valued based on its Fine Ounce content, calculated by multiplying the weight of gold by
its purity; the same methodology is applied independent of the type of gold held by the Trust;
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similarly, the value of up to 430 Fine Ounces of unallocated gold the Trust may hold is calculated by multiplying the
number of Fine Ounces with the price of gold determined by the Trustee as follows. The Trustee values the gold held
by the Trust on the basis of the price of a Fine Ounce as set by the afternoon session of the twice daily fix of the price
of a Fine Ounce which starts at 3:00 PM (London, England time) and is performed by the five members of the London
gold fix and is therefore classified as Level 1. There were no transfers between levels during the period.

On March 20, 2015, the LBMA Gold Price, which is determined twice daily by the ICE Benchmark Administration as
an independent third-party administrator, replaced the London Gold Fix. As a result, the Sponsor now uses the LBMA

Gold Price to determine the net asset value of the Trust. All other valuation mechanics remain unchanged.

Ounces Fair Value

Beginning balance as of May 6, 2014 1,000 $1,306,250
Gold bullion contributed 50,978 65,404,328
Gold bullion distributed 599 ) (777,674 )
Change in unrealized depreciation — (1,188,296 )
Realized gain from gold distributed from in-kind — 5,978
Ending balance as of January 31, 2015 51,379 $64,750,586

Under the Custody Agreement, the Trustee, the Sponsor and the Sponsor’s auditors and inspectors may visit the
premises of the Custodian for the purpose of examining the Trust’s gold and certain related records maintained by the
Custodian.

Shareholder Ownership

Merk Hard Currency Fund owned a market value of $38,074,016, which equates to 58.80% ownership in the Trust at
January 31, 2015. The Sponsor acts as investment advisor to the Merk Hard Currency Fund.

The Sponsor has exercised its right to visit the Custodian, in order to examine the gold and the records maintained by
the Custodian. The inspection held as of February 2, 2015 by Inspectorate International Limited, a leading commodity
inspection and testing company, confirmed that the Custodian’s records of gold held in the vault were accurate.

Liquidity

The Trust is not aware of any trends, demands, conditions or events that are reasonably likely to result in material
changes to its liquidity needs. In exchange for a fee (the “Sponsor’s Fee”), the Sponsor has agreed to assume most of the
expenses incurred by the Trust. As a result, the only expense of the Trust during the period covered by this report was
the Sponsor’s Fee. The Trustee will not sell gold to pay the Sponsor’s Fee but will pay the Sponsor’s Fee through Share
creation. At January 31, 2015, the Trust did not have any cash balances.
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Review of Financial Results

The NAV of the Trust is obtained by subtracting the Trust’s expenses and liabilities on any day from the value of the
gold owned by the Trust on that day; the NAV per Share is obtained by dividing the NAV of the Trust on a given day
by the number of Shares outstanding on that day.

The Trust’s NAV increased from $1,306,250 on May 6, 2014 to $64,750,583 on January 31, 2015, a 4,857% increase
for the fiscal year. The increase in the Trust’s NAV resulted primarily from an increase in the number of Shares issued
during the period, which rose from 100,000 Shares on May 6, 2014 to 5,152,630 Shares on January 31, 2015, a result
of 5,052,630 additional Shares being added for the year.

NAYV per Share decreased 3.75% from $13.06 on May 6, 2014 to $12.57 on January 31, 2015. The Trust’s NAV per
Share fell slightly more than the price per ounce of gold on a percentage basis due to the Sponsor’s Fee, which was
$154,685 for the year, or 0.40% of the Trust’s assets on an annualized basis.

The NAV per Share of $13.39 on July 10, 2014 was the highest during the year, compared with a low of $11.40 on
November 5, 2014.

Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations for the year ended January 31, 2015 was $1,188,296, resulting
from a net gain of $5,978 from gold bullion distributed for redemptions offset by an unrealized loss on gold of
$1,182,318 and Sponsor’s Fee of $154,685. Other than the Sponsor’s Fee, the Trust had no expenses during the year
ended January 31, 2015.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Not applicable.
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Item 8. Financial Statements

Merk Gold Trust
Quarterly Statements of Operations
For the period ended January 31, 2015

(unaudited)
For the For the
period Three Three period
May 6, Months Months May 6,
2014* to  ended ended 2014* to
July 31, October 31, January 31, January 31,
2014 2014 2015 2015
EXPENSES
Sponsor's fees $37,406  $57,544 $59,735 $154,685
Total expenses 37,406 57,544 59,735 154,685
Net Investment loss (37,406 ) (57,544 ) (59,735 ) (154,685 )
Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss)
Net realized gain from gold bullion distributed for redemptions 636 7,840 (2,498 ) 5,978
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on
investment in gold bullion (186,587) (5,739,065) 4,737,356 (1,188,296)
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) from operations (185,951) (5,731,225) 4,734,858 (1,182,318)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets resulting from
operations $(223,357) $(5,788,769) $4,675,123 $(1,337,003)

*Commencement of operations
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in accountants and no disagreements with accountants during the year ended January 31,
2015.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Trust maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in its Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the principal
executive officer and principal financial officer of the Sponsor, who performs functions similar to those a principal
executive officer and principal financial officer of the Trust would perform if the Trust had officers, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and then serving principal financial
officer of the Sponsor, the Sponsor conducted an evaluation of the Trust’s disclosure controls and procedures, as
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defined under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), as of January 31, 2015. Based on this evaluation, the principal executive
officer and then serving principal financial officer of the Sponsor concluded that the Trust’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of January 31, 2015.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Sponsor’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined under Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Trust’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the Trust’s assets;
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(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with GAAP and that the Trust’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with appropriate authorizations; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the Trust’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
ineffective because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

The principal executive officer and then serving principal financial officer of the Sponsor assessed the effectiveness of
the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2015. In making this assessment, they used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013). Their assessment included an evaluation of the design of the Trust’s internal
control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial
reporting. Based on their assessment and those criteria, the principal executive officer and then serving principal
financial officer of the Sponsor concluded that the Trust maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of January 31, 2015.

There have been no changes in the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Trust’s
recently completed fiscal quarter ended January 31, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The Trust has no directors or executive officers. The biography of the President and Chief Investment Officer of the
Sponsor is set out below:

Axel Merk — President and Chief Investment Officer

Mr. Merk is the founder of the Sponsor and has served as President, Chief Investment Officer and Manager of the
Sponsor since its inception in December 2000. Mr. Merk oversees and directs the Sponsor’s business and operations,
including its fulfillment of its obligations to the Trust. Mr. Merk founded Merk Investments AG in 1994, and served
as Chief Investment Officer from 1994 to 2001, during which time he provided investment advisory services. In
October 2001, Merk Investments AG transferred its advisory functions to the Sponsor, where Mr. Merk continues to
provide advisory services and, since 2005, manages a family of currency mutual funds. Mr. Merk earned a B.A. in
Economics (magna cum laude) and a M. Sc. in Computer Science from Brown University in 1991 and 1992,
respectively. Mr. Merk is 45 years old.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The Trust does not have directors or executive officers. The only ordinary expense paid by the Trust is the Sponsor’s
Fee.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

Amount and Nature
of Shares
Beneficially Owned
Number Percentage
Merk Investments LL.C; Merk Hard Currency Fund 3,030,71258.8%

Name and Address of Beneficial Owners()

Beneficial ownership is as of January 31, 2015. Of the 3,030,712 shares being reported on, 912 shares (the “Sponsor
Shares”) are held by Merk Investments LLC (the “Sponsor””) and the remaining 3,029,800 shares (the “Fund Shares”) are
held by the Merk Hard Currency Fund (the “Fund”). The Sponsor holds sole voting and sole dispositive power over
the Sponsor Shares. The Fund and the Sponsor, as investment advisor and manager of the Fund, share voting power

(Oover the Fund Shares. The Sponsor, as investment advisor and manager of the Fund, holds sole dispositive power
over the Fund Shares. The Sponsor and the Fund disclaim beneficial ownership of the Fund Shares. The Sponsor’s
address is 555 Bryant St #455, Palo Alto, California 94301, and the Fund’s address is P.O. Box 558, Portland, Maine
04112. For additional information regarding the beneficial ownership of Sponsor and the Fund, please see Schedule
13G filed with the SEC on April 16, 2015.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Not applicable.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Not applicable.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)(1) Financial Statements

See Index to Financial Statements on Page F-1 for a list of the financial statements being filed herein.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information has otherwise been
included.

(a)(3) Exhibits

Exhibit £ hibit Description
No.
Form of Depositary Trust Agreement between Merk Investments LLC, as sponsor, and The Bank of New
4.1 York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with Registration Statement No.
333-180868 on April 15, 2014)
49 Form of Authorized Participant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 filed with Registration

Statement No. 333-180868 on March 20, 2014)
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Form of Certificate of Shares of the Trust (included as Exhibit A to the Depositary Trust Agreement)

Allocated Account Agreement between JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as custodian, and The Bank of New
York Mellon, solely in its capacity as trustee of the Merk Gold Trust, dated May 6, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-180868 on May 7, 2014)
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10.2 Unallocated Account Agreement between JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as custodian, and

The Bank of New York Mellon, solely in its capacity as trustee of the Merk Gold Trust, dated May 6, 2014
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with Registration Statement No. 333-180868 on May 7,
2014)

Transaction and Shipping Agreement by and between Merk Investments LLC, as sponsor of the Merk
10.3 Gold Trust, and Coins ‘N Things Inc., dated May 2, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed
with Registration Statement No. 333-180868 on May 7, 2014)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Taxonomy Extension Instance Document*

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document*

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document*
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document*
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document*
101.PRE XBRL Presentation Extension Linkbase Document*

31.1

32.1

* Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K shall be deemed to be “furnished” and not “filed.”
47
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Sponsor, Trustee and the Shareholders of Merk Gold Trust

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of Merk Gold Trust (the “Trust”), including the
schedule of investment, as of January 31, 2015, and the related statement of operations, the statement of changes in
net assets and the financial highlights for the period May 6, 2104 (Commencement of Operations) through January 31,
2015. These financial statements and financial highlights are the responsibility of the Sponsor’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial highlights based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement. The Trust is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An also audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements and financial highlights referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Merk Gold Trust as of January 31, 2015, and the results of its operations, the
changes in its net assets and its financial highlights for the period then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

[s/ BBD.11P
BBD, LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
April 24, 2015
F-2
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Merk Gold Trust
Statement of Assets and Liabilities
At January 31, 2015

Assets

Investments in gold bullion (cost $ 65,938,882)
Receivable from capital shares sold

Total Assets

Liabilities
Sponsor's fee payable
Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Net Assets Consists of:
Paid-in-capital

Accumulated net investment loss
Accumulated net realized gain

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investment in gold bullion

Shares issued and outstanding (no par value)
Net asset value per share

See notes to financial statements.

F-3

$ 64,750,586
20,597
64,771,183

20,600
20,600

$ 64,750,583

$ 66,087,586
(154,685 )
5,978
(1,188,296 )

$ 64,750,583

5,152,630
$ 12.57
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Merk Gold Trust
Statement of Operations
For the period May 6, 2014* to January 31, 2015

Expenses

Sponsor's fee

Total expenses

Net investment loss

Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss)

Net realized gain from gold bullion distributed for redemptions

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investment in gold bullion

Net realized and unrealized loss from operations

Net Decrease in Net Assets resulting from operations

* Commencement of operations.
See notes to financial statements.

F-4

$154,685
154,685

(154,685 )
5,978
(1,188,296)

(1,182,318)

$(1,337,003)
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Merk Gold Trust
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the period May 6, 2014* to January 31, 2015

Net Assets — beginning of period $1,306,250
Creations 65,559,010
Redemptions (777,674 )
Net investment loss (154,685 )
Net realized gain from gold bullion distributed for redemptions 5,978

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investment in gold bullion (1,188,296 )
Net Assets — end of period $64,750,583

* Commencement of operations.
See notes to financial statements.

F-5
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Merk Gold Trust

Financial Highlights

For the period May 6, 2014* to January 31, 2015

Per Share Performance (for a share outstanding throughout the entire period)

Net asset value per share, beginning of period $13.06
Net investment loss®) (0.04)
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investment in gold bullion 0.45)
Net change in net assets from operations 0.49)
Net asset value per share, end of period $12.57
Total return, at net asset value® (3.75)%

Ratio to average net assets:
Net investment loss(®) (0.40)%
Expenses(©) 0.40 %)

* Commencement of operations.

() Calculated using average shares outstanding
(»Not annualized

(©) Annualized

See notes to financial statements.
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Merk Gold Trust

Schedule of Investment
January 31, 2015

Description Fine Ounces Cost
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Fair Value % of Net Assets

Gold Bullion 51,379 $65,938,882 $64,750,586 100.0%

See notes to financial statements.
F-7
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Merk Gold Trust
Notes to Financial Statements

1. ORGANIZATION

The Merk Gold Trust (the “Trust”) is an investment trust formed on May 6, 2014 under New York law pursuant to a
depository trust agreement. After consideration of Financial Accounting Standards Topic 946, Merk Investments LLC
(the “Sponsor”) has concluded the Trust meets the fundamental characteristics of an investment company. In addition,
while the Trust does not currently possess all of the typical characteristics of an investment company, it believes its
activities are consistent with those of an investment company and will therefore apply the guidance in Financial
Accounting Standards Topic 946, including disclosure of the financial support contractually required to be provided
by an investment company to any of its investees. The Sponsor is responsible for, among other things, overseeing the
performance of The Bank of New York Mellon (the “Trustee”) and the Trust’s principal service providers, including the
preparation of financial statements. The Trustee is responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Trust.

Virtu Financial, also known as the Lead Market Maker, was the Initial Purchaser and contributed 1,000 ounces of
Gold in exchange for 100,000 shares on May 6, 2014. At contribution, the value of the gold deposited with the Trust
was based on the price of an ounce of Gold of $1,306.25. The Initial Purchaser is not affiliated with the Sponsor or
the Trustee.

The Trust’s primary objective is to provide investors with an opportunity to invest in gold through the shares and be
able to take delivery of physical gold bullion and gold coins (physical gold) in exchange for their shares. The Trust’s
secondary objective is for the shares to reflect the performance of the price of gold less the expenses of the Trust’s
operations. The Trust is not actively managed.

The fiscal year end of the Trust is January 31st.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”), management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
amount of revenue and expenses reported during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The accompanying audited financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP and with the instructions for
the Form 10-K. In the opinion of the Trust’s management, all adjustments (which consists of normal recurring
adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial position and the results of operations as of and for the period
May 6, 2014 to January 31, 2015 have been made.

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Trust.

2.1. Valuation of Gold

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”), provides a
single definition of fair value, a hierarchy for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value
adjustments.

F-8
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Various inputs are used in determining the fair value of the Trust’s assets or liabilities. These inputs are categorized
into three broad levels. Level 1 includes unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2
includes other significant observable market based inputs (including prices for similar securities, interest rates,
prepayment speed, and credit risk). Level 3 includes unobservable inputs, which may include management’s own
assumptions in determining the fair value of investments. The Trust does not hold any derivative instruments, and its
assets only consist of allocated gold bullion and gold receivable; representing gold covered by contractually binding
orders for the creation of Shares where the gold has not yet been transferred to the Trust’s account and, from time to
time, cash, which is used to pay expenses.
The following table summarizes the inputs used as of January 31, 2015 in determining the Trust’s investments at fair
value for purposes of ASC 820:

Level Level

Level 1 2 3
Investment in Gold $64,750,586 §$ - $ -
Total $64,750,586 $ - $ -

London Gold Delivery Bars are held by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the “Custodian”), on behalf of the Trust, at the
London, United Kingdom vaulting premises. All gold is valued based on its Fine Ounce content, calculated by
multiplying the weight of gold by its purity; the same methodology is applied independent of the type of gold held by
the Trust; similarly, the value of up to 430 Fine Ounces of unallocated gold the Trust may hold is calculated by
multiplying the number of Fine Ounces with the price of gold determined by the Trustee as follows. The Trustee
values the gold held by the Trust on the basis of the price of a Fine Ounce as set by the afternoon session of the twice
daily fix of the price of a Fine Ounce which starts at 3:00 PM London, England time and is performed by the five
members of the London gold fix and is therefore classified as Level 1. There were no transfers between levels during
the period.

On each business day, as soon as practicable after 4:00pm (New York time), the net asset value of the trust is obtained
by subtracting all accrued fees, expenses and other liabilities of the Trust from the fair value of the gold held by the
Trust and other assets of the Trust. The result is the net asset value of the Trust. The Trustee computes the net asset
value per Share by dividing the net assets of the Trust by the number of the shares outstanding on the date the
computation is made.

2.2. Expenses

The Trustee issues shares to pay the Sponsor’s fee; the Sponsor pays the Trust’s ordinary expenses. The net asset value
of the Trust is used to compute the Sponsor’s fee, and the Trustee subtracts from the net asset value of the Trust the
amount of accrued Sponsor’s fee. To the extent the Trust issues additional shares to pay the Sponsor’s fee or sells gold
to cover expenses or liabilities, the amount of gold represented by each share will decrease. New deposits of gold,
received in exchange for new shares issued by the Trust, would not reverse this trend.

2.3. Creations & Redemptions of Shares

Shares are issued and redeemed by the Trust in blocks of 50,000 shares called “Baskets” in exchange for gold from
certain registered broker-dealers or other securities market participants (“Authorized Participants”). Investors that are
not Authorized Participants may also take delivery of physical gold in exchange for their shares (“Delivery Applicants”).
F-9
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Authorized Participants
The Trust issues and redeems Baskets only to Authorized Participants. The creation and redemption of Baskets will
only be made in exchange for the delivery to the Trust or the distribution by the Trust of the amount of gold
represented by the Baskets being created or redeemed, the amount of which will be based on the combined Fine
Ounces represented by the number of shares included in the Baskets being created or redeemed determined on the day
the order to create or redeem Baskets is properly received.
Orders to create and redeem Baskets may be placed only by Authorized Participants. An Authorized Participant must:
(1) be a registered broker-dealer or other securities market participant, such as a bank or other financial institution,
which, but for an exclusion from registration, would be required to register as a broker-dealer to engage in securities
transactions, (2) be a participant in DTC, and (3) must have an agreement with the Custodian establishing an
unallocated account in London or have an existing unallocated account meeting the standards described herein. To
become an Authorized Participant, a person must enter into an Authorized Participant Agreement with the Sponsor
and the Trustee. The Authorized Participant Agreement provides the procedures for the creation and redemption of
Baskets and for the delivery of the gold required for such creations and redemptions. The Authorized Participant
Agreement and the related procedures attached thereto may be amended by the Trustee and the Sponsor, without the
consent of any investor or Authorized Participant. A transaction fee of $500 will be assessed on all creation and
redemption transactions. Multiple Baskets may be created on the same day, provided each Basket meets the
requirements described below and that the Custodian is able to allocate gold to the Trust Allocated Account such that
the Trust Unallocated Account holds no more than 430 Fine Ounces of gold at the close of a business day.
Authorized Participants who make deposits with the Trust in exchange for Baskets will receive no fees, commissions
or other form of compensation or inducement of any kind from either the Sponsor or the Trust, and no such person has
any obligation or responsibility to the Sponsor or the Trust to effect any sale or resale of shares.
Delivery Applicants
In exchange for its shares and payment of a processing fee, a Delivery Applicant will be entitled to one or more bars
or coins of physical gold having approximately the total Fine Ounces represented by the shares on the day on which
the Delivery Applicant’s broker-dealer submits his or her shares to the Trust in exchange for physical gold (“Share
Submission Day”). As it is unlikely that the total Fine Ounces of physical gold will exactly correspond to the Fine
Ounces represented by a specific number of shares, a Delivery Applicant will likely receive some cash representing
the net sale proceeds of any excess Fine Ounces (the “Cash Proceeds”). To minimize the Cash Proceeds of any
exchange, the delivery application requires that the number of shares submitted closely correspond in Fine Ounces to
the Fine Ounces of physical gold that is held or that is to be acquired by the Trust for which the delivery is sought.
Share submissions are processed in the order approved.
Changes in the shares for the period ending January 31, 2015 are as follows:

Shares Amount

Shares, beginning of period at May 6, 2014 100,000 $1,306,250

Shares issued 5,112,551 65,559,010
Shares redeemed (59,921 ) (771,674 )
Net increase 5,152,630 $66,087,586
F-10
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2.4. Income Taxes
The Trust is treated as a “grantor trust” for US federal tax purposes. As a result, the Trust itself is not subject to US
federal income tax. Instead, the Trust's income and expenses “flow through” to the shareholders and the Trustee reports
the Trust's income, gains, losses and deductions to the Internal Revenue Service on that basis.
The Sponsor has evaluated whether or not there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition
and has determined that no reserves for uncertain tax positions are required as of January 31, 2015.
2.5. Revenue Recognition Policy
A gain or loss is recognized based on the difference between the selling price and the average cost method of the gold
sold on a trade date basis.
3. INVESTMENT IN GOLD
The following represents the changes in ounces of gold and the respective fair value at January 31, 2015:

Ounces Fair Value

Beginning balance as of May 6, 2014 1,000 $1,306,250
Gold bullion contributed 50,978 65,404,328
Gold bullion distributed 599 ) (777,674 )
Change in unrealized depreciation — (1,188,296
Realized gain from gold distributed from in-kind — 5,978
Ending balance as of January 31, 2015 51,379 $64,750,586

4. RELATED PARTIES - SPONSOR, TRUSTEE, CUSTODIAN AND MARKETING FEES

Fees paid are to the Sponsor as compensation for services performed under the Trust Agreement. The Sponsor's fee is
payable at an annualized rate of 0.40% of the Trust’s Net Asset Value, accrued on a daily basis computed on the prior
Business Day’s Net Asset Value and paid monthly in arrears.

The Sponsor has agreed to assume the following administrative and marketing expenses incurred by the Trust: the
Trustee’s monthly fee and out-of-pocket expenses; the Custodian’s fee; the marketing support fees and expenses;
expenses reimbursable under the Custody Agreement; the precious metals dealer’s fees and expenses reimbursable
under its agreement with the Sponsor; exchange listing fees; Securities and Exchange Commission registration fees;
printing and mailing costs; maintenance expenses for the Trust’s website; audit fees; and up to $100,000 per annum in
legal expenses.

Affiliates of the Trustee, as well as affiliates of the Custodian may from time to time act as Authorized Participants to
purchase or sell gold or shares for their own account, as agent for their customers and for accounts over which they
exercise investment discretion.

5. SHAREHOLDER OWNERSHIP

Merk Hard Currency Fund owned a market value of $38,074,016 which equates to 58.80% ownership in the Trust at
January 31, 2015. The Sponsor acts as investment advisor to the Merk Hard Currency Fund.

F-11
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6. CONCENTRATION OF RISK

The Trust’s sole business activity is the investment in Gold bullion. Several factors could affect the price of gold: (i)
global gold supply and demand, which is influenced by such factors as forward selling by gold producers, purchases
made by gold producers to unwind gold hedge positions, central bank purchases and sales, and production and cost
levels in major gold-producing countries; (ii) investors’ expectations with respect to the rate of inflation; (iii) currency
exchange rates; (iv) interest rates; (v) investment and trading activities of hedge funds and commodity funds; and (vi)
global or regional political, economic or financial events and situations. In addition, there is no assurance that gold
will maintain its long-term value in terms of purchasing power in the future. In the event that the price of gold
declines, the Sponsor expects the value of an investment in the shares to decline proportionately. Each of these events
could have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s financial position and results of operations.

7. INDEMNIFICATION

Under the Trust’s organizational documents, each of the Trustee (and its directors, employees and agents) and the
Sponsor (and its members, managers, directors, officers, employees, affiliates) is indemnified against any liability,
cost or expense it incurs without gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on its part and without reckless
disregard on its part of its obligations and duties under the Trust’s organizational documents. The Trust’s maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown as this would involve future claims that may be made against the Trust
that have not yet occurred. However, based on industry experience, management believes the risk of loss is remote.

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated the events and transactions that have occurred through the date the financial statements
were issued and noted no items requiring adjustment of the financial statements or additional disclosures.

k ok ok

This report is submitted for the general information of the shareholders. It is not authorized for distribution to
prospective investors unless preceded or accompanied by an effective prospectus, which includes information
regarding the Trust’s risks, objectives, fees and expenses and other information.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned in its capacities* thereunto duly authorized.

MERK INVESTMENTS LLC
Sponsor of the Merk Gold Trust

Date:
April
29,
2015

Axel Merk

President and Chief Investment Officer

(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Axel Merk

* The Registrant is a trust and the persons are signing in their capacities as officers of Merk Investments LLC, the
Sponsor of the Registrant.
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Net income attributable to Maiden shareholders

28,524

Net loss and loss expense ratio*

66.0
%

68.1
%

65.3
%

66.6
%
Acquisition cost ratio**

26.3
%

28.8
%

31.7
%
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28.0
%
General and administrative expense ratio™**

4.8
%

0.4
%

0.7
%

35
%

Combined ratio****

97.1
%

97.3
%

97.7
%

98.1
%

F-17




Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Table of Contents
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

. . AmTrust Quota
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010 Dlyers1f1ed Share ACAC Total
Reinsurance . Quota Share
Reinsurance

Net premiums written $554,049 $468,043 $205,739 $1,227,831
Net premiums earned $601,254 $445.,081 $123,455 $1,169,790
Net loss and loss adjustment expenses (394,604 ) (280,890 ) (79,628 ) (755,122
Commission and other acquisition expenses (152,698 ) (144,655 ) (39,344 ) (336,697
General and administrative expenses (26,123 ) (1,500 ) (243 ) (27,866
Underwriting income $27,829 $18,036 $4,240 $50,105
Reconciliation to net income attributable to
Maiden
Net investment income and realized

. ) . 78,255
and unrealized gains on investment
Amortization of intangible assets (5,808
Foreign exchange losses (580
Interest and amortization expenses (36,466
Other general and administrative expenses (14,314
Income tax expense (1,330
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 4
Net income attributable to Maiden $69.866
shareholders
Net loss and loss expense ratio* 65.6 % 63.1 % 64.5 % 64.6
Acquisition cost ratio** 254 % 32.5 % 31.9 % 28.8
Geperal and administrative expense 44 % 0.3 % 0.2 % 3.5
ratio***
Combined ratio™**** 95.4 % 95.9 % 96.6 % 96.9
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

AmTrust Quota

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 Dn./ers1f1ed Share

Reinsurance .

Reinsurance

Net premiums written $658,016 $372,358
Net premiums earned $567,998 $351,921
Net loss and loss adjustment expenses (393,760 ) (214,853 )
Commission and other acquisition expenses (126,193 ) (115,236 )
General and administrative expenses (19,211 ) (2,515 )
Underwriting income $28,834 $19,317
Reconciliation to net income attributable to
Maiden
Net investment income and realized
and unrealized gains on investment
Amortization of intangible assets
Foreign exchange and other gains
Interest and amortization expenses
Other general and administrative expenses
Income tax expense
Net income attributable to Maiden
shareholders
Net loss and loss expense ratio* 69.3 % 61.1 %
Acquisition cost ratio** 22.2 % 32.7 %
Geperal and administrative expense 34 % 0.7 %
ratio***
Combined ratio**** 94.9 % 94.5 %

ACAC
Quota Share
$ _

$ _

Total

$1,030,374
$919,919
(608,613
(241,429
(21,726
$48,151

63,227

(6,590
2,454
(34,431
(10,409
(1,344

$61,058

% 66.2
% 26.2

% 3.5
% 95.9

%
%

%
%

*Calculated by dividing net loss and loss adjustment expenses by net premiums earned and other insurance revenue.

« Calculated by dividing commission and other acquisition expenses by net premiums earned and other insurance

revenue.

*#*%* Calculated by dividing general and administrative expenses by net premiums earned and other insurance revenue

administrative expense ratio.

Calculated by adding together net loss and loss expense ratio, acquisition cost ratio and general and
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

As at December 31, 2011

Reinsurance balances receivable, net
Funds withheld

Prepaid reinsurance premiums
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses
Deferred commission and other acquisition
expenses

Loan to related party

Goodwill and intangible assets, net
Restricted investments and cash
Corporate and other assets

Total Assets

As at December 31, 2010

Reinsurance balances receivable, net
Funds withheld

Prepaid reinsurance premiums
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses
Deferred commission and other acquisition
expenses

Loan to related party

Goodwill and intangible assets, net
Restricted investments and cash
Corporate and other assets

Total Assets

Diversified
Reinsurance

$203,925
42,605
35,381
20,289

98,712

98,755
1,063,010
2,429
$1,565,106

$131,109
152,713
28,992
6,656

85,252

103,905
1,136,252
88
$1,644,967

AmTrust
Quota Share
Reinsurance

$102,003

120,369
167,975

461,216
$851,563

$25,566

92,155
167,975

358,621

$644,317

ACAC
Quota Share

$76,742

62,017

$168,114

$69,658

23,979

$119,861

Total

$382,670
42,605
35,381
20,289

248,436

167,975
98,755
1,586,243
772,072
$3,354,426

$226,333
152,713
28,992
6,656

203,631

167,975
103,905
1,518,852
573,505
$2,982,562

The following table shows an analysis of the Company’s gross and net premiums written and earned by geographic
location. In case of business assumed from AmTrust Financial Services, Inc. ("AmTrust"), it is the location of the
relevant AmTrust subsidiaries.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Gross premiums written — North America $1,400,114 $1,098,672 $947,371
Gross premiums written — Other (predominantly Europe) 412,483 199,383 101,305
Net premiums written — North America 1,317,265 1,028,518 929,069
Net premiums written — Other (predominantly Europe) 406,256 199,313 101,305
Net premiums earned — North America 1,194,628 1,038,859 838,152
Net premiums earned — Other (predominantly Europe) 357,800 130,931 81,767

The following tables set forth financial information relating to net premiums written by major line of business for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Total % of Total Total % of Total Total % of Total
Net premiums written
Diversified Reinsurance
Property $207,993 12.1 % $168,919 13.8 % $165,705 16.1 %
Casualty 441,666 25.6 % 311,852 25.4 % 387,218 37.6 %
Accident and Health 42,604 2.5 % 43,658 3.5 % 105,093 10.2 %
International 105,774 6.1 % 29,620 2.4 % — — %
Total Diversified Reinsurance 798,037 46.3 % 554,049 45.1 % 658,016 63.9 %
AmTrust Quota Share Reinsurance
Small Commercial Business 237,560 13.8 % 197,097 16.0 % 186,473 18.1 %
Specialty Program 93,701 5.4 % 73,881 6.0 % 58,048 5.6 %
Specialty Risk and Extended 338,022 196 % 197,065 161 % 127837 124 %
Warranty
Total AmTrust Quota Share 669283 388 % 468043 381 % 372358 361 %
Reinsurance
ACAC Quota Share
Automobile Liability 147,362 8.6 % 117,962 9.6 % — — %
Automobile Physical Damage 108,839 6.3 % 871,777 7.2 % — — %
Total ACAC Quota Share 256,201 14.9 % 205,739 16.8 % — — %

$1,723,521 100.0 % $1,227,831 100.0 % $1,030,374 100.0 %

The following tables set forth financial information relating to net premiums earned by major line of business for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Total % of Total Total % of Total Total % of Total
Net premiums earned
Diversified Reinsurance
Property $196,947 12.7 % $176,538 15.1 % $146,783 159 %
Casualty 395,533 25.5 % 356,389 30.5 % 316,676 34.4 %
Accident and Health 43,210 2.8 % 62,954 5.4 % 104,539 11.4 %
International 112,697 7.3 % 5,373 0.5 % — — %
Total Diversified Reinsurance 748,387 48.3 % 601,254 51.5 % 567,998 61.7 %
AmTrust Quota Share Reinsurance
Small Commercial Business 215,941 13.9 % 202,716 17.3 % 199,020 21.6 %
Specialty Program 81,281 52 % 71,596 6.1 % 52,842 5.8 %
Specialty Risk and Extended 260,975 168 % 170,769 146 % 100,059 109 %
Warranty
Total AmTrust Quota Share 558,197 359 % 445081 380 % 351,921 383 %
Reinsurance
ACAC Quota Share
Automobile Liability 141,173 9.1 % 69,444 5.9 % — — %
Automobile Physical Damage 104,671 6.7 % 54,011 4.6 % — — %
Total ACAC Quota Share 245,844 15.8 % 123,455 10.5 % — — %

$1,552,428 100.0 % $1,169,790 100.0 % $919,919 1000 %
4. Acquisitions
a) IIS Acquisition

On November 30, 2010, the Company completed its acquisition of certain companies, businesses and assets
comprising the international insurance services business of GMAC Insurance Holdings Ltd. (the “IIS Acquisition™),
including renewal rights on nearly $100 million of predominantly personal auto quota share reinsurance as well as the
supporting business development subsidiaries in Europe. The transaction includes the assumption of more than $100
million of loss reserves and net unearned premiums as well as the corresponding assets, and was funded through
existing cash. The businesses primarily focus on providing branded auto and auto-related insurance products through
its insurer partners to retail customers in the European Union and other global markets.

The IIS Acquisition also includes the acquisition of GMAC Life Forsikrings AB (“GMAC LF”), a life insurance
company organized under the laws of Sweden which writes credit life insurance on a primary basis. GMAC LF was
renamed Maiden Life Forsikrings AB (“Maiden LF”).

Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital and net assets of GMAC LF,
GMAC Australia (Finance) Limited, GMAC VerisicherungService GmBH (subsequently renamed Opel Hiandler
VerisicherungsService GmbH ("OVS") following a cooperation agreement being entered into with VDOH
Wirtschaftsdienst GmbH (“Opel Dealer Association”) in Germany and the German auto manufacturer Opel in exchange
for a 10% interest in OVS) and 60% of the share capital and net assets of GMAC VerisicherungService GmBH

Austria. The agreement provided for a base purchase cost of $4,000 adjustable based on the renewal premium written
net of commissions over the next three years plus an amount equal to the net assets of the acquired entities.
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The Company finalized the purchase price allocation in 2011 which resulted in a total consideration of $21,632 (2010
estimate - $22,274). The Company recorded goodwill of $5,695 (2010 estimate - $5,812) and incurred non-recurring
acquisition expenses of $1,841 as a result of the acquisition. The results of the operations have been included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date. The cost of acquisition was allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values as at the acquisition date, with the amount
exceeding the fair value recorded as goodwill.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired is summarized as follows:

2011 Actual 2010 Estimate
Cash $14,971 $15,595
Restricted cash 450 469
Fixed maturity investments 13,480 13,999
Other assets 303 191
Goodwill 5,695 5,812
Assets acquired 34,899 36,066
Reserve for loss and loss adjustment expenses 4,739 3,192
Unearned premiums 5,454 5,665
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3,074 4,935
Liabilities acquired 13,267 13,792
Total purchase price $21,632 $22.274

In conjunction with the IIS Acquisition on November 30, 2010, Maiden Bermuda and GMAC International Insurance
Company Ltd. (“GMAC International Insurance”) entered into a loss portfolio transfer and quota share reinsurance
agreement under which Maiden Bermuda reinsured 100% of the existing contracts written by GMAC International
Insurance in respect of the businesses acquired in the IIS Acquisition. As a result of the agreement, Maiden Bermuda
assumed estimated liabilities of $122,574. The loss portfolio transfer and quota share reinsurance agreement required
Maiden Bermuda to fund the existing funds withheld collateral arrangements of GMAC International Insurance and its
cedants. The initial funds withheld collateral requirements were $140,520 and Maiden Bermuda transferred cash on
closing in the amount of $26,204 in order to meet such collateral requirements.

The effect of the IIS Acquisition on premiums and losses for the year ended December 31, 2010 was as follows:

Results of operations: For the Year Ended
December 31, 2010

Net premium written — assumed $29,620

Change in unearned premium — assumed (24,247 )

Net earned premium — assumed 5,373

Loss and loss adjustment expense (4,217 )

5. Investments
a) Fixed Maturities and Other Investments

The original or amortized cost, estimated fair value and gross unrealized gains and losses of available-for-sale fixed
maturities and other investments as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, are as follows:
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As at December 31, 2011

Available-for-sale securities:

U.S. treasury bonds

U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed
U.S. agency bonds — other

Non-U.S. government bonds

Other mortgage-backed securities
Corporate bonds

Municipal bonds

Total available-for-sale fixed maturities
Other investments

Total investments

As at December 31, 2010

Available-for-sale securities:

U.S. treasury bonds

U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed
U.S. agency bonds — other

Non-U.S. government bonds

Corporate bonds

Municipal bonds

Total available-for-sale fixed maturities
Other investments

Total investments

The contractual maturities of our fixed maturities are shown below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual

Original or
amortized
cost

$44,175
928,944
10,374
51,405
9,919
743,951
168,338
1,957,106
1,955
$1,959,061

Original or
amortized
cost

$92,043
951,465
41,770
15,494
673,756
45,247
1,819,775
5,751
$1,825,526

Gross
unrealized
gains

$1,774
43,230
622

78

1
47,726
728
94,159
318
$94,477

Gross
unrealized
gains

$1,108
22,351
1,638
444
46,647
441
72,629
96
$72,725

Gross
unrealized
losses

$—
(75

(285

(30,244
(30,604
(81
$(30,685

Gross
unrealized
losses

$(1,422
(4,348

(11,410
(791
(17,971

$(17,971

)
)

Fair value

$45,949
972,099
10,996
51,198
9,920
761,433
169,066
2,020,661
2,192
$2,022,853

Fair value

$91,729
969,468
43,408
15,938
708,993
44,897
1,874,433
5,847
$1,880,280

maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment

penalties.

As at December 31, 2011

Maturity

Due in one year or less

Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years

Mortgage-backed securities
Total

Amortized cost

$54,544
315,015
469,574
179,110
1,018,243
938,863
$1,957,106

Fair
value

$54,281
299,922
502,833
181,606
1,038,642
982,019
$2,020,661

% of Total fair

value

2.7
14.8
249
9.0
514
48.6
100.0

%
%
%
%
%
%
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The following tables summarize fixed maturities in an unrealized loss position and the aggregate fair value and gross
unrealized loss by length of time the security has continuously been in an unrealized loss position:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
As at December 31, 2011 Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
value losses value losses value losses
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed $30,447 $(75 ) $— $— $30,447 $(75 )
Non — U.S. government bonds 42,552 (285 ) — — 42,552 (285 )
Corporate bonds 228,444 (7,414 ) 125,089 (22,830 ) 353,533 (30,244 )
301,443 (7,774 ) 125,089 (22,830 ) 426,532 (30,604 )
Other investments 1,214 (81 ) — — 1,214 (81 )

Total temporarily impaired
available-for-sale securities and other  $302,657 $(7,855 ) $125,089 $(22,830 ) $427,746  $(30,685 )
investments

As at December 31, 2011, there were approximately 62 securities in an unrealized loss position with a fair value of
$427.746 and unrealized losses of $30,685. Of these securities, there are 8 securities that have been in an unrealized
loss position for 12 months or greater with a fair value of $125,089 and unrealized losses of $22,830.

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
As at December 31, 2010 Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
value losses value losses value losses
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. treasury bonds $47.165 $(1,422 ) $— $— $47.165 $(1,422 )
U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed 315,370 (4,348 ) — — 315,370 (4,348 )
U.S. agency bonds — other 86,976 (1,555 ) 166,062 (9,855 ) 253,038 (11,410 )
Corporate bonds 27,315 (791 ) — — 27,315 (791 )

Total temporarily impaired
available-for-sale securities and other $476,826  $(8,116 ) $166,062 $(9,855 ) $642,888  $(17,971 )
investments

As at December 31, 2010, there were approximately 32 securities in an unrealized loss position with a fair value of
$642.,888 and unrealized losses of $17,971. Of these securities, there are 9 securities that have been in an unrealized
loss position for 12 months or greater with a fair value of $166,062 and unrealized losses of $9,855.

Other-than-temporary impairments (“OTTI”)

We review our investment portfolio for impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment of investments results in a charge
to operations when a fair value decline below cost is deemed to be other-than-temporary. As at December 31, 2011,
we reviewed our portfolio to evaluate the necessity of recording impairment losses for other-than-temporary declines
in the fair value of investments.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company recognized no OTTI. Based on our

qualitative and quantitative OTTI review of each asset class within our fixed maturity portfolio, the remaining
unrealized losses on fixed maturities at December 31, 2011, were primarily due to widening of credit spreads relating
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to the market illiquidity, rather than credit events. Because we do not intend to sell these securities and it is not more
likely than not that we will be required to sell these securities until a recovery of fair value to amortized cost, we
currently believe it is probable that we will collect all amounts due according to their respective contractual terms.
Therefore, we do not consider these fixed maturities to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2011.
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The following summarizes the credit ratings of our fixed maturities:

Rating* as at December 31, 2011

U.S. treasury bonds
U.S. agency bonds
AAA

AA+, AA, AA-
A+, A, A-

BBB+, BBB, BBB-
BB+ or lower
Total

Rating* as at December 31, 2010

U.S. treasury bonds
U.S. agency bonds
AAA

AA+, AA, AA-
A+, A, A-

BBB+, BBB, BBB-
BB+ or lower
Total

Amortized
cost
$44,175
939,318
160,319
150,961
327,794
316,150
18,389
$1,957,106

Amortized
cost
$92,043
993,235
74,683
74,479
325,252
222,496
37,587
$1,819,775

*Ratings as assigned by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”)

b) Other Investments

The table below shows our portfolio of other investments:

As at December 31,

Hedge funds

Investment in limited partnerships
Total other investments

2011

$— —
2,192 100.0
$2,192 100.0

Fair

value
$45,949
983,095
161,945
153,303
328,448
330,156
17,765
$2,020,661

Fair

value
$91,729
1,012,876
78,427
79,445
329,100
244,126
38,730
$1,874,433

2010

% $4,846
% 1,001
% $5,847

% of Total
fair value
2.3

48.6

8.0

7.6

16.3

16.3

0.9

100.0

% of Total
fair value
4.9

54.0

4.2

4.2

17.6

13.0

2.1

100.0

82.9
17.1
100.0

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

%
%
%

The Company has an unfunded commitment on its investment in limited partnerships of approximately $3,808 as at

December 31, 2011.
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¢) Net Investment Income

Net investment income was derived from the following sources:

For the Year Ended December 31,
Fixed maturities

Cash and cash equivalents

Funds withheld

Loan to related party

Less:

Investment expenses

Interest expense on securities sold under
agreements to repurchase

Total

d) Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investment

2011
$72,050
925
4,235
1,925
79,135

(3,488
(756
$74,891

2010
$71,607
1,680
407
1,996
75,690

(2,992
(1,047
$71,651

2009
$51,025
13,236

2,361
66,622
(2,685
(980
$62,957

Realized gains or losses on the sale of investments are determined on the basis of the first in first out cost method and
include any adjustments to the cost basis of investments for declines in value that are considered to be
other-than-temporary. The Company maintained one open position in a U.S. Treasury Bond sold but not yet purchased

valued at $55,830 which resulted in an unrealized loss of $3,532, which is recorded in net realized and unrealized

gains on investment on the Company's Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2011. This

short position is recorded as a liability in Accrued expenses and other liabilities on the Company's Consolidated

Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2011. The following provides an analysis of net realized and unrealized gains on

investment:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Available-for-sale securities

Trading securities and short sales

Other investments

Net realized gains

Unrealized losses on short sales

Net realized and unrealized gains on investment

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
Available-for-sale securities

Trading securities and short sales

Other investments

Net realized gains on investment

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
Available-for-sale securities

Other investments

Net realized gains on investment

Gross gains
$5,091
2,709

43

7,843

$7,843

Gross gains
$10,372
6,372

$16,744

Gross gains
$4,896

$4,896

Gross losses
$(1,812
(1,902

(116

(3,830
(3,532
$(7,362

Gross losses
$(1,976
(7,915

(249
$(10,140

Gross losses
$(4,505
(121
$(4,626

— O N N N N

A N

Net
$3,279
807
(73
4,013
(3,532
$481

Net
$8,396
(1,543
(249
$6,604

Net
$391
(121
$270
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Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities classified as available-for-sale were $304,499, $331,593 and $200,493 for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Net unrealized gains (losses) were as follows:

As at December 31, 2011 2010 2009
Available-for-sale securities $63,555 $54,658 $38,310
Other investments 237 96 (135
Total net unrealized gains 63,792 54,754 38,175
Deferred income tax expense (55 ) — (5,428
Net unrealized gains, net of deferred income tax $63,737 $54,754 $32,747
Change in net unrealized gains, net of deferred income tax $8,983 $22,007 $77,246

e) Restricted Cash and Investments

We are required to maintain assets on deposit to support our reinsurance operations and to serve as collateral for our
reinsurance liabilities under various reinsurance agreements. The assets on deposit are available to settle reinsurance
liabilities. We also utilize trust accounts to collateralize business with our reinsurance counterparties. These trust
accounts generally take the place of letter of credit requirements. The assets in trust as collateral are primarily highly
rated fixed maturity securities. The fair value of our restricted assets was as follows:

As at December 31, 2011 2010
Restricted cash — third party agreements $67,627 $59,615
Restricted cash — related party agreements 46,729 29,743
Restricted cash — U.S. state regulatory authorities 539 398
Total restricted cash 114,895 89,756

Restricted investments — in trust for third party agreements at fair value (Amortized
cost: 2011 — $950,103; 2010 — $1,024,895)
Restricted investments — in trust for related party agreements at fair value

972,130 1,053,982

(Amortized cost: 2011 — $458,105; 2010 — $339,810) 485,468 361,424
Restricted investments — in trust for U.S. state regulatory authorities (Amortized 13.750 13.690
cost: 2011 — $12,862; 2010 — $13,198) ’ ’

Total restricted investments 1,471,348 1,429,096
Total restricted cash and investments $1,586,243 $1,518,852

f) Other

Securities sold but not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver the specified security at the
contracted price and, thereby, create a liability to purchase the security in the market at prevailing prices. The
Company's liability for securities to be delivered is measured at their fair value and as at December 31, 2011 were
$55,830 for a U.S. Treasury bond. This amount is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Collateral of an equivalent amount has been pledged to the clearing broker.

The Company also enters into repurchase agreements. The agreements are accounted for as collateralized borrowing
transactions and are recorded at contract amounts. The Company receives cash or securities, that it invests or holds in
short term or fixed income securities. During the year, the Company repaid the entire balance outstanding of $76,225.
Interest expense associated with these repurchase agreements was $756 for the year ended December 31, 2011

(2010 - $1,047, 2009 - $980); out of which $0 was accrued as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $702).
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6. Fair Value Measurements
a) Fair Values of Financial Instruments

ASC 825, “Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” requires all entities to disclose the fair value of their
financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recognized and not recognized in the balance sheet, for which it

F-28

115



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Table of Contents
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

is practicable to estimate fair value.

The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Company to determine the fair value of financial
instruments held as at December 31, 2011.

U.S. Government and U.S. Government agencies: Comprised primarily of bonds issued by the U.S. Treasury, the
Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Government National Mortgage
Association and the Federal National Mortgage Association. The fair values of U.S. government securities are based
on quoted market prices in active markets, and are included in the Level 1 fair value hierarchy. We believe the market
for U.S. Treasury securities is an actively traded market given the high level of daily trading volume. The fair values
of U.S. government agency securities are priced using the spread above the risk-free yield curve. As the yields for the
risk-free yield curve and the spreads for these securities are observable market inputs, the fair values of U.S.
government agency securities are included in the Level 2 fair value hierarchy.

Non-U.S. government bonds: Comprised of Non-U.S. government bonds issued by non-U.S. governments primarily
Germany, Sweden and Netherlands. These securities are generally priced by pricing services. The pricing services
may use current market trades for securities with similar quality, maturity and coupon. If no such trades are available,
the pricing service typically uses analytical models which may incorporate spreads, interest rate data and
market/sector news. As the significant inputs used to price Non-U.S. government bonds are observable market inputs,
the fair values of Non-U.S. government bonds are included in the Level 2 fair value hierarchy.

Other mortgage-backed securities: Other mortgage-backed securities consist of a commercial mortgage-backed
security (“CMBS”). This security is priced by independent pricing services and brokers. The pricing provider applies
dealer quotes and other available trade information, prepayment speeds, yield curves and credit spreads to the
valuation. As the significant inputs used to price the CMBS are observable market inputs, the fair value of the CMBS
is included in the Level 2 fair value hierarchy.

Corporate bonds: Comprised of bonds issued by corporations that on acquisition are rated BBB-/Baa3 or higher .
These securities are generally priced by pricing services. The fair values of corporate bonds that are short-term are
priced, by the pricing services, using the spread above the London Interbank Offering Rate ("LIBOR') yield curve and
the fair value of corporate bonds that are long-term are priced using the spread above the risk-free yield curve. The
spreads are sourced from broker/dealers, trade prices and the new issue market. Where pricing is unavailable from
pricing services, we obtain non-binding quotes from broker-dealers. As the significant inputs used to price corporate
bonds are observable market inputs, the fair values of corporate bonds are included in the Level 2 fair value hierarchy.

Municipals: Municipal securities comprise bonds and auction rate securities issued by U.S. domiciled state and
municipality entities. The fair values of municipal bonds are generally priced by pricing services. The pricing services
typically use spreads obtained from broker-dealers, trade prices and the new issue market. As the significant inputs
used to price the municipal bonds are observable market inputs, municipals are classified within Level 2. Municipal
auction rate securities are reported in the consolidated balance sheet at cost which approximates their fair value.

Other investments: The fair values of the investment in limited partnerships are determined by the fund manager

based on recent filings, operating results, balance sheet stability, growth and other business and market sector
fundamentals, and as such, the fair values are included in the Level 3 fair value hierarchy.
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Reinsurance balance receivable: The carrying values reported in the accompanying balance sheets for these financial
instruments approximate their fair value due to short term nature of the assets.

Loan to related party: The carrying values reported in the accompanying balance sheets for these financial
instruments approximate their fair value.

Senior notes: The amount reported in the accompanying balance sheets for these financial instruments represents the
carrying value of the notes. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of the 8.25% senior notes was $104,888 based on its
traded price and yield information obtained from a third party service provider.

Junior subordinated debt: The amount reported in the accompanying balance sheets for these financial instruments
represents the carrying value of the debt. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of the debt was $173,621 based on the
binomial lattice model, Black-Derman-Toy model.

b) Fair Value Hierarchy

The Company’s estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities are based on the framework
established in ASC 820. The framework is based on the inputs used in valuation and gives the highest priority to
quoted prices in active markets and requires that observable inputs be used in the valuations when available. The
disclosure

F-29

117



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Table of Contents
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

of fair value estimates in the ASC 820 hierarchy is based on whether the significant inputs into the valuation are
observable. In determining the level of the hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is given to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s

significant market assumptions.

In accordance with ASC 820, the Company determines fair value based on the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we classified our financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis in

the following valuation hierarchy:

As at December 31, 2011

Assets

Fixed maturities

U.S. treasury bonds

U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed
U.S. agency bonds — other

Non U.S. government bonds

Other mortgage-backed securities
Corporate bonds

Municipal bonds

Other investments

Total

As a percentage of total assets
Liabilities

Securities sold but not yet purchased
As a percentage of total liabilities

F-30

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

$45,949

$45,949
14 %

$—
— %

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

$—
972,099
10,996
51,198
9,920
761,433
169,066
$1,974,712
58.8

$55,830
22

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3)

2,192
$2,192
% 0.1

% —

Total Fair
Value

$45,949

972,099

10,996

51,198

9,920

761,433

169,066

2,192
$2,022,853

60.3 %

$55,830

% 2.2 %
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As at December 31, 2010

Assets

Fixed maturities

U.S. treasury bonds

U.S. agency bonds — mortgage-backed
U.S. agency bonds — other

Non U.S. government bonds
Corporate bonds

Municipal bonds

Other investments

Total

As a percentage of total assets
Liabilities

Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase

As a percentage of total liabilities

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

$91,729

$91,729
3.1 %

$—
— %

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

$—
969,468
43,408
15,938
708,993
44,897
$1,782,704
59.7

$76,225
34

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3)

% 0.2

% —

Total Fair
Value

$91,729

969,468

43,408

15,938

708,993

44,897

5,847
$1,880,280

63.0 %

$76,225

% 3.4 %

The Company utilized a pricing service to estimate fair value measurements for approximately 99.4% of its fixed
maturities. The pricing service utilizes market quotations for fixed maturity securities that have quoted market prices
in active markets. Since fixed maturities other than U.S. treasury securities generally do not trade on a daily basis, the
pricing service prepares estimates of fair value measurements using relevant market data, benchmark curves, sector
groupings and matrix pricing and these have been classified as level 2.

Other investments. The Company has $2,192 or approximately 0.1% of its investment portfolio in limited
partnerships where the fair value estimate is determined by the fund manager based on recent filings, operating results,
balance sheet stability, growth and other business and market sector fundamentals. Due to the significant unobservable
inputs in these valuations, the Company includes the estimate in the amount disclosed in Level 3. The Company has
determined that its investments in Level 3 securities are not material to its financial position or results of operations.

¢) Level 3 Financial Instruments

The following table presents changes in Level 3 for our financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring
basis for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

Other investments: 2011 2010

Balance at beginning of period $5,847 $5,549

Net realized and unrealized gains — included in net income — —

Net realized and unrealized (losses) — included in net income (73 ) (249 )
Change in net unrealized (gains) — included in other comprehensive income — —

Change in net unrealized losses — included in other comprehensive income 141 231

Purchases 1,173 5,175

Sales and redemptions (4,896 ) (4,859 )

Transfers into Level 3 — —
Transfers out of Level 3 — —
Balance at end of period $2,192 $5,847
Level 3 gains (losses) included in net income attributable to the change in $ $
unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets held at the reporting date o o

7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of purchase price over the net fair value of assets acquired. The Company
performs an annual impairment analysis to identify potential goodwill impairment and measures the amount of a
goodwill impairment loss to be recognized. This annual test is performed during the fourth quarter of each year or
more frequently if events or circumstances change in a way that requires the Company to perform the impairment
analysis on an interim basis. Goodwill impairment testing requires an evaluation of the estimated fair value of each
reporting unit to its carrying value, including the goodwill. An impairment charge is recorded if the estimated fair
value is less than the carrying amount of the reporting unit. No impairments have been identified to date.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of finite and indefinite life assets. Finite life intangible assets include customer and producer
relationships and trademarks. Insurance company licenses are considered indefinite life intangible assets subject to

annual impairment testing.

The following table shows an analysis of goodwill and intangible assets:

Goodwill Intangible Total
Assets

Balance as at December 31, 2009 $52.617 $51,284 $103,901
Acquired during the year 5,812 — 5,812
Amortization — (5,808 ) (5,808 )
Impairment losses — — —
Balance as at December 31, 2010 58,429 45,476 103,905
Adjustment during the year (117 ) — (117 )
Amortization — (5,033 ) (5,033 )
Impairment losses — — —
Balance as at December 31, 2011 $58,312 $40,443 $98.,755
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As at December 31, 2011 Gross Accun}ula.ted Net Useful Life
Amortization
Goodwill $58,312 $— $58,312 Indefinite
State licenses 7,727 — 7,727 Indefinite
Customer relationships 51,400 (18,684 ) 32,716 15 years double declining
Net balance $117,439 $(18,684 ) $98,755
As at December 31, 2010 Gross AccumulaFed Net Useful Life
Amortization
Goodwill $58,429 $— $58,429 Indefinite
State licenses 7,727 — 7,727 Indefinite
Customer relationships 51,400 (13,651 ) 37,749 15 years double declining
Net balance $117,556 $(13,651 ) $103,905

The goodwill and intangible assets were recognized as a result of the IIS Acquisition (see note 4) and the acquisition
of the reinsurance operations of GMAC Insurance (“GMACI”), including its book of assumed reinsurance business,
GMAC RE Insurance Services LLC (renamed Maiden Re), GMAC Direct Insurance Company (renamed Maiden US)
and Integon Specialty Insurance Company (renamed Maiden Specialty) (referred to as the “GMAC Acquisition”) on
October 31, 2008. The goodwill and intangible assets are assigned to Diversified Reinsurance segment and are subject
to annual impairment testing. No impairment was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009. However, during 2011 as a result of the adjusted price allocation relating to the IIS Acquisition, the amount of
goodwill was reduced to $5,695 (2010 - $5,812). The estimated amortization of intangible assets for the next five
years is:

2012 $4,362
2013 3,781
2014 3,276
2015 2,840
2016 2,461

8. Long-Term Debt
Senior Notes

In June 2011, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Maiden Holdings North America, Ltd. ("Maiden
NA"), issued $107,500 principal amount of 8.25% Senior Notes (“Senior Notes”) due on June 15, 2041, which are fully
and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. The Senior Notes are redeemable for cash, in whole or in part, on or
after June 15, 2016, at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the redemption
date. In order to ensure that issuance of the Senior Notes resulted in a long term favorable impact to Maiden's
shareholders, the Company sought to repurchase a portion of the Trust Preferred Securities, described below, with the
proceeds of the Senior Notes offering. Under the redemption notice provisions of the Trust Preferred Securities, the
Company was required to give at least 30 days' notice in advance of the next interest payment (July 15, 2011) prior to
redemption, or incur an additional quarter's interest payments. Since the Senior Notes offering was initiated after the
30 day notice period on June 16, 2011, the Company offered to all holders an option to have a portion of their Trust
Preferred Securities repurchased on a pro rata basis from the proceeds of the Senior Notes offering in exchange for a
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waiver of such notice provisions and an agreement to accept interest through July 15, 2011. Certain of the Trust
Preferred Securities holders accepted the offer by June 16, 2011. All proceeds of the Senior Notes offering were used
to repurchase the Trust Preferred Securities of the holders who accepted the offer. The Senior Notes are an unsecured
and unsubordinated obligation of the Company and rank ahead of the Junior Subordinated Debt, described below. The
effective interest rate of the Senior Notes, based on the net proceeds received, was 8.47%. The net proceeds from the
sale of the Senior Notes were $104,689, after placement agent fees and expense or debt issuance cost of $2,811, and
were used to repurchase $107,500 principal amount portion of the outstanding Junior Subordinated Debt. The issuance
costs related to the Senior Notes were capitalized and will be amortized over the life of the notes. Amortization
expense for the period from June 15, 2011 to December 31, 2011 was $49.
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The interest on the Senior Notes is payable each quarter beginning on September 15, 2011. Interest expense for the
year ended December 31, 2011 was $4,607, of which $394 was accrued as of December 31, 2011.

Junior Subordinated Debt

On January 20, 2009, the Company completed a private placement of 260,000 units (the “Units”), each Unit consisting
of $1,000 principal amount of capital securities (the “Trust Preferred Securities””) of Maiden Capital Financing Trust (the
“Trust”), a special purpose trust established by Maiden NA, and 45 common shares, $0.01 par value, of the Company
for a purchase price of $1,000.45 per Unit (the “TRUPS Offering”). In the aggregate, 11,700,000 common shares were
issued to the purchasers in the TRUPS Offering. This resulted in gross proceeds to the Company of $260,117, before
$4,342 of placement agent fees and expenses.

Certain trusts established by Michael Karfunkel and George Karfunkel, two of the Company's Founding Shareholders,
purchased an aggregate of 159,000 of the Units, or 61.12%. The remaining 101,000 Units were purchased by existing
institutional shareholders of the Company.

The Trust used the proceeds from the sale of the Trust Preferred Securities to purchase a subordinated debenture (the
“Junior Subordinated Debt”) in the principal amount of $260,000 issued by Maiden NA.

Under the terms of the Trust Preferred Securities, the Company can repay the principal balance in full or in part at any
time. However, if the Company repays such principal within five years of the date of issuance, it is required to pay an
additional amount equal to one full year of interest on the amount of Trust Preferred Securities repaid. If the
remaining amount of the Trust Preferred Securities were repaid within five years of the date of issuance (adjusted for
the $107,500 repurchase of Junior Subordinated Debt, which occurred on July 15, 2011), the additional amount due
would be $21,350, which would be a reduction in earnings.

Pursuant to separate Guarantee Agreements dated as at January 20, 2009 with Wilmington Trust Company, as
guarantee trustee, each of the Company and Maiden NA has agreed to guarantee the payment of distributions and
payments on liquidation or redemption of the Trust Preferred Securities.

As a consequence of the issuance of a majority of the Units to a related party under ASC Topic 810 “Consolidation”, the
Trust is a variable interest entity and the Company is deemed not to be the primary beneficiary of the Trust, therefore

it is not consolidated. The issuance of common shares associated with the Trust Preferred Securities resulted in an
original issuance discount of $44,928 based on market price of $3.85 on January 20, 2009. The discount is amortized
over 30 years based on the effective interest method. The Junior Subordinated Debt and Trust Preferred Securities
mature in 2039 and carry a stated or coupon rate of 14% with an effective interest rate of 16.95%.

Using the proceeds from the Senior Notes offering and existing cash, the Company repurchased principal amount of
$107,500 of the Junior Subordinated Debt on July 15, 2011. Pursuant to the terms of the TRUPS Offering, the
Company incurred and paid a repurchase expense equivalent to one year's interest expense of $15,050. The Company
also accelerated the amortization of the issuance cost and discount related to the repurchased Junior Subordinated
Debt which amounted to $20,313.

As at December 31, 2011, the stated value of the Junior Subordinated Debt was $126,263 which comprises the
principal amount of $152,500 and unamortized discount of $26,237. Amortization expense for the year ended
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December 31, 2011 was $46, (2010 - $66, 2009 - $53). Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 was
$29,502 (2010 - $36,400, 2009 - $34,378), of which $4,448 was accrued as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $7,583).

9. Reinsurance

The Company utilizes reinsurance and retrocessional reinsurance (“ceded reinsurance”) agreements to reduce its
exposure to large claims and catastrophic loss occurrences with various reinsurance companies. These agreements
provide for recovery from reinsurers of a portion of losses and LAE under certain circumstances without relieving the
Company of its obligations to the policyholders. The Company remains liable to the extent that any reinsurance
company fails to meet its obligations. Losses and LAE incurred and premiums earned are reported after deduction for
reinsurance. In the event that one or more of the reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations under these reinsurance
agreements, the Company would not realize the full value of the reinsurance recoverable balances.

The effect of retrocessional activity on premiums written and earned and on net loss and loss adjustment expenses for
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was as follows:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Premiums written
Direct $114,036 $71,625 $21,655
Assumed 1,698,561 1,226,430 1,027,021
Ceded (89,076 ) (70,224 ) (18,302 )
Net $1,723,521 $1,227,831 $1,030,374
Premiums earned
Direct $112,308 $68,967 $4,118
Assumed 1,523,685 1,168,116 940,012
Ceded (83,565 ) (67,293 ) (24,211 )
Net $1,552,428 $1,169,790 $919,919
Loss and loss adjustment expenses
Gross loss and loss adjustment expenses $1,103,821 $788,815 $616,905
Loss and loss adjustment expenses recovered (60,767 ) (33,693 ) (8,292 )
Net $1,043,054 $755,122 $608,613

The reinsurers with the three largest balances accounted for 31.1%, 26.2% and 12.6%, respectively, of the Company's
reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses balance at December 31, 2011 (2010 — 29.0%, 17.3% and 9.5%, respectively).
At December 31, 2011, $2,067 (2010 - $1,933) of the reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses was due from Motors
Insurance Corporation (“Motors”) and the remaining amount was due from reinsurers with an A- or better rating from
A.M. Best or state pools. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had no valuation allowance against
reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses.

10. Reserve for Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Our reserve for loss and loss adjustment expenses comprise the following:

As at December 31, 2011 2010
Reserve for reported loss and loss adjustment expenses $820,795 $654,946
Reserve for losses incurred but not reported 577,643 571,827
Reserve for loss and loss adjustment expenses $1,398,438 $1,226,773

The following table represents a reconciliation of our beginning and ending net losses and loss expense reserves:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Gro.ss gnpaud los.s and loss adjustment expenses reserves at $1.226.773 $1.002.676 $897.656
beginning of period
Less: Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses at beginning of

. 6,656 8,340 —

period

Net‘ loss and loss adjustment expense reserves at beginning of 1.220.117 994.336 897.656

period

Net incurred losses related to:

Current year 1,028,855 787,967 620,046

Prior years 14,199 (32,845 ) (11,433 )
1,043,054 755,122 608,613

Net paid losses related to:

Current year 456,149 365,343 209,123

Prior years 423,855 265,991 303,158
880,004 631,334 512,281

Acquired loss and loss expense reserve 450 102,020 184

Effect of foreign exchange movement (5,468 ) (27) 164

Net loss and loss adjustment expense reserves at end of period 1,378,149 1,220,117 994,336

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses at end of period 20,289 6,656 8,340

Sfrgii;:cllpald loss and loss adjustment expenses reserves at end $1.398.438 $1.226.773 $1.002.676

Management believes that its use of both historical experience and industry-wide loss development factors provide a
reasonable basis for estimating future losses. As the Company writes more business and develops more credible data,
the Company expects to assign more weight to its own historical experience than to AmTrust’s historical experience
and industry-wide results. In either case, future events beyond the control of management, such as changes in law,
judicial interpretations of law, and inflation may favorably or unfavorably impact the ultimate settlement of the
Company’s loss and LAE reserves.

The anticipated effect of inflation is implicitly considered when estimating liabilities for losses and LAE. While
anticipated changes in claim costs due to inflation are considered in estimating the ultimate claim costs, changes in
average severity of claims are caused by a number of factors that vary with the individual type of policy written.
Future average severities are projected based on historical trends adjusted for implemented changes in underwriting
standards, policy provisions, and general economic trends. Those anticipated trends are monitored based on actual
development and are modified if necessary.

During 2011, the Company recorded estimated net adverse development on prior year loss reserves of $14,199
compared to net favorable development of $32,845 in the prior year. Included in the total is $28,898 (2010 — $25,332,
2009 - $10,676) of gains relating to the loss portfolio transfers acquired as part of the GMAC Acquisition and the IS
Acquisition. The total gain to date from the loss portfolio transfer reserves is $68,882 (2010 - $43,811) of which
$2,570 remains as at December 31, 2011 (2010 - $6,172). The gain is being amortized into income in proportion to the
actual paydown of the reserves acquired.

Prior period development arises from changes to loss estimates recognized in the current year that relate to loss
reserves first reported in previous calendar years. The development reflects changes in the actuarial assessments of the
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ultimate losses under the relevant reinsurance policies.
11. Related Party Transactions
AmTrust

The Founding Shareholders of the Company, Michael Karfunkel, George Karfunkel and Barry Zyskind, are also the
principal shareholders, and, respectively, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Director, and the President,

F-36

128



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Table of Contents
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Chief Executive Officer and Director of AmTrust.
The following describes transactions between the Company and AmTrust.
AmTrust Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement

Effective July 1, 2007, the Company and AmTrust entered into a master agreement, as amended (the “Master
Agreement”), by which they caused Maiden Bermuda, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and AmTrust's
Bermuda reinsurance subsidiary, AmTrust International Insurance, Ltd. (“AIl”), to enter into a quota share reinsurance
agreement (the “Master Agreement”) by which (a) All retrocedes to Maiden Bermuda an amount equal to 40% of the
premium written by subsidiaries of AmTrust, net of the cost of unaffiliated inuring reinsurance (and in the case of
AmTrust's U.K. insurance subsidiary, AmTrust Europe, Limited, net of commissions) and 40% of losses and (b) AIL
transferred to Maiden Bermuda 40% of the AmTrust subsidiaries' unearned premiums, effective as at July 1, 2007,
with respect to the current lines of business, excluding risks for which the AmTrust subsidiaries' net retention exceeds
$5,000 (“Covered Business”). AmTrust also has agreed to cause All, subject to regulatory requirements, to reinsure any
insurance company which writes Covered Business in which AmTrust acquires a majority interest to the extent
required to enable All to cede to Maiden Bermuda 40% of the premiums and losses related to such Covered Business.
The Master Agreement further provided that All receives a ceding commission of 31% of ceded written premiums.
The Master Agreement had an initial term of three years, which was extended for three years through June 30, 2013
(and extended again through 2014 - see below), and will automatically renew for successive three year terms
thereafter, unless either AIl or Maiden Bermuda notifies the other of its election not to renew not less than nine
months prior to the end of any such three year term. In addition, either party is entitled to terminate on thirty days'
notice or less upon the occurrence of certain early termination events, which include a default in payment, insolvency,
change in control of AIl or Maiden Bermuda, run-off, or a reduction of 50% or more of the shareholders' equity of
Maiden Bermuda or the combined shareholders' equity of AIl and the AmTrust subsidiaries.

On June 11, 2008, Maiden Bermuda and AIl amended the Reinsurance Agreement to add Retail Commercial Package
Business to the Covered Business as a consequence of AmTrust's acquisition of Unitrin Business Insurance (“UBI”).
Under the amendment, AmTrust's subsidiaries ceded, upon collection, to Maiden Bermuda 100% of $82.2 million of
unearned premium (net of inuring reinsurance) from the acquisition of UBI's in-force book of business. Additionally,
AmTrust cedes to Maiden Bermuda 40% of net premium written, effective as of June 1, 2008. Maiden Bermuda will
pay to AmTrust a ceding commission of 34.375% on the unearned premium cession and the Retail Commercial
Package Business. The $2,000 maximum liability for a single loss provided in the Master Agreement shall not be
applicable to Retail Commercial Package Business.

On February 9, 2009, Maiden Bermuda and AIl amended the Master Agreement to clarify that (i) AIl would offer
Maiden Bermuda the opportunity to reinsure Excess Retention Business, which is defined as a policy issued by an
AmTrust insurance subsidiary with respect to which the insurance subsidiary's retention is greater than $5,000 and (ii)
the deduction for the cost of inuring reinsurance from Affiliate Subject Premium (as defined in the Reinsurance
Agreement) retroceded to Maiden Bermuda is net of ceding commission.

Effective April 1, 2011, Maiden Bermuda and AIl amended the Master Agreement to reduce the commission on all
business ceded except Retail Commercial Package Business to 30% until December 31, 2011. Thereafter the rate shall
be 31% subject to an adjustment of 1% to 30% if the proportion of Specialty Risk and Extended Warranty premium
ceded is greater than or equal to 42% of the Covered Business (excluding Retail Commercial Package Business). If
the proportion of Specialty Risk and Extended Warranty premium ceded is greater than or equal to 38% but less than
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42% of the Covered Business (excluding Retail Commercial Package Business), the commission rate shall be reduced
by 0.5% to 30.5%. In addition, the collateral requirements were restated to clarify that balances relating to all
AmTrust subsidiaries are subject to collateral requirements and the Reinsurance Agreement was extended by one year
through June 30, 2014, and shall automatically renew for successive three-year periods thereafter. If AIl or Maiden
Bermuda elects to so terminate this Master Agreement, it shall give written notice to the other party hereto not less
than nine months prior to either July 1, 2014 or the expiration of any successive three-year period.

Maiden Bermuda recorded approximately $150,140, $139,092 and $110,838 of ceding commission expense for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, as a result of this transaction.

AmTrust European Hospital Liability Quota Share Agreement (‘“European Hospital Liability Quota Share”)

Effective April 1, 2011, the Company, through Maiden Bermuda, entered into a quota share reinsurance contract with
AmTrust Europe Limited and AmTrust International Underwriters Limited, both wholly owned subsidiaries of
AmTrust. Pursuant to the terms of the contract, Maiden Bermuda assumed 40% of the premiums and losses related to
policies classified as European Hospital Liability, including associated liability coverages and policies covering
physician defense costs, written or renewed on or after April 1, 2011. The contract also covers policies written or
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renewed on or before March 31, 2011, but only with respect to losses that occur, accrue or arise on or after April 1,
2011. The maximum limit of liability attaching shall be €5,000 or currency equivalent (on a 100% basis) per original
claim for any one original policy. Maiden Bermuda will pay a ceding commission of 5% and shall allow the reinsured
a profit share on original net premiums ceded under the contract. The profit sharing is based upon the reinsured
exceeding defined underwriting performance of each contract year, commencing two years after the beginning of each
contract year. To the extent that the underwriting performance is exceeded, the Company will share 50% of the
excess amounts computed. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded approximately $3,405 of
commission expense as a result of this transaction.

Other Reinsurance Agreements

Effective January 1, 2008, Maiden Bermuda and AmTrust entered into an agreement to reinsure a 45% participation in
the $9,000 in excess of $1,000 layer of AmTrust's workers' compensation excess of loss program. This layer provides
reinsurance to AmTrust for losses per occurrence in excess of $1,000 up to $10,000, subject to an annual aggregate
deductible of $1,250. This participation was sourced through a reinsurance intermediary via open market placement in
which competitive bids were solicited by an independent broker. The remaining 55% participation was placed with a
single carrier. This coverage expired on January 1, 2010; as a result, under the Master Agreement, Maiden Bermuda
therefore now reinsures 40% of the subject workers' compensation business up to $10,000, subject to certain
additional inuring reinsurance protection that AmTrust has purchased.

As at January 1, 2008, Maiden Bermuda had a 50% participation in a $4,000 in excess of $1,000 specialty
transportation program written by AmTrust. Starting January 1, 2009, Maiden Bermuda had a 30% participation in a
$4,000 in excess of $1,000 specialty transportation program written by AmTrust. This program provides primarily
commercial auto coverage and, to a lesser extent, general liability coverage to private non-emergency para-transit and
school bus service operators. This participation was sourced through a reinsurance intermediary via open market
placement in which competitive bids were solicited by an independent broker. Several other broker market reinsurers
hold the other 50% and 70% participation for 2008 and 2009 policies, respectively. The agreement was not renewed
as at January 1, 2010.

Effective September 1, 2010, the Company through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Maiden Specialty, entered
into a quota share reinsurance agreement with Technology Insurance Company, Inc. (“Technology”), a subsidiary of
AmTrust. Under the agreement, Maiden Specialty will cede (a) 90% of its credit insurance business written under the
Open Lending Program (“OPL”) and (b) 100% of its general liability business under the Naxos Avondale Specialty
Casualty Program (“NAXS”). Maiden Specialty's involvement is limited to certain states where Technology is not fully
licensed. The agreement also provides that Maiden Specialty receives a ceding commission of 5% of ceded written
premiums. The reinsurance agreement has a term of three years and will remain continuously in force until terminated
in accordance to the provisions set forth in the contract. Maiden Specialty recorded approximately $10,276 of
premiums earned ceded and $3,155 ceding commission for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 - $88 and $26,
respectively).

Effective September 1, 2010, the Company, through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Maiden US, entered into a
reinsurance agreement with Security National Insurance Company (“SNIC”), a subsidiary of AmTrust. Under the
agreement, SNIC will cede 80% of the gross liabilities produced under the Southern General Agency program to
Maiden US. The agreement provides SNIC with a 5% commission of ceded written premiums. The agreement has a
term of one year. Under this agreement, Maiden US recorded approximately $7 of premiums earned and $0.1
commission expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 - $1 and $0.2, respectively).
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Collateral provided to AmTrust

In order to provide AmTrust's U.S. insurance subsidiaries with credit for reinsurance on their statutory financial
statements, All, as the direct reinsurer of the AmTrust's insurance subsidiaries, has established trust accounts (“Trust
Accounts”) for their benefit. Maiden Bermuda has agreed to provide appropriate collateral to secure its proportional
share under the Master Agreement of All's obligations to the AmTrust subsidiaries to whom All is required to provide
collateral. This collateral may be in the form of (a) assets loaned by Maiden Bermuda to All, for deposit into the Trust
Accounts, pursuant to a loan agreement between those parties, (b) assets transferred by Maiden Bermuda, for deposit
into the Trust Accounts, (c) a letter of credit obtained by Maiden Bermuda and delivered to an AmTrust subsidiary on
All's behalf (a “Letter of Credit”), or (d) premiums withheld by an AmTrust subsidiary at Maiden Bermuda's request in
lieu of remitting such premiums to AIl (“Withheld Funds”’). Maiden Bermuda may provide any or a combination of
these forms of collateral, provided that the aggregate value thereof equals Maiden Bermuda's proportionate share of its
obligations under the Master Agreement with Al If collateral is required to be provided to any AmTrust subsidiary
under applicable law or regulatory requirements, Maiden Bermuda will provide collateral to the extent required,
although Maiden Bermuda does not expect that such collateral will be required unless the AmTrust subsidiary is
domiciled in the United States.
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Maiden Bermuda satisfied its collateral requirements under the Master Agreement with All as follows:

*by lending funds in the amount of $167,975 as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 to AII pursuant to a loan agreement
entered into between those parties. This loan is carried at cost. The amount of collateral Maiden Bermuda is required
to maintain, which is determined quarterly, equals its proportionate share of (a) the amount of ceded paid losses for
which All is responsible to such AmTrust subsidiaries but has not yet paid, (b) the amount of ceded loss reserves
(including ceded reserves for claims reported but not resolved and losses incurred but not reported) for which All is
responsible to AmTrust subsidiaries, and (c) the amount of ceded reserves for unearned premiums ceded by AmTrust
subsidiaries to All. Pursuant to the Master Agreement, AmTrust has agreed to cause All not to commingle Maiden
Bermuda's assets with All's other assets and to cause the AmTrust subsidiaries not to commingle Maiden Bermuda's
assets with the AmTrust subsidiaries' other assets if an AmTrust subsidiary withdraws those assets. AIl has agreed
that, if an AmTrust subsidiary returns to All excess assets withdrawn from a Trust Account, drawn on a Letter of
Credit or maintained by such AmTrust subsidiary as Withheld Funds, AIl will immediately return to Maiden Bermuda
its proportionate share of such excess assets. All has further agreed that if the aggregate fair market value of the
amount of Maiden Bermuda's assets held in the Trust Account exceeds Maiden Bermuda's proportionate share of All's
obligations, or if an AmTrust subsidiary misapplies any such collateral, AIl will immediately return to Maiden
Bermuda an amount equal to such excess or misapplied collateral, less any amounts Al has paid to Maiden Bermuda.
In addition, if an AmTrust subsidiary withdraws Maiden Bermuda's assets from a Trust Account and maintains those
assets on its books as withheld funds, AIl has agreed to pay to Maiden Bermuda interest at the rate equivalent to the
one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 90 basis points per annum computed on the basis of a
360-day year on the loan (except to the extent Maiden Bermuda's proportionate share of All's obligations to that
AmTrust subsidiary exceeds the value of the collateral Maiden Bermuda has provided), and net of unpaid fees Maiden
Bermuda owes to AIIM and its share of fees owed to the trustee of the Trust Accounts. The amount of accrued interest
relating to the loan was $0 and $496 as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively; and

seffective December 1, 2008, the Company entered into a Reinsurer Trust Assets Collateral agreement to provide to
AlI sufficient collateral to secure its proportional share of All's obligations to the U.S. AmTrust subsidiaries. The
amount of the collateral, as at December 31, 2011 was approximately $461,216 (2010 - $358,621) and the accrued
interest was $4,131 (2010 - $3,684). (See Note 5(¢)).

Reinsurance Brokerage Agreements

Effective July 1, 2007, the Company entered into a reinsurance brokerage agreement with AIl Reinsurance Broker

Ltd. (“AIIB”), a subsidiary of AmTrust. Pursuant to the brokerage agreement, AIIB provides brokerage services relating
to the Master Agreement and, beginning on April 1, 2011, the European Hospital Liability Quota Share agreement for

a fee equal to 1.25% of the premium assumed from AII. The brokerage fee is payable in consideration of AIIB's
brokerage services. AIIB is not the Company's exclusive broker. AIIB may, if mutually agreed, also produce
reinsurance business for the Company from other ceding companies, and in such cases the Company will negotiate a
mutually acceptable commission rate. Maiden Bermuda recorded approximately $6,977, $5,564 and $4,399 of
reinsurance brokerage expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and deferred
reinsurance brokerage of $4,891 and $3,552 as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as a result of this
agreement.

Effective April 1, 2008, the Company entered into brokerage services agreements with IGI Intermediaries Limited and

IGI Inc. (collectively “IGI”), both subsidiaries of AmTrust. Pursuant to the brokerage services agreements, IGI provides
marketing services to us which includes providing marketing material to potential policyholders, providing us with
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market information on new trends and business opportunities and referring new brokers and potential policyholders to
us. A fee equal to IGI's costs in providing such services plus 8% is payable in consideration of IGI's marketing
services. Maiden Bermuda recorded approximately $0, $88 and $199 as expense, which is included in commission
and other acquisition expenses, for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company paid brokerage fees to AmTrust's subsidiary, AmTrust North America, of $111, $83 and $66 for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, for acting as insurance intermediary in relation to
certain insurance placements.

Asset Management Agreement

Effective July 1, 2007, the Company entered into an asset management agreement with AIl Insurance Management
Limited (“AIIM”), an AmTrust subsidiary, pursuant to which AIIM has agreed to provide investment management
services to the Company. Pursuant to the asset management agreement, AIIM provides investment management
services for a quarterly fee of 0.05% if the average value of the account for the previous calendar quarter is less than
or equal to $1 billion and 0.0375% if the average value of the account for the previous calendar quarter is greater than
$1 billion. The Company recorded approximately $3,158, $2,643 and $2,480 of investment management fees for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, as a result of this agreement.
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Other

On March 1, 2011, the Company entered into a time sharing agreement for the lease of aircraft owned by AmTrust
Underwriters, Inc. (“AUI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of AmTrust. The lease is for 10 months ending on December 31,
2011 and automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless terminated in accordance with the provisions of
the agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will reimburse AUI for actual expenses incurred as allowed

by Federal Aviation Regulations. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded an expense of $96

for the use of the aircraft.

ACAC
The following describes transactions between the Company and American Capital Acquisition Corporation (“ACAC”):

On March 1, 2010, Maiden Bermuda entered into a three year 25% quota share reinsurance agreement with ACAC.
ACAC is an insurance holding company owned by the 2005 Michael Karfunkel Grantor Retained Annuity Trust (the
“Annuity Trust”), which is controlled by Michael Karfunkel (‘“Karfunkel”), Karfunkel individually, and AmTrust. ACAC,
on March 1, 2010, acquired from GMAC Insurance Holdings, Inc. and Motors (collectively, “GMAC”), GMAC's

personal lines automobile business. Karfunkel is a Founding Shareholder of the Company. In addition, Karfunkel is

the Chairman of the Board of Directors of ACAC.

ACAC Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement

Maiden Bermuda, effective March 1, 2010, reinsures 25% of the net premiums of the GMAC personal lines business,
pursuant to a quota share reinsurance agreement (‘“ACAC Quota Share”) with the GMAC personal lines insurance
companies, as cedents, and Maiden Bermuda, American Capital Partners Re, Ltd., a Bermuda reinsurer which is a
wholly owned indirect subsidiary of the Annuity Trust, and AmTrust, as reinsurers. Maiden Bermuda has a 50%
participation in the ACAC Quota Share, by which it receives 25% of net premiums of the personal lines automobile
business. The ACAC Quota Share provides that the reinsurers, severally, in accordance with their participation
percentages, shall receive 50% of the net premium of the GMAC personal lines insurance companies and assume 50%
of the related net losses. The ACAC Quota Share has an initial term of three years and shall renew automatically for
successive three year terms unless terminated by written notice not less than nine months prior to the expiration of the
current term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Maiden Bermuda's participation in the ACAC Quota Share may be
terminated by ACAC on 60 days written notice in the event Maiden Bermuda becomes insolvent, is placed into
receivership, its financial condition is impaired by 50% of the amount of its surplus at the inception of the ACAC
Quota Share or latest anniversary, whichever is greater, is subject to a change of control, or ceases writing new and
renewal business. ACAC also may terminate the agreement on nine months written notice following the effective date
of initial public offering or private placement of stock by ACAC or a subsidiary. Maiden Bermuda may terminate its
participation in the ACAC Quota Share on 60 days written notice in the event ACAC is subject to a change of control,
cease writing new and renewal business, effects a reduction in their net retention without Maiden Bermuda's consent
or fails to remit premium as required by the terms of the ACAC Quota Share. The ACAC Quota Share provides that
the reinsurers pay a provisional ceding commission equal to 32.5% of ceded earned premium, net of premiums ceded
by the personal lines companies for inuring reinsurance, subject to adjustment.

The ceding commission is subject to adjustment to a maximum of 34.5% if the loss ratio for the reinsured business is
60.5% or less and a minimum of 30.5% if the loss ratio is 64.5% or higher. We believe that the terms, conditions and
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pricing of the ACAC Quota Share have been determined by arm's length negotiations and reflect current market terms
and conditions.

Maiden Bermuda recorded approximately $74,983 of ceding commission expense for the year ended December 31,
2011 (2010- $37,654) as a result of this transaction.

Other

Maiden Specialty entered into a reinsurance arrangement with New South Insurance Company (“New South”), a
subsidiary of ACAC. Pursuant to the agreement, Maiden Specialty cedes 100% of certain personal lines business to
New South. On March 1, 2010, Maiden Specialty entered into a novation agreement with Motors and New South
whereby New South replaced Motors as the reinsurer for all of this business. Maiden Specialty recorded
approximately $(0.6) and $0.2 of ceded premium and ceding commissions, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010, - $398 and $61, respectively).

In June 2011, the Company, through Maiden NA, issued $107,500 principal amount of 8.25% Senior Notes due on

F-40

136



Edgar Filing: Merk Gold Trust - Form 10-K

Table of Contents
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

June 15, 2041, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. The Senior Notes were used to
repurchase on a pro rata basis $107,500 of the $260,000 outstanding Trust Preferred Securities. The Company offered
all Trust Preferred Securities holders the option to have their securities repurchased on the same terms. American
Capital Partners Re, Ltd., an entity owned by the Annuity Trust controlled by Michael Karfunkel accepted the offer to
repurchase its $79,066 in principal amount of Trust Preferred Securities on July 15, 2011. George Karfunkel
purchased $25,000, and ACAC and AII each purchased $12,500, of the principal amount of the Senior Notes. The
Company's Audit Committee reviewed and approved ACAC's, All's, and George Karfunkel's participation in the
Senior Notes offering.

Warrant Exchange

Please see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
12. Commitments and Contingencies

a) Concentrations of Credit Risk

As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s assets primarily consisted of investments, cash, loan to related
party and reinsurance balances receivable.

The Company manages concentration of credit risk in the investment portfolio through issuer and sector exposure
limitations. The Company believes it bears minimal credit risk in its cash on deposit.

The Company also monitors the credit risk related to the loan to related party and its reinsurance balances receivable,
within which the largest balances are due from AmTrust, ACAC and Motors. To mitigate credit risk we generally
have a contractual right of offset thereby allowing us to settle claims net of any premiums or loan receivable, the
Company believes these balances will be fully collectible.

b) Concentrations of Revenue

During 2011, our gross premium written for AmTrust and ACAC accounted for 51.0% ( 2010 — 51.9%, AmTrust and
Motors — 2009 — 96.1%) of our total gross premium written. AmTrust accounted for $669,283 or 36.9% (2010 — $468,043
or 36.1%, 2009 — $372,358 or 35.5%) and ACAC accounted for $256,201 or 14.1% ( 2010 — $205,739 or 15.8%,

Motors — 2009 — $635,143 or 60.6%).

¢) Brokers

We produce our reinsurance business for our Diversified Reinsurance segment primarily through brokers. During

2011, three brokers accounted for 59.7% (2010 — 56.3%, 2009 — 81.4%) of our total gross premiums written through
brokers for the Diversified Reinsurance segment. Marsh & McLennan Inc.(including Guy Carpenter) accounted for
27.4% (2010 — 31.0%, 2009 — 42.2%), Aon Benfield Group, Ltd. for 18.1% (2010 — 16.9%, 2009 — 30.8%) and Beach &
Associates, Ltd. for 14.2% (2010 — 8.4%, Risk Insurance Consulting Services LLC — 2009 — 8.4%).

d) Letters of Credit
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As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had letters of credit outstanding of $97,486 and $23,978, respectively. The
letters of credit are secured by cash and marketable investments of $109,337 (2010 - $23,996).

e) Employment agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain individuals. The employment agreements provide
for option awards, executive benefits and severance payments under certain circumstances.

f) Operating Lease Commitments
The Company leases office space and apartments under operating leases expiring in various years through 2015. Total
rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2,283, $1,969 and $1,723, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments as at December 31, 2011 under non-cancellable operating leases for the next five
years are approximately as follows:
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As at December

31,2011
2012 $1,727
2013 1,390
2014 1,328
2015 868
2016 466

$5,779

g) Unfunded Commitments

The Company has an unfunded commitment on its investment in limited partnerships of approximately $3,808 as at
December 31, 2011.

h) Loans and Other Collateral
Please see Note 11 for the discussion related to loan provided to AmTrust.
i) Deposit Insurance

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances at financial institutions in the U.S., Bermuda and other
international jurisdictions. In the U.S., the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation secures account up to $250. In
certain other international jurisdictions, there exist similar protections. Management monitors balances in excess of
insured limits and believes they do not represent a significant credit risk to the Company.

j) Legal Proceedings

Except as noted below, the Company is not a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, the Company
is subject to routine legal proceedings, including arbitrations, arising in the ordinary course of business. These legal
proceedings generally relate to claims asserted by or against the Company in the ordinary course of insurance or
reinsurance operations. Based on the Company's opinion, the eventual outcome of these legal proceedings is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2009, the Company learned that Bentzion S. Turin, the former Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary of Maiden Holdings and Maiden Bermuda, sent a letter to the U.S. Department of Labor claiming that his
employment with the Company was terminated in retaliation for corporate whistle blowing in violation of the whistle
blower protection provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Mr. Turin alleged concerns regarding corporate
governance with respect to negotiation of the terms of the TRUPS Offering and seeks reinstatement as Chief
Operating Officer, General Counsel and Secretary of Maiden Holdings and Maiden Bermuda, back pay and legal fees
incurred.The Company believes that it had ample reason for terminating such employment for good and sufficient
legal cause, and the Company believes that the claim is without merit and is vigorously defending this claim. On
December 31, 2009, the U.S. Secretary of Labor found no reasonable cause for Mr. Turin’s claim and dismissed the
complaint in its entirety. Mr. Turin objected to the Secretary's findings and requested a hearing before an
administrative law judge in the U.S. Department of Labor. The Company moved to dismiss Mr. Turin's complaint,
and its motion was granted by the Administrative Law Judge on June 30, 2011. On July 13, 2011, Mr. Turin filed a
petition for review of the Administrative Law Judge's decision with the Administrative Review Board in the U.S.
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Department of Labor. The Company filed its brief in opposition to the petition for review on October 19, 2011.

k) Dividends for Common Shares

On November 2, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.08 per common
share. This dividend was paid on January 17, 2012 to shareholders of record on January 2, 2012.

13. Earnings per Common Share

The following is a summary of the elements used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net income attributable to Maiden shareholders $28,524 $69,866 $61,058
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic 72,155,503 70,799,966 69,646,804
Potentially dilutive securities:

Warrants — — —

Share options 748,185 572,722 413,393
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted2,903,688 71,372,688 70,060,197
Basic earnings per share attributable to Maiden shareholders: $0.40 $0.99 $0.88
Diluted earnings per share attributable to Maiden shareholders:  $0.39 $0.98 $0.87

As at December 31, 2011, 0 warrants (2010 — 0; 2009 — 4,050,000) and 2,137,836 share options (2010 — 1,820,626;
2009 —707,735) were excluded from diluted earnings per share as they were anti-dilutive.

14. Shareholders’ Equity
The following table shows the summary of changes in common shares issued and outstanding:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Issued and outstanding shares — January 1 72,107,100 70,291,289 58,587,664
Issuance of shares — — 11,700,000
Shares repurchased — — —
Exercise of options 114,328 15,811 3,625
Exchange of warrants — 1,800,000 —
Issued and outstanding shares — December 31 72,221,428 72,107,100 70,291,289

(a) Authorized and Issued — The Company’s authorized share capital is 150,000,000 common shares with a par value of
$0.01 per share, of which there are 72,221,428 common shares issued and outstanding. A total of 7,800,000 shares

were issued to the Founding Shareholders in consideration of their investment of $50,000 in the Company and a

further 51,750,000 common shares were sold by the Company in a private placement which raised approximately
$479,929 in net proceeds in July 2007. On January 20, 2009, the Company issued an additional 11,700,000 common
shares as a result of another private placement which was discussed in more detail under Note 8. A further 114,328,
15,811 and 3,625 shares were issued in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, relating to the exercise of share options.

The holders of our common shares are entitled to receive dividends and are allocated one vote per share, subject to
downward adjustment under certain circumstances. See below for the discussion relating to the exchange of warrants

in 2010.

(b) Warrants — In connection with the formation by our Founding Shareholders, the Company issued to the Founding
Shareholders 10-year warrants to purchase up to 4,050,000 common shares of the Company at $10 per share. The
warrants were effective as at June 14, 2007 and were to expire on June 14, 2017. The warrants were initially measured
at an aggregate fair value of $19,521 which was recorded as an addition to additional paid-in-capital with an offsetting
charge to additional paid-in-capital as well. The fair value of the warrants issued was estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The volatility assumption used, 34.53%, was derived from the
historical volatility of the share price of a range of publicly-traded companies with similar types of business to that of
the Company. No allowance was made for any potential illiquidity associated with the private trading of the
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Company’s shares. The other assumptions in the option pricing model were as follows: risk free interest rate of 5.16%,
expected life of 10 years and a dividend yield of 1%.
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On September 20, 2010, the Company entered into Warrant Exchange Agreements, under which each of the Founding
Shareholders agreed to surrender the warrants in exchange for a total of 1,800,000 of the Company’s common shares.
These common shares are restricted under Lockup Agreements under which the Founding Shareholders may not sell
or transfer the shares awarded without the prior written consent of the Company for a period of 36 months following
the exchange. The fair value of the warrants at the time of exchange was $2.06 per warrant or $8,343 while the fair
value of the 1,800,000 restricted common shares issued was $4.56 per share or $8,208. The terms of the exchange of
the warrants and issuance of the common shares were negotiated and unanimously approved by the Audit and
Compensation Committees of the Company’s Board of Directors. In connection with their review, the Committees
were advised by independent legal counsel and obtained an independent appraisal of the fair value of the warrants and
the restricted common shares. The issuance of the restricted common shares was recorded as an offset to additional
paid-in-capital where the warrants were originally recorded.

(c) Treasury Shares — On October 14, 2008, a hedge fund that the Company had invested in decided to close and
liquidate its investments and return cash to shareholders in stages over an 18 month period. This hedge fund was also
a shareholder in the Company. Maiden agreed to receive its shares from the hedge fund, in lieu of the cash that the
Company would have received upon the redemption of 90% of its investment in the fund. As a result of this
transaction the Company received 962,336 shares at the valuation price of $3.95 per share. The Company holds these
shares as Treasury Shares.

15. Share Compensation and Pension Plans

The Company’s 2007 Share Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as amended, provides for grants of options, restricted shares and
restricted share units. The total number of shares currently reserved for issuance under the Plan is 10,000,000 common
shares. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Exercise prices of options
will be established at or above the fair market value of the Company’s common shares at the date of grant. Under the
Plan, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee and provided in an award agreement, 25% of the
options will become exercisable on the first anniversary of the grant date, with an additional 6.25% of the options
vesting each quarter thereafter based on the grantee’s continued employment over a four-year period, and will expire

ten years after grant date.

Share Options

The fair value of each option grant is separately estimated for each vesting date. The fair value of each option is
amortized into compensation expense on a straight-line basis between the grant date for the award and each vesting
date. The Company has estimated the fair value of all share option awards as at the date of the grant by applying the
Black-Scholes-Merton multiple-option pricing valuation model. The application of this valuation model involves
assumptions that are judgmental and highly sensitive in the determination of compensation expense. The adoption of
ASC Topic 718 "Compensation - Stock Compensation" fair value method has resulted in share-based expenses (a
component of salaries and benefits) in the amount of approximately $1,307, $1,015 and $627 for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The key assumptions used in determining the fair value of options granted in 2011, 2010 and 2009 and a summary of
the methodology applied to develop each assumption were as follows:

2011 2010 2009
Assumptions:
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Volatility 45.55 - 47.60 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.29-1.62 %
Weighted average expected lives in years 6.1 years

Forfeiture rate 0 %
Dividend yield rate 3.04 -3.27 %

29.50 — 46.00
1.62 -3.21
5.5 -6.1 years
0

1.00 - 3.57

%
%

%
%

29.80 — 46.00
2.36-3.30
5.0 - 6.1 years
0

1.00 -5.39

%
%

%
%

Expected Price Volatility — This is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate.

It was not possible to use actual experience to estimate the expected volatility of the price of the common shares in

estimating the value of the options granted because the Company's common shares only began trading in May 2008,
thus, it does not have enough history over which to calculate an expected volatility representative of the volatility over
the expected lives of the options. As a substitute for such estimate, the Company blended its historical volatility with
the historical volatilities of a set of comparable companies in the industry in which the Company operates.
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Risk-Free Interest Rate — This is the U.S. Treasury rate for the week of the grant having a term equal to the expected
life of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense.

Expected Lives — This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding giving
consideration to vesting schedules, historical exercise and forfeiture patterns. The Company uses the simplified
method outlined in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to estimate expected lives for options granted during the
period as historical exercise data is not available and the options meet the requirements set out in the Bulletin. Options
granted have a maximum term of ten years. An increase in the expected life will increase compensation expense.

Forfeiture Rate — This is the estimated percentage of options granted that are expected to be forfeited or cancelled
before becoming fully vested. An increase in the forfeiture rate will decrease compensation expense.

Dividend Yield — This is calculated by dividing the expected annual dividend by the stock price of the Company at the
valuation date. An increase in the dividend yield will decrease compensation expense.

The following schedule shows all options granted, exercised, expired and exchanged under the Plan for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Weighted

Weighted Average Aggregate Range of

Number of Average  Fair Value

Share Exercise of Options Remaining Intrinsic Exercise
Options . Contractual Value Prices
Price
Term

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 1,519,834 $10.00 9.44 years — $3.28 — 10.00
Granted 735,333 $5.83 $1.60 9.51 years $4.45 - 7.27
Exercised (3,625 ) $3.28 $16
Forfeited (215,000 ) $7.97
Outstanding, December 31, 2009 2,036,542 $5.79 8.86 years  $1,548 $3.28 — 10.00
Granted 931,333 $7.57 $2.45 9.60 years $6.94 —7.99
Exercised (15,811 ) $3.28 $68
Expired (688 ) $3.28
Forfeited (10,500 ) $3.28
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 2,940,876 $6.41 8.40 years  $5,286 $3.28 — 10.00
Granted 133,500 $8.57 $2.89 9.77 years $7.63 -9.40
Exercised (114,328 ) $3.69 $587
Expired (375 ) $7.65
Forfeited (43,530 ) $7.19
Outstanding, December 31, 2011 2,916,143 $6.61 7.55 years  $6,866 $3.28 — 10.00
Total options exercisable at 1,716,463 $6.48 7.04years  $4480  $3.28-10.00

December 31, 2011

The weighted average grant date fair value was $2.01, $1.91 and $1.66 for all options outstanding at December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. There was approximately $2,397 of total unrecognized compensation cost related
to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements as at December 31, 2011 which will be recognized during the
next 2.2 years. Cash in the amount of $422 was received from employees as a result of employee stock option
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exercises during the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 — $52; 2009 — $12). The Company issues new shares upon the
exercise of an option. In connection with these exercises, there was no tax benefit realized by the Company.

Performance-Based Restricted Share Units (PB-RSUs)

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the formation of a long-term incentive program
under the Plan on March 1, 2011. On that date, the Committee determined to award PB-RSUs to executive officers
and senior Company employees. The formula for determining the amount of PB-RSUs awarded uses a combination of
a percentage of the employee's base salary (based on a benchmarking analysis from our compensation consultant)
divided by the closing price on NASDAQ Global Select Market of our common shares on that date. The grants are
performance
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based which require that certain criteria such as return on equity, underwriting performance, revenue growth and
operating expense be met during the performance period to attain a payout. Each metric has a corresponding weighted
percentage with a target, threshold and maximum level of performance goal set to achieve a payout. Settlement of the
grants can be made in either common shares or cash upon the decision of the Compensation Committee of the
Company. The first performance cycle is for two years, 2011-2012, and subsequent performance cycles will be for
three years. For the year ended December 31, 2011, no accrual was recognized as the calculated weighted percentage
of the performance results of the Company did not meet the target level.

Pension Plans

The Company provides pension benefits to eligible employees principally through various defined contribution plans
sponsored by the Company which vary for each subsidiary.

The Company’s expenses for its defined contribution plans were $2,813, $2,326 and $1,795 for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

16. Taxation

Under current Bermuda law, Maiden Holdings and Maiden Bermuda, have received an undertaking from the Bermuda
government exempting them from all local income, withholding and capital gains taxes until March 31, 2035. At the
present time, no such taxes are levied in Bermuda. Maiden Holdings and Maiden Bermuda believe that they operate in
a manner such that they will not be considered to be engaged in a trade or business in the United States. Accordingly,
Maiden Holdings and Maiden Bermuda have not recorded any provision for U.S. taxation.

Our U.S. subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes and other taxes applicable to U.S.
corporations. The provision for federal income taxes has been determined under the principles of the consolidated tax
provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and Regulations. Should the U.S. subsidiaries pay a dividend outside the
U.S. group, withholding taxes will apply. Our U.S. subsidiaries are currently under examination for tax year 2009.
Tax years 2008 and 2010-2011 are not under examination but remain subject to examination in the U.S.

The Company has subsidiary operations in various other jurisdictions around the world, including but not limited to
the U.K., Sweden, Germany, Russia, Austria, and Australia that are subject to relevant taxes in those jurisdictions.

Deferred income taxes have not been accrued with respect to certain undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries. If
the earnings were to be distributed, as dividends or otherwise, such amounts may be subject to withholding taxation in
the state of the paying entity. Currently however, no withholding taxes are accrued with respect to the earnings, as it is
the intention that such earnings will remain reinvested indefinitely.

There were no unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and net deferred tax liabilities for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Current tax expense — U.S. $79 $130 $—
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Current tax expense — Other jurisdictions 553 30 —
Total current tax expense 632 160 —
Deferred tax expense — U.S. 1,161 1,170 1,344
Deferred tax expense — Other jurisdictions 134 — —
Total deferred tax expense 1,295 1,170 1,344
Total income tax expense $1,927 $1,330 $1,344

The following table is a reconciliation of the actual income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009 to the amount computed by applying the effective tax rate of 0% under Bermuda law to income before taxes:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Income before income taxes $30,454 $71,192 $62.402
Income tax expense 1,927 1,330 1,344
Net income $28,527 $69,862 $61,058
Reconciliation of effective tax rate (% of income before
taxes)
Bermuda tax rate — % — % — %
U.S. taxes at statutory rates (67.2 )% (18.8 )% (12.4 )%
Valuation allowance in respect of U.S. taxes 71.3 % 20.6 % 14.6 %
Other jurisdictions 2.2 % 0.1 % — %
Actual tax rate 6.3 % 1.9 % 2.2 %

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax impact of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes. The significant components of our deferred tax assets and
liabilities as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

As at December 31, 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating losses $38,279 $15,690
Unearned premiums 5,595 4,705
Discounting of net loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 5,212 4,634
Accruals not currently deductible 1,647 1,605
Amortization of intangibles 2,680 2,137
Others 343 1,037
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 53,756 29,808
Valuation allowance 36,208 12,949
Deferred tax assets, net 17,548 16,859
Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred commission and other acquisition costs 7,829 5,420
Indefinite lived intangible 2,870 2,870
Amortization of goodwill 3,676 2,515
Net unrealized gains on investments 9,111 9,664
Market discount on bonds 497 874
Others 24 728
Deferred tax liabilities 24,007 22,071
Net deferred tax liability $6,459 $5,212

The net deferred liability at December 31, 2011 is $6,459. A valuation allowance has been established against the net
U.S. deferred tax assets which is primarily attributable to net operating losses, unearned premium and loss reserve
discounting. At this time, we believe it is necessary to establish a valuation allowance against the net deferred tax
assets due to insufficient positive evidence regarding the utilization of these losses. During 2011, the Company
recorded an increase in the valuation allowance of $23,259 (2010 - $5,213) which was recorded in the consolidated
statements of income and none was recorded as a component of other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity.

At December 31, 2011, the Company has available U.S. net operating loss carry-forward of approximately $109,369
for income tax purposes which will expire beginning in 2029.
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17. Statutory Financial Information

Under The Insurance Act 1978 (Bermuda), amendments thereto and related regulations (the “Insurance Act”), Maiden
Bermuda is required to prepare Statutory Financial Statements and to file a Statutory Financial Return in Bermuda.
The Insurance Act also requires Maiden Bermuda to maintain a minimum share capital of $120. To satisfy these
requirements, the statutory capital and surplus of Maiden Bermuda at December 31, 2011 was approximately
$693,435 (2010 — $670,060) and the amount required to be maintained under Bermuda law, the Minimum Solvency
Margin, was $226,468 (2010 — $164,593) at December 31, 2011. Maiden Bermuda was also required to maintain a
minimum liquidity ratio. All requirements were met by Maiden Bermuda throughout the period. In addition, Maiden
Bermuda is subject to statutory and regulatory restrictions under the Insurance Act that limit the maximum amount of
annual dividends or distributions to be paid by Maiden Bermuda to Maiden Holdings without notification to the
Bermuda Monetary Authority of such payment (and in certain cases prior approval of the Bermuda Monetary
Authority). Maiden Bermuda is also restricted to pay dividends that would result in Maiden Bermuda failing to
comply with the enhanced capital requirement ("ECR") as calculated based on the Bermuda Solvency Requirement
("BSCR"). Maiden Bermuda is currently completing its BSCR as at December 31, 2011 and it is anticipated Maiden
Bermuda will be allowed to pay dividends or distributions not exceeding $3,843.

Maiden Bermuda is registered as a Class 3B reinsurer under the Insurance Act and therefore must maintain capital at a
level equal to its ECR which is established by reference to the BSCR model. The BSCR employs a standard
mathematical model that correlates the risk underwritten to the capital that is dedicated to the business. The regulatory
requirements are designed to have insurers operate at or above a threshold capital level, which exceeds the BSCR.
While not specifically referred to in the Insurance Act, the BMA has established a target capital level (“TCL”) for each
Class 3B insurer equal to 120% of its ECR. While a Class 3B insurer is not currently required to maintain its statutory
capital and surplus at this level, the TCL serves as an early warning tool for the BMA and failure to maintain statutory
capital at least equal to the TCL will likely result in increased BMA regulatory oversight. Maiden Bermuda is
currently completing its BSCR as at December 31, 2011 and believes that it exceeds the ECR level of required capital.

For Bermuda registered insurance companies, there are some differences between financial statements prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and those prepared on a statutory basis. Certain assets are non-admitted under Bermuda
regulations and so deferred commission and other acquisition expenses have been fully expensed and prepaid
expenses and fixed assets removed from the statutory balance sheet.

The Company’s insurance subsidiaries in United States, Maiden US and Maiden Specialty, file financial statements in
accordance with statutory accounting practices (“SAP”) prescribed or permitted by domestic or foreign insurance
regulatory authorities. The differences between statutory financial statements and financial statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP vary between domestic and foreign jurisdictions. The principal differences relate to (1)
acquisition expenses incurred in connection with acquiring new business which are charged to expense under SAP but
under GAAP are deferred and amortized as the related premiums are earned; (2) limitation on net deferred tax assets
created by the tax effects of temporary differences; (3) unpaid losses and loss expense, and unearned premium
reserves are presented gross of reinsurance with a corresponding asset recorded; and (4) fixed maturity portfolios that
qualify as available-for-sale are carried at fair value and changes in fair value are reflected directly in unassigned
surplus, net of related deferred taxes.

Without prior approval of its domiciliary commissioner, dividends to shareholders are limited by the laws of the US
companies’ state of domicile, Missouri and North Carolina, to the greater of 10% of statutory policyholders’ surplus as
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at the preceding December 31, or net income, less net realized capital gain on investments, for the 12-month period
ending December 31 of the preceding year. Accordingly, the maximum dividend payments that can be made in the
next year without prior approval by the Missouri Department of Insurance and North Carolina Department of
Insurance is $0 and $3,628, respectively.

The Company’s insurance subsidiary in Sweden, Maiden LF, is regulated by the Swedish Finansinspektionen (‘“Swedish
FSA”). Maiden LF was required to maintain a minimum level of statutory capital and surplus of $4,536 at

December 31, 2011 (2010 - $4,953). This requirement was met by Maiden LF throughout the period. The statutory
assets were approximately $31,761 (2010 - $47,334). Maiden LF is subject to statutory and regulatory restrictions

under the Swedish FSA that limit the maximum amount of annual dividends or distributions paid by Maiden LF to the
Company. As of December 31, 2011, Maiden LF is allowed to pay dividends or distributions not exceeding the capital
surplus of $1,385.

The Statutory and GAAP equity and net income of the Company's insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries were as
follows:
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g[earlr(liqirzla Maiden US
Statutory Capital and Surplus
As at December 31, 2011 $693,435 $268,055
As at December 31, 2010 670,060 262,724
Statutory Net Income (Loss)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 $30,070 $(1,684
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010 89,562 1,268
For the Year Ended December 31, 2009 43,937 (7,826

18. Subsequent Events

Maiden
Specialty

$36,280
30,693

) $119
1,675
) 1,680

Maiden LF

$7,866
7,755

$753
486

On February 22, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend of $0.08 per common
share. This dividend is payable on April 16, 2012 to shareholders of record on April 2, 2012.

19. Condensed Quarterly Financial Data — Unaudited
The following tables summarize our quarterly financial data:

2011 Quarters Ended

Mar 31 Jun 30
Total revenues $370,378 $390,371
Net income (loss) 19,345 (24,372
Net income (loss) attributable to Maiden 19.342 (24.366
shareholders
Comprehensive income (loss) - attributable to
Maiden shareholders 24212 (5,722
Basic earnings (loss) per common share
attributable to Maiden shareholders 0.27 ©.34
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share 027 034
attributable to Maiden shareholders ) )

2010 Quarters Ended

Mar 31 Jun 30
Total revenues $281,822 $303,194
Net income 13,569 18,637
Net income attributable to Maiden shareholders 13,569 18,637
Comprehensive income (loss) - attributable to
Maiden shareholders 37,781 19,167
Basic earnings per common share attributable 0.19 0.27

to Maiden shareholders
Diluted earnings per common share attributable

to Maiden shareholders 0.19 0.26

Sep 30
$440,656
) 16,002

) 16,004
) 12,918
) 0.22

) 0.22

Sep 30
$328,720
18,526
18,526

37,975
0.26

0.26

Dec 31
$439,035
17,552

17,544
6,841
0.25

0.24

Dec 31
$334,309
19,130
19,134

(3,470
0.27

0.27
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Schedule I

MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS

OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Amount at
Amortized Fair ‘Which Shown
As at December 31, 2011 Cost* Value in the

Balance Sheet
Fixed Maturities:

Bonds:

U.S. government and government agencies $983,493 $1,029,044 $1,029,044
Non-U.S. government bonds 51,405 51,198 51,198
Other mortgage-backed securities 9,919 9,920 9,920

All other corporate 743,951 761,433 761,433
Municipal bonds 168,338 169,066 169,066
Total fixed maturities 1,957,106 2,020,661 2,020,661
Other investments 1,955 2,192 2,192

Total investments $1,959,061 $2,022,853 $2,022,853

* Original cost of other investments and, for fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and adjusted for
amortization of premiums or discounts

S-1
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY
As at December 31, 2011 and 2010

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in subsidiaries
Balances due from subsidiaries
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Balances due to subsidiaries
Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Common shares ($0.01 par value;73,183,764 and 73,069,436 shares issued in 2011

2011

$550
983,816
137,733
233
$1,122,332

$8,495
345,195
353,690

and 2010, respectively;72,221,428 and 72,107,100 shares outstanding in 2011 and 732

2010, respectively)

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Retained earnings

Treasury shares, at cost (2011 and 2010: 962,336 shares)
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

S-2

579,004
64,059
128,648
(3,801
768,642
$1,122,332

2010

$797
935,145
101,350
463
$1,037,755

$6,019
281,562
287,581

731

577,135
54,334
121,775
(3,801
750,174
$1,037,755
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME — PARENT COMPANY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenues:
Net investment (loss) income $408 $(118 ) $265
408 (118 ) 265
Expenses:
General and administrative expenses 10,806 7,076 4,809
Foreign exchange losses 31 — —
10,837 7,076 4,809
Loss before equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries (10,429 ) (7,194 ) (4,544 )
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries 38,953 77,060 65,602
Net income $28,524 $69,866 $61,058
S-3
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
2011 2010
Cash flows provided by operating activities:
Net income $28,524 $69,866
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by
operating activities:

Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries (38,953 ) (77,060
Foreign exchange loss 31 —
Non-cash share compensation expense 1,307 1,015
Balance due from subsidiaries (36,414 ) (4,209
Other assets 230 (57
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,746 387
Balances due to subsidiaries 63,633 36,485
Net cash provided by operating activities 20,104 26,427
Cash flows used in investing activities:

Investment in subsidiaries 148 (7,476
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 148 (7,476
Cash flows used in financing activities:

Dividends paid (20,921 ) (18,394
Issuance of common shares 422 52

Net cash used in financing activities (20,499 ) (18,342
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (247 ) 609
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 797 188
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $550 $797
S-4

2009

$61,058

(65,602
627
(97,039)
(189)
(881)
134,084
32,058

(20,073
(20,073

(16,167
129
(16,038
(4,053
4,241
$188
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

As at December 31, 2011

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Amortization
Deferred Reserve Net loss of General
commissiofor loss Net and deferred Net
Unearned . ) . . an .
and other and loss i premiums investmentoss commission , . . Hremwms
. ) premiums ) i administrative
acquisitionadjustment earned income adjustment and other eXDenses written
costs expenses expenses  acquisition p
expenses
Diversified ¢og 717 §1,011.431 $348,131 $748,387 $—  $502375 $200239 $36374 $798,037
Reinsurance
AmTrust
Quota Share 120,369 327,101 391,275 558,197 — 380,263 160,522 2,283 669,283
Reinsurance
Qli?ec QuOta29,355 59,906 92,641 245,844 — 160,416 78,051 1,635 256,201
Corporate  — — — — 74,891 — — 13,600 —
Total $248,436 $1,398,438 $832,047 $1,552,428 $74,891 $1,043,054 $438,812 $53,892 $1,723,521
As at December 31, 2010 For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
Amortization
Deferred Reserve Netloss of General
commissiofior loss Net Net and deferred Net
Unearned . . . . _an .
and other and loss ; premiums investmentoss commission .. Premlums
. . premiums ) i administrative
acquisitionadjustment earned income adjustmentand other exDenses written
costs expenses expenses acquisition P
expenses
Diversified g¢5 750 $971,317  $291,148 $601254 $—  $394604 $152,698 $26,123 $554,049
Reinsurance
AmTrust
Quota Share 92,155 222,812 284,124 445,081 — 280,890 144,655 1,500 468,043
Reinsurance
Qlifec Quota o 04 32,644 82,284 123455 — 79,628 39344 243 205,739
Corporate — — — — 71,651 — — 14,314 —
Total $203,631 $1,226,773 $657,556 $1,169,790 $71,651 $755,122 $336,697 $42,180 $1,227,831
As at December 31, 2009 For the Year Ended December 31, 2009
Deferred Reserve Net loss Amortization
.. of deferred General
commissiofior 1oss Net Net and L Net
Unearned . ) commissionand )
and other and loss . premiums investmentoss .. .Q]remlums
. . premiums . . and other administrative,
acquisitionadjustment earned income  adjustment . written
acquisition expenses
costs expenses expenses
expenses
Diversified —ggq 04 $837,201  $322316 $567,998 $—  $393760 $126,193 $19211 $658,016
Reinsurance
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AmTrust

Quota Share 84,759 165,385 261,162 351921 — 214,853 115,236 2,515 372,358
Reinsurance

Corporate — — — — 62957 — — 10,409 —

Total $172,983 $1,002,676 $583,478 $919,919 $62,957 $608,613 $241,429 $32,135 $1,030,374
S-5
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Schedule IV
MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.

SUPPLEMENTARY REINSURANCE INFORMATION

(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2011 Premiums — General Insurance
2010 Premiums — General Insurance
2009 Premiums — General Insurance

S-6

(a)

Gross

$114,036
71,625
21,655

(b)

Ceded to
other
companies

$89,076
70,224
18,302

(©)
Assumed
from

other
companies
$1,698,561
1,226,430
1,027,021

(d)

Net amount

(a) - (b) + (c)

$1,723,521
1,227,831
1,030,374

Percentage of

amount

to net

(c)/(d)

98.6 %
99.9 %
99.7 %
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MAIDEN HOLDINGS, LTD.
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
CONCERNING PROPERTY/CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
Net loss and loss adjustment

expenses

For the Year Ended December 31, Current Year Prior Year
2011 $1,028,855 $14,199
2010 787,967 (32,845
2009 620,046 (11,433

S-7

Paid loss
and loss
adjustment
expenses
$880,004

) 631,334

) 512,281
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